

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Mathematics

**Mathematics** 

2016

# FLAG F-VECTORS OF POLYTOPES WITH FEW VERTICES

Sarah A. Nelson University of Kentucky, secsan17@hotmail.com Digital Object Identifier: http://dx.doi.org/10.13023/ETD.2016.080

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

### **Recommended Citation**

Nelson, Sarah A., "FLAG *F*-VECTORS OF POLYTOPES WITH FEW VERTICES" (2016). *Theses and Dissertations--Mathematics*. 33. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/math\_etds/33

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Mathematics at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Mathematics by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

### STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

## **REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE**

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Sarah A. Nelson, Student Dr. Carl W. Lee, Major Professor Dr. Peter Perry, Director of Graduate Studies

# FLAG F-VECTORS OF POLYTOPES WITH FEW VERTICES

### DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Arts and Sciences at the University of Kentucky

> By Sarah A. Nelson Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. Carl W. Lee, Professor of Mathematics Lexington, Kentucky 2016

Copyright<sup>©</sup> Sarah A. Nelson 2016

### ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

### FLAG F-VECTORS OF POLYTOPES WITH FEW VERTICES

We may describe a polytope P as the convex hull of n points in space. Here we consider the numbers of chains of faces of P. The toric g-vector and CD-index of P are useful invariants for encoding this information. For a simplicial polytope P, Lee defined the winding number  $w_k$  in a Gale diagram corresponding to P. He showed that  $w_k$  in the Gale diagram equals  $g_k$  of the corresponding polytope. In this dissertation, we fully establish how to compute the q-vector for any polytope with few vertices from its Gale diagram. Further, we extend these results to polytopes with higher dimensional Gale diagrams in certain cases, including the case when all the points are in affinely general position. In the Generalized Lower Bound Conjecture, McMullen and Walkup predicted that if  $g_k(P) = 0$  for some simplicial polytope P and some k, then P is (k-1)-stacked. Lee and Welzl independently use Gale transforms to prove the GLBC holds for any simplicial polytope with few vertices. In the context of Gale transforms, we will extend this result to nonpyramids with few vertices. We will also prove how to obtain the CD-index of polytopes dual to polytopes with few vertices in several cases. For instance, we show how to compute the CD-index of a polytope from the Gale diagram of its dual polytope when the Gale diagram is 2-dimensional and the origin is captured by a line segment.

KEYWORDS: polytopes, Gale transforms/diagrams, toric g-vector, triangulations, CD-index

Author's signature: Sarah A. Nelson

Date: April 27, 2016

# FLAG F-VECTORS OF POLYTOPES WITH FEW VERTICES

By Sarah A. Nelson

Director of Dissertation: Carl W. Lee

Director of Graduate Studies: \_\_\_\_\_ Peter Perry

Date: April 27, 2016

I dedicate this dissertation to Steve Kuhn and Ben Braun for encouraging me to embark on this journey and embrace the road less traveled.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I want to thank God for His constant presence, support, and love. He has blessed me with so many extraordinary opportunities and experiences. Most importantly, He has filled my life with rich characters to help me along my path.

Thank you Mum, Dad, and Beth for loving me and making me laugh in all situations. I really appreciate all that you have done for, and with, me throughout my life. My family has kept me grounded and loved me unconditionally. I want to thank Grandma for also praying for me and visiting me in Lexington these past few years. I have really appreciated the opportunity to share this experience with you in person and with the rest of the family in uplifting phone calls.

Over the past few years, I have had the opportunity to create a home for myself in Lexington, due in large part to the supportive community of the UK Mathematics department. My professors have played a critical role in helping me push myself past my limits and deepen my understanding of the beautiful world of mathematics. I especially want to thank Dr. Lee for cheering me on and providing such a strong example of how to teach students to develop their understanding and skills in completing independent research. I also want to thank all of my fellow graduate students for not giving up on me, even when I wanted to throw in the towel. Graduate school presents new challenges, and I am extremely grateful that my office and other dear friends have stood behind me through it all.

Last, but certainly not least, I must thank my family at St. John's Lutheran church. You all have helped me stay grounded and keep my sanity. No matter what life has thrown at me, I have been able to lean on you all. God does have a plan for us all, and I am extremely grateful that His plan for me included lasting friendships with all of you. You all have taught me so much about life, faith, and love. I especially want to express my heartfelt gratitude for everyone's constant belief in my abilities. Thank you for loving and supporting me through it all.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgments
Table of Contents
List of Figures
Chapter 1 Preliminaries
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Convex Polytopes
1.3 The $h$ - and $g$ -vectors $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$
1.4 The $ab$ -, $cd$ - and $CD$ -indices $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
1.5 Shellings $\ldots \ldots 20$
1.6 Gale Transforms and Gale Diagrams
1.7 Triangulations and Regular Triangulations
1.8 Winding Numbers
Chapter 2 The Toric $q$ -Vector and Gale diagrams $32$
2.1 Gale Diagrams in <i>e</i> -Dimensions whose Origin is not in Affinely General
2.1 Gale Diagrams in e Dimensions whose Origin is not in Aminery General Position 35
2.2 Considering Hyperplanes 40
2.3 Complete Analysis for Gale Diagrams of Polytopes with Few Vertices 53
Chapter 3 Triangulations and Gale Transforms 60
3.1 Extension to Non-Pyramids 60
3.2 Counter Example: Pyramid 64
0.2 Counter Entamples I granna I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
Chapter 4 The <i>CD</i> -index and Gale diagrams
4.1 Dimension 0 and 1 $\ldots$ 65
4.2 General Dimension
4.3 Dimension $2 \ldots $
Chapter 5 Future Work
Bibliography
Vita

# LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	The triangular bipyramid and the triangular prism are dual 3-polytopes.	3
1.2	The octahedron and the cube are also dual polytopes	4
1.3	Here is the line segment, a 1-dimensional polytope $P$	6
1.4	Here is the $n$ -gon, a 2-dimensional polytope $P$	6
1.5	Here is the pyramid $Q$ over an $n$ -gon	7
1.6	Here is the bipyramid $R$ over an $n$ -gon	$\overline{7}$
1.7	Here is the triangular prism.	9
1.8	Orient the edges of the cube in the direction of the sweep	10
1.9	Triangular bipyramid	13
1.10	Octahedron	14
1.11	Here are equivalent ways to construct a line segment	16
1.12	Here is one way to build the tetrahedron	16
1.13	Here is one way to build the cube	17
1.14	Here is the octahedron and its Gale transform	23
1.15	Here is the triangular bipyramid and its Gale diagram.	25
1.16	Here is the triangular prism and its Gale digram.	25
1.17	All the 2-splitters are marked in this 2-dimensional Gale diagram	28
1.18	Here is the set up for computing the winding number	28
1.19	Here we want to determine $w_2$ in the Gale diagram	29
1.20	Here is a ray that does not cross any 2-splitters in the Gale transform.	30
1.21	Here the ray crosses three splitters in the Gale transform	30
1.22	Here the point $z$ is opposite the ray in the Gale transform	31
2.1	Multiple splitters capture the origin $q$ here	33
2.2	One k-splitter captures a here.	33
2.3	Use Theorem 2.1.1 to determine $q(Q)$ .	36
2.4	Use Corollary 2.1.5 to determine $q(Q)$ .	38
2.5	Determine $q_3(Q)$ using Corollary 2.1.5	39
2.6	Here the splitter consisting of 5 points maximally spans $H$	42
2.7	We will determine the change in the <i>q</i> -vector when crossing this splitter.	45
2.8	Here Y is a 2-dimensional Gale diagram corresponding to a simplicial	
	2-polytope $P$	45
2.9	The 1-dimensional Gale diagram of $Y$	47
2.10	We will determine the change in the <i>q</i> -vector when landing on this splitter.	50
2.11	We will determine how the $g$ -vector changes when the origin moves onto	
	multiple splitters from $p$ to $q$	52
2.12	Here is a line in a 2-dimensional Gale Diagram with points in $V \cup \{p\} \cup$	
	$\{p'\} \cup \{q\}$	55
2.13	We will determine the change in the $g$ -vector when crossing a line	57
2.14	Here is the 1-dimensional Gale diagram of $Y$	57

2.15	We will determine the change in the $g$ -vector when landing on a line	58
3.1	Here is a general 1-dimensional Gale transform.	60
3.2	Three splitters capture $q$ in this 2-dimensional Gale transform	61
3.3	Positively scale the points of the Gale transform.	61
3.4	Shift the splitters capturing $q$ in the Gale transform towards their larger sides	62
3.5	Find a ray in the Gale transform from origin $q$ that does not cross any	
	3-splitters.	62
3.6	The ray in this Gale transform determines the regular triangulation of the	со СО
	polytope	63
4.1	Here is a 2-dimensional Gale diagram with an $\ell$ -splitter	70
4.2	We want to determine $\chi(u, r, \ell, m)$ in this 2-dimensional Gale diagram.	70
4.3	Lift the Gale diagram to find the (co)facets for shelling off facets lost	71
4.4	Here is the Gale diagram for $S$ .	73
4.5	Here is the Gale diagram for <b>T</b> of type $(u, r, \ell, m)$	73
4.6	Lift the Gale diagram with an $\ell$ -splitter to determine a shelling order for	
	the facets shelled on	74
4.7	Project the lifting to obtain the Gale diagram of $\mathbf{T}$	74
4.8	Here is the Gale diagram of the triangular prism $P^*$	78
4.9	Here is the Gale diagram of the triangular bipyramid $P$	78
4.10	Here is a 2-dimensional Gale diagram with a splitter $Y$	79
4.11	Lift the Gale diagram with a splitter $Y$ to order the (co)facets for shelling.	80
4.12	Here is the Gale diagram for $\mathbf{S}$ in the splitter case	82
4.13	Lift the Gale diagram with a splitter $Y$ to determine a shelling order for	
	the facets shelled on	83
4.14	Project this lifting to obtain the Gale diagram for $\mathbf{T}$	84
4.15	Here is the Gale diagram for <b>T</b> of type $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \nu)$	85

### **Chapter 1 Preliminaries**

### 1.1 Introduction

People have long been interested in the number of faces of polytopes. Studying the faces of a given polytope allows us to better understand the polytope itself. Every convex *d*-polytope *P* can be defined as the convex hull of *n* vertices in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . If *P* is *d*-dimensional, then *P* has  $f_i$  *i*-dimensional faces for  $-1 \leq i \leq d-1$ , where the empty set is the only face of dimension -1 and there are *n* 0-faces. For a simplicial

*d*-polytope, the components of the *h*-vector satisfy  $h_k = \sum_{i=0}^k (-1)^{k-i} {d-i \choose d-k} f_{i-1}$ for  $0 \le k \le d$ . The symmetry of the *h*-vector, *i.e.*,  $h_i = h_{d-i}$ , is a consequence of the Dehn-Sommerville equations. The *g*-vector is defined by  $g_0 = h_0 = 1$  and

 $g_i = h_i - h_{i-1}$ , for  $1 \le i \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ . McMullen and Walkup stated the generalized lower bound conjecture (GLBC) in 1971 [23].

**Conjecture 1.1.1** (McMullen-Walkup 1971). Let P be any simplicial d-polytope. Then

- 1.  $g_i(P) \ge 0$  for  $0 \le i \le \left|\frac{d}{2}\right|$ .
- 2. For  $1 \le k \le \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor$ , the following statements are equivalent.
  - $g_k(P) = 0;$
  - P is (k-1)-stacked; i.e., there exists a triangulation T of P for which there is no interior face of dimension less than d k + 1.

In 1971 McMullen made a conjecture to characterize the sequences that are realizable as the f-vectors of simplicial polytopes [21]. There was not a complete proof of the q-conjecture until the 1980's when Billera and Lee proved the sufficiency of McMullen's conditions for f-vectors [5] and Stanley proved the necessity of these conditions [27]. With this complete proof, the statement is now called the *g*-theorem. The g-theorem establishes the non-negativity of the  $g_i$  for  $0 \le i \le \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor$ , which is the first part of the GLBC. We are still interested in elementary proofs and interpretations. For a simplicial polytope P, Lee [18] interprets  $q_k(P)$  as a winding number  $w_k(o)$  in terms of k-splitters winding around the origin o in P's corresponding Gale diagram, which is a representation of the polytope itself. In Chapter 2, we generalize the simplicial case to some classes of convex polytopes Q. We show how to determine the *g*-vector of Q when all the points are in affinely general position and the origin lies in the relative interior of the convex hull of at least one k-splitter in the Gale diagram (see Theorem 2.1.1 and Corollary 2.1.5). We also show how to determine the q-vector of Q when the origin lies in the relative interior of the convex hull of at least one splitter spanned by at least e + 1 points in affinely general position

with respect to their span in the *e*-dimensional Gale diagram (see Theorem 2.2.9 and Corollary 2.2.12). Further, we argue how to determine the *g*-vector of Q when the origin coincides with at least one point in the Gale diagram (see Theorems 2.1.10 and 2.2.1). As a consequence, we establish how to determine the *g*-vector for any polytope with a two-dimensional Gale diagram.

When they made the GLBC, McMullen and Walkup verified that if P is (k-1)stacked, then  $g_k(P) = 0$  [23]. Later, Lee and Welzl independently showed that the forward implication holds for polytopes with few vertices, *i.e.*, the number of vertices is at most d+3 [18, 29]. Recent work by Murai and Nevo established the validity of this forward implication for all simplicial d-polytopes [25]. In Chapter 3, we extend the generalized lower bound theorem to general convex (*i.e.*, nonsimplicial) nonpyramidal polytopes Q with few vertices in the context of Gale transforms in Theorem 3.1.1 by proving that when  $g_k = 0$  for such polytopes there exists a triangulation for which there is no interior face of dimension less than d - k + 1. Our proof uses the fact that we can shift the points in the Gale transform in a certain way without changing the resulting triangulation of the polytope.

In Chapter 4, we prove how to interpret the CD-index of polytopes dual to polytopes with few vertices in several cases. For instance, we show how to compute the CD-index of a polytope from the 2-dimensional Gale diagram of its dual polytope when the origin is in the relative interior of the convex hull of a line segment (see Theorem 4.3.8). Then we conjecture how to extend this result to determine the CD-index of a polytope from the 2-dimensional Gale diagram of its dual polytope when the origin is in the relative interior of the convex hull of a line segment the CD-index of a polytope from the 2-dimensional Gale diagram of its dual polytope when the origin is in the relative interior of the convex hull of a line segment with multiple points on either end in Conjecture 4.3.20.

### 1.2 Convex Polytopes

First, we will introduce the notions of a polytope and its faces. For additional information on convex polytopes, see Grünbaum [14] and Ziegler [30].

Convex polyhedra are subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  that are intersections of finitely many closed halfspaces. Adding one more condition gives us the following definition of convex polytopes.

**Definition 1.2.1** (cf. Ziegler 1995). A convex polytope  $P \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is the bounded intersection of finitely many closed halfspaces.

There is an equivalent definition of convex polytopes.

**Theorem 1.2.2** (cf. Ziegler 1995). Consider a subset  $P \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ . Then P is the convex hull of finitely many points exactly when P is the bounded intersection of finitely many closed halfspaces.

This equivalence is the fundamental theorem for polytopes and proofs may be found in various sources, including [14] and [30]. The usefulness of both descriptions of polytopes cannot be overstated. There are some problems, as in combinatorial optimization, that are more approachable through the lens of halfspaces. There are other problems that more naturally encourage the use of the convex hull description of a polytope. Here we will use this latter definition. It is also important to note that throughout this dissertation, all polytopes are convex. Since we are always considering convex polytopes, we will often omit the term *convex*. Thus, anywhere the term *polytope* arises, *convex polytope* is understood. Throughout this dissertation, we also assume all polytopes are full dimensional; *i.e.*, a *d*-dimensional polytope is a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ .

Studying the faces of polytopes helps us understand the structure of polytopes. For any polytope  $P \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , the empty set and P itself are the *improper faces* of P. Every subset F of P is a proper face of P if  $F = P \cap H$  for some supporting hyperplane H of P. Consider a 2-dimensional n-gon,  $P_n$ . Then  $P_n$  has 2n + 2 faces, including the empty set, n vertices, n edges, and  $P_n$  itself. More generally, for any d-polytope P that has n vertices, there are n 0-dimensional faces and  $f_i$  *i*-dimensional faces for  $1 \leq i \leq d - 1$ . The empty set and P itself are also faces of dimension -1 and d, respectively. We say the 0-faces are vertices, the 1-faces are edges, the (d-2)-faces are subfacets, and the (d-1)-faces are facets.

Every d-polytope P has a dual d-polytope  $P^*$ , which is defined as follows.

**Definition 1.2.3** (cf. Ziegler 1995). Consider *d*-polytopes P and  $P^*$ . Then P and  $P^*$  are *dual polytopes* exactly when there is an inclusion inversing bijection between their face lattices.

For example, every facet of P corresponds to a vertex of  $P^*$ . Also every vertex of P corresponds to a facet of  $P^*$ . Notice that  $P_n$  is its own dual. Now consider the following 3-dimensional polytopes, which are dual to one another.



Figure 1.1: The triangular bipyramid and the triangular prism are dual 3-polytopes.

**Example 1.2.4.** In Figure 1.1, the triangular bipyramid is on the left and the triangular prism is on the right. It is obvious that the vertices of the bipyramid correspond to the facets of the triangular prism, and the facets of the bipyramid correspond to the vertices of the triangular prism.

We may use the above notions to introduce some important classes of polytopes. Simplicial polytopes form a well behaved class of convex polytopes. Every face of a d-dimensional simplicial polytope P is a simplex; in other words, for  $0 \le i \le d - 1$ , each *i*-face of P consists of exactly i + 1 vertices. On the other hand, every vertex of a simple d-dimensional polytope P is adjacent to exactly d facets. There is an important relationship between simplicial polytopes and simple polytopes, as stated in the following theorem.

**Theorem 1.2.5** (cf. Brøndsted 1983). Consider dual d-polytopes P and  $P^*$ . Then P is simplicial exactly when  $P^*$  is simple.

The proof of this result is straightforward and may be found in [7] and [30]. Let us now consider a simplicial 3-polytope, the octahedron, and its dual 3-polytope, the cube.



Figure 1.2: The octahedron and the cube are also dual polytopes.

**Example 1.2.6.** Every facet of the octahedron is a triangle, so the octahedron is a simplicial polytope. Every vertex in the cube is adjacent to three facets, so the cube is a simple polytope. Further, as Figure 1.2 illustrates, the octahedron and the cube are dual polytopes.

We are interested in studying the faces of polytopes. The f-vector is one useful tool for encoding the number of faces of a polytope in each dimension. For a d-polytope P, we have the following definition.

**Definition 1.2.7** (cf. Ziegler 1995). The *f*-vector of *P*, f(P), is defined as  $(f_{-1}, f_0, f_1, \ldots, f_{d-1})$ , where  $f_{-1}$  is always 1 and  $f_i$  denotes the number of *i*-dimensional faces of *P*, for  $0 \le i \le d-1$ .

We can determine the f-vectors for our examples above as follows.

**Example 1.2.4** continued. The *f*-vector of the triangular bipyramid is f(triangular bipyramid) = (1, 5, 9, 6), and the *f*-vector of the triangular prism is f(triangular prism) = (1, 6, 9, 5).

**Example 1.2.6** continued. The *f*-vector of the octahedron is f(octahedron) = (1, 6, 12, 8), and the *f*-vector of the cube is f(cube) = (1, 8, 12, 6).

As these examples show, the relationship between a polytope and its dual is reflected in their *f*-vectors. For any *d*-polytope *P* and its dual polytope  $P^*$ ,  $f_i(P) = f_{d-1-i}(P^*)$  for  $0 \le i \le d-1$ .

We will now explore further properties of polytopes.

#### **1.3** The *h*- and *g*-vectors

Here we consider one way to encode some information about the chains of faces in a polytope.

In the previous section, we saw that the f-vector encodes information about a polytope's faces. The toric h- and g-vectors also encode information concerning the numbers of chains of faces of a general convex polytope. Stanley first introduced the following recursive definition of the toric h- and g-vectors in [26].

**Definition 1.3.1** (Stanley 1987). Let P be any d-polytope. Then we define the *toric* h-vector and the *toric* g-vector recursively using the following relations

$$h(\partial P, x) = \sum_{G \text{ face of } \partial P} g(\partial G, x)(x - 1)^{d - 1 - \dim(G)}$$
$$h(\partial P, x) = \sum_{i=0}^{d} h_i x^{d - i}$$
$$g(\partial P, x) = \sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} g_i x^i,$$

where  $g(\emptyset, x) = h(\emptyset, x) = 1$ ,  $g_0 = g_0(\partial P) = h_0$ , and  $g_i = g_i(\partial P) = h_i - h_{i-1}$  for  $1 \le i \le \left|\frac{d}{2}\right|$ .

Using this definition, we will compute the toric h- and g-vectors for some interesting examples. We will also highlight a few useful results. First, we will find the toric h- and g-vectors of 3-dimensional pyramids and bipyramids. Since these equations are defined recursively, we need the toric g- and h-vectors of all the lower dimensional polytopes which are faces of 3-dimensional pyramids and bipyramids. Let us start with the 0-polytope, which is the convex hull of a single point.

**Example 1.3.2.** When P is the 0-polytope, the only face of  $\partial P$  is the empty set of dimension -1. So

$$h(\partial P, x) = g(\partial P, x)(x-1)^{0-1-(-1)} = g(\emptyset, x) = h(\emptyset, x) = 1.$$
  
$$h(x) = 1, \quad g(x) = 1$$
  
$$h = (1), \quad g = (1)$$



Figure 1.3: Here is the line segment, a 1-dimensional polytope P.

Since we have the toric g-vector for the empty set and single points, then we may determine the toric h- and g-vectors of the 1-dimensional line segment (Figure 1.3).

**Example 1.3.3.** When P is the line segment, the faces of  $\partial P$  are one empty set and two points, of dimensions -1 and 0, respectively. So

$$\begin{split} h(\partial P, x) &= 1 \cdot g(\partial \varnothing)(x-1)^{1-1-(-1)} + 2 \cdot g(\partial \text{ point }, x)(x-1)^{1-1-0} \\ &= (x-1) + 2(1) \\ &= x+1. \\ h(x) &= x+1, \quad g(x) = 1 \\ h &= (1,1), \qquad g = (1) \end{split}$$

Figure 1.4: Here is the n-gon, a 2-dimensional polytope P.

Using these two examples, we may now compute the toric h- and g-vectors of a 2-dimensional n-gon (Figure 1.4).

**Example 1.3.4.** When P is an n-gon, the faces of  $\partial P$  are one empty set, n points, and n line segments, of dimensions -1, 0, and 1, respectively. So

$$\begin{split} h(\partial P, x) &= 1 \cdot g(\partial \varnothing)(x-1)^{2-1-(-1)} + n \cdot g(\partial \text{ point}, x)(x-1)^{2-1-0} \\ &+ n \cdot g(\partial \text{ line segment}, x)(x-1)^{2-1-1} \\ &= 1(1)(x-1)^2 + n(1)(x-1) + n(1)(1) \\ &= x^2 - 2x + 1 + nx - n + n \\ &= x^2 + (n-2)x + 1. \end{split}$$
$$h(x) &= x^2 + (n-2)x + 1, \quad g(x) = 1 + (n-3)x \\ h = (1, n-2, 1), \qquad g = (1, n-3) \end{split}$$

In the following two examples, we will find the toric h- and g-vectors for the 3-dimensional pyramid (Figure 1.5) and bipyramid (Figure 1.6) over a general n-gon.



Figure 1.5: Here is the pyramid Q over an n-gon.

**Example 1.3.5.** Let Q be a pyramid over an n-gon. Then the faces of  $\partial Q$  are one empty set, n + 1 points, 2n line segments, n triangles, and one n-gon, of dimensions -1, 0, 1, 2, and 2, respectively. So

$$\begin{split} h(\partial Q, x) &= 1((1)(x-1)^{3-1-(-1)}) + (n+1)((1)(x-1)^{3-1-0}) + 2n((1)(x-1)^{3-1-1}) \\ &+ n((1)(x-1)^{3-1-2}) + 1((1+(n-3)x)(x-1)^{3-1-2}) \\ &= 7(x-1)^3 + (n+1)(x-1)^2 + 2n(x-1) + n + 1 + (n-3)x \\ &= x^3 - 3x^2 + 3x - 1 + (n+1)(x^2 - 2x + 1) + 2nx - 2n + n + 1 + nx - 3x \\ &= x^3 + (n-2)x^2 + (n-2)x + 1. \end{split}$$

$$h(x) = x^{3} + (n-2)x^{2} + (n-2)x + 1, \quad g(x) = 1 + (n-3)x$$
  

$$h = (1, n-2, n-2, 1), \qquad \qquad g = (1, n-3)$$



Figure 1.6: Here is the bipyramid R over an n-gon.

**Example 1.3.6.** Let R be a bipyramid over an n-gon. Then the faces of  $\partial R$  are one empty set, n + 2 points, 3n line segments, and 2n triangles, of dimensions -1, 0, 1, and 2, respectively. So

$$\begin{split} h(\partial R, x) &= 1((1)(x-1)^{3-1-(-1)}) + (n+2)((1)(x-1)^{3-1-0}) \\ &\quad + 3n((1)(x-1)^{3-1-1}) + 2n((1)(x-1)^{3-1-2}) \\ &= (x-1)^3 + (n+2)(x-1)^2 + 3n(x-1) + 2n \\ &= x^3 - 3x^2 + 3x - 1 + (n+2)(x^2 - 2x + 1) + 3nx - 3n + 2n \\ &= x^3 + (n-1)x^2 + (n-1)x + 1. \end{split}$$

$$h(x) = x^{3} + (n-1)x^{2} + (n-1)x + 1, \quad g(x) = 1 + (n-3)x$$
  

$$h = (1, n-1, n-1, 1), \qquad \qquad g = (1, n-2)$$

As these examples illustrate, there is a relationship between the toric h- and g-vectors of a 2-dimensional n-gon and the toric h-vectors of the pyramid and bipyramid over that n-gon. In particular,  $h(\partial Q, x) = xh(\partial P, x) + g(\partial P, x)$  and  $h(\partial R, x) = (x + 1)h(\partial P, x)$ . As the next theorem states, these relationships hold for any d-polytope P and the pyramid Q and the bipyramid R over P. The proof involves easy computations and the results were observed, for instance, by Fine [13].

**Theorem 1.3.7** (cf. Fine 2010). Let  $P \in \mathbb{R}^d$  be any polytope. Let Q and R denote the pyramid and bipyramid, respectively, over P. Then  $h(\partial Q, x) = xh(\partial P, x) + g(\partial P, x)$  and  $h(\partial R, x) = (x + 1)h(\partial P, x)$ .

First note that  $h(\partial Q, x) = xh(\partial P, x) + g(\partial P, x)$  if and only if  $g(\partial Q, x) = g(\partial P, x)$ . Thus, we will prove the first statement by proving this equivalent statement  $g(\partial Q, x) = g(\partial P, x)$  using an inductive argument on the dimension of faces.

In the following proof, pyr(F) denotes the pyramid over a face F on the boundary of P.

*Proof.* For any polytope P, we know

$$h(\partial P, x) = \sum_{G \text{ face of } \partial P} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(G)}$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{d} h_i x^{d-i}$$

when dim(P) = d and  $P \in \mathbb{R}^d$ . Since Q and R denote the pyramid and bipyramid over P, respectively, then P and Q are both in  $\mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ .

Let us first consider the base case. From Example 1.3.2, we know that  $g(\partial \text{point}, x) = 1$ . 1. The pyramid over a point is a line, and we found that  $g(\partial \text{line segment}, x) = 1$ . Thus, the *g*-vector of a point is equivalent to the *g*-vector of the pyramid over a point. Now suppose that the *g*-vector of  $\partial \text{pyr}(F)$  is the same as the *g*-vector of  $\partial F$  for all F whose dimension is less than or equal to d - 1.

In the case of Q,  $\partial Q$  contains  $\partial P$ , P itself, and pyr (F) for all F in  $\partial P$ . Then

$$h(\partial Q, x)$$

In the case of R,  $\partial R$  contains  $\partial P$  and two sets of pyr (F) for all F in  $\partial P$ . Then  $h(\partial R, x)$ 

$$= \sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial P \\ = \\ G \text{ face of } \partial P \\ +2}} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{(d+1)-1-\dim(G))+1}} \\ g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{(d+1)-1-\dim(G)} \\ = (x-1)\sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial P \\ +2}} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(G)} \\ +2\sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial P \\ G \text{ face of } \partial P}} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{(d+1)-1-(\dim(G)+1)} \text{ by the induction assumption} \\ = (x-1)h(\partial P, x) + 2h(\partial P, x) \\ = (x+1)h(\partial P, x).$$



Figure 1.7: Here is the triangular prism.

Our earlier examples for low-dimensional polytopes provide us with enough information to compute the toric h- and g-vectors of the 3-dimensional triangular prism

(Figure 1.7). Since the triangular prism is a nonsimplicial polytope, we will discuss it in further detail throughout this dissertation.

**Example 1.3.8.** In Example 1.2.4, we determined the f-vector of the triangular prism. Now we will determine its toric h- and g-vectors. The h-vector is

$$\begin{split} h(\partial P, x) &= 1((1)(x-1)^{3-1-(-1)}) + 6((1)(x-1)^{3-1-0}) + 9((1)(x-1)^{3-1-1}) \\ &\quad + 3((1+x)(x-1)^{3-1-2}) + 2((1)(x-1)^{3-1-2}) \\ &= (x-1)^3 + 6(x-1)^2 + 9(x-1) + 3(1+x) + 2 \\ &= x^3 - 3x^2 + 3x - 1 + 6x^2 - 12x + 6 + 9x - 9 + 3 + 3x + 2 \\ &= x^3 + 3x^2 + 3x + 1. \end{split}$$

$$\begin{aligned} h(x) &= x^3 + 3x^2 + 3x + 1, \quad g(x) = 1 + 2x \\ h &= (1,3,3,1), \qquad g = (1,2) \end{split}$$

As we saw in Example 1.2.4, the bipyramid over a triangle is the dual of the triangular prism. Thus, knowing the toric g-vector of the triangular bipyramid is useful as well.

**Example 1.3.9.** From Example 1.3.6, we know that the *g*-vector of a *n*-gon bipyramid is (1, n - 2). Since the triangle is a 3-gon, the *h*- and *g*-vectors of the bipyramid over a triangle are (1, 2, 2, 1) and (1, 1), respectively.

Historically, h- and g-vectors were first defined in the simplicial (and dually simple) case. So we want to explore the relationship between the toric h- and g-vectors and the ordinary h- and g-vectors here.

For a simplicial d-polytope, the h-vector is defined by the following alternating sum.

**Definition 1.3.10** (cf. Ziegler 1995). For a simplicial *d*-polytope and  $0 \le k \le d$ , the  $k^{\text{th}}$  component of the *h*-vector is  $h_k = \sum_{i=0}^k (-1)^{k-i} {d-i \choose d-k} f_{i-1}$ .



Figure 1.8: Orient the edges of the cube in the direction of the sweep.

The symmetry of the *h*-vector, *i.e.*  $h_i = h_{d-i}$ , is a consequence of the Dehn-Sommerville equations. From [7], for example, we know that we are able to determine the ordinary *h*-vector of a simplicial polytope by sweeping its dual. Here, we will compute the *h*-vector of the octahedron by sweeping the cube. To sweep a polytope, choose a hyperplane in general position so that it crosses each vertex at a different time as it moves parallel to itself across the polytope. Orient the edges in the direction of the sweep, as illustrated in Figure 1.8. Count the out-, or equivalently the in-, degree at each of its vertices as the plane 'sweeps' the polytope. Through this process, we see that one vertex has in-degree 0, three vertices have in-degree 1, three vertices have in-degree 2, and one vertex has in-degree 3. So the *h*-vector of the octahedron is (1,3,3,1) and, subsequently, the *g*-vector of the octahedron is (1,2). Now we will use the information we found in our earlier examples to compute the toric *h*- and *g*-vectors of the octahedron.

**Example 1.3.11.** We first considered the octahedron P in Example 1.2.6. Notice that P is a bipyramid over a 4-gon, the square. So we can use our results from Example 1.3.6 to find the following information.

$$h(x) = x^3 + 3x^2 + 3x + 1, \quad g(x) = 1 + 2x$$
  

$$h = (1, 3, 3, 1), \qquad \qquad g = (1, 2)$$

Notice that the simplicial h-vector of the octahedron matches its toric h-vector. This equality is not a coincidence. As Stanley proved in [26], the two h-vectors always match when P is a simplicial polytope. We will verify that this equality holds for a d-simplex and a simplicial d-polytope.

**Example 1.3.12.** Let *P* be a *d*-simplex. From sweeping, we know  $h(x) = x^d + x^{d-1} + \ldots + x + 1 = \frac{x^{d+1} - 1}{x - 1}$ . Then  $h = (\underbrace{1, 1, \ldots, 1}_{d+1})$  and  $g = (\underbrace{1, 0, \ldots, 0}_{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor + 1})$ . The toric

h-vector should match.

$$\begin{split} h(\partial P, x) &= \sum_{j=-1}^{d-1} \binom{d+1}{j+1} (1)(x-1)^{d-1-j} \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^{d} \binom{d+1}{j} (x-1)^{d-j} \\ &= (\sum_{j=0}^{d+1} \binom{d+1}{j+1} (1)(x-1)^{d-j}) - \frac{1}{x-1} \\ &= \frac{(x-1+1)^{d+1}}{x-1} - \frac{1}{x-1} \\ &= \frac{x^{d+1}-1}{x-1}, \end{split}$$

which matches the h-vector obtained from sweeping.

Since it will prove to be very useful in future calculations, we will reiterate the following well known result.

**Lemma 1.3.13.** For a simplex of arbitrary dimension,  $g(\partial simplex, x) = 1$ .

Now we compute the h- and g-vectors for an arbitrary d-dimensional simplicial polytope P.

**Example 1.3.14.** Let P be a simplicial d-polytope. Then  $\partial P$  is a (d-1)-dimensional simplicial complex with f-vector  $(f_{-1}, f_0, f_1, \ldots, f_{d-1})$ , where  $f_i$  denotes the number of *i*-dimensional faces. So

$$h(\partial P, x) = \sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial P \\ d-1}} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(G)}$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{i=-1}^{d-1} f_i (x-1)^{d-1-i}$$
  
= 
$$\sum_{i=-1}^{d-1} f_i \sum_{j=0}^{d-1-i} {d-1-i \choose j} x^j (-1)^{d-1-i-j} \text{ by the Binomial Theorem.}$$

Then the coefficient of  $x^{d-k}$  is:

$$= \sum_{i=-1}^{d-1} f_i \binom{d-1-i}{d-k} (-1)^{d-1-i-(d-k)}$$
  
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{d} f_{i-1} \binom{d-1-(i-1)}{d-k} (-1)^{-1-(i-1)+k}$$
  
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{d} f_{i-1} \binom{d-i}{d-k} (-1)^{k-i}.$$

We know  $h_k = \sum_{j=0}^k f_{j-1} \binom{d-j}{d-k} (-1)^{k+j}$ , which is equivalent to the previous line.

Consider two simplicial polytopes P and Q on disjoint vertex sets. Then (as sets of vertices)  $\partial P * \partial Q = \{S \cup T | S \subset \partial(P), T \subset \partial(Q)\}$  denotes the simplicial join of P and Q. It is well known, and an easy computation to show, that the following holds.

**Lemma 1.3.15.** For simplicial polytopes P and Q on disjoint vertex sets,  $h(\partial P * \partial Q, x) = h(\partial P, x) \cdot h(\partial Q, x).$ 

A sequence that is nondecreasing to a certain term and then nonincreasing afterward is said to be *unimodal*. Stanley showed that the ordinary *h*-vector is unimodal [27]. Then Karu proved that the toric *h*-vector also behaves this way [15].

**Theorem 1.3.16** (Karu 2004). The toric h-vector of any polytope Q is unimodal. Thus, the g-vector is nonnegative.

We will use this fact when determining toric g-vectors from Gale diagrams in Chapter 2, thus extending some results of Lee [18] and Welzl [29].

#### **1.4** The *ab*-, *cd*- and *CD*-indices

In addition to the f-vector and the toric h- and g-vectors, there are other ways to encode information about the numbers of faces of a polytope in each dimension. In this section, we will introduce three indices. It is common to use the ab-index and cd-index to encode information about numbers of chains of faces in polytopes. Alternatively, we may use the CD-index to encode the same information. Thus, we will focus on this last index. First, we will introduce and explore the ab- and cd-indices. For more information on the cd-index, see for example [28].

Let P be any d-polytope. Then the flag f-vector of P encodes the number of chains of faces of various types  $S = \{S_1 < S_2 < \cdots < S_k\} \subseteq \{0, 1, \ldots, d-1\}$ . We define the flag f-vector more formally below.

**Definition 1.4.1** (cf. Stanley 2012). For a subset  $S \subseteq \{0, 1, \ldots, d-1\}$ , an *S*-flag of P is a chain  $\emptyset \subset F_1 \subset F_2 \subset \ldots \subset F_k \subset P$  with  $\dim(F_i)=S_i$  for  $i=1,\ldots,k$ . Set f(P) equal to the number of *S*-flags of P. Then  $(f(P))_{S \subseteq \{0,1,\ldots,d-1\}}$  is the flag *f*-vector of P.

The flag f-vector is an extension of the f-vector. In fact, all the single element subsets encode the f-vector itself. Thus, these entries of the flag f-vector are identical to the f-vector. Since we already found the f-vectors of the triangular bipyramid and the octahedron, we will now find their flag f-vectors.



Figure 1.9: Triangular bipyramid

**Example 1.3.9** continued. We are considering the triangular bipyramid P (Figure 1.9). From Example 1.2.4, f(P) = (1, 5, 9, 6). As the picture illustrates, two vertices are incident to three edges and the other three vertices are incident to four edges. So the number of chains consisting of a 0-face and a 1-face is  $f_{01} = 2(3) + 3(4) = 18$ . Similarly,  $f_{02} = 2(3) + 3(4) = 18$  and  $f_{12} = 9(2) = 18$ . It is also easy to see that  $f_{012} = 2(3)(2) + 3(4)(2) = 36$ . Therefore, (f(P)) = (1, 5, 9, 6, 18, 18, 18, 36).



Figure 1.10: Octahedron

**Example 1.3.11** continued. We are considering the octahedron P here (Figure 1.10). So  $(f(P)) = (1, 6, 4 \cdot 3, 4 \cdot 2, 6 \cdot 4, 6 \cdot 4, 12 \cdot 2, 6 \cdot 4 \cdot 2) = (1, 6, 12, 8, 24, 24, 24, 48).$ 

It is easy to see that every polytope has a flag f-vector. The information encoded by the flag f-vector is used to determine the ab-index for any polytope.

**Definition 1.4.2** (Stanley 2012). The *flag* h-vector of a polytope P is defined by the flag f-vector through the following relationship,

$$h(P) = \sum_{T \subseteq S} (-1)^{|S \setminus T|} f_T(P).$$

For  $S \subseteq \{0, 1, ..., d - 1\}$ , let

$$w_i = \begin{cases} a & \text{if } i \notin S \\ b & \text{if } i \in S \end{cases}.$$

Then the ab-index of P is

$$\Psi(P) = \sum_{S \subseteq \{0,1,\dots,d-1\}} h_S(P) w_0 w_1 \cdots w_{n-1},$$

where a and b are noncommuting variables.

Using an alternating sum based on set inclusion, we may determine the flag h-vector from the flag f-vector. Then we may determine the ab-index. This polynomial in the non-commutative variables a and b encapsulates information about the number of chains of faces. So let's find the flag h-vector and ab-index for both the triangular bipyramid and the octahedron.

**Example 1.3.9** continued. For the triangular bipyramid P (see Figure 1.9), we have the following.

$w_S$	$f_S$	$h_S$	$(a + b)^3$	(a+b)(ab+ba)	(ab+ba)(a+b)
aaa	1	1	1		
baa	5	4	1		3
aba	9	8	1	4	3
aab	6	5	1	4	
bba	18	5	1	4	
bab	18	8	1	4	3
abb	18	4	1		3
bbb	36	1	1		

So h(P) = (1, 4, 8, 5, 5, 8, 4, 1) and the *ab*-index of P is  $\Psi(P) = 1a^3 + 4ba^2 + 8aba + 5a^2b + 5b^2a + 8bab + 4ab^2 + 1b^3$ .

**Example 1.3.11** continued. For the octahedron P (see Figure 1.10), we have the following.

$w_S$	$f_S$	$h_S$	$(a + b)^3$	(a+b)(ab+ba)	(ab+ba)(a+b)
aaa	1	1	1		
baa	6	5	1		4
aba	12	11	1	6	4
aab	8	7	1	6	
bba	24	$\overline{7}$	1	6	
bab	24	11	1	6	4
abb	24	5	1		4
bbb	48	1	1		

So h(P) = (1, 5, 11, 7, 7, 11, 5, 1) and the *ab*-index of P is  $\Psi(P) = 1a^3 + 5ba^2 + 11aba + 7a^2b + 7b^2a + 11bab + 5ab^2 + 1b^3$ .

As the tables in these two examples indicate, there is another index which encodes this information more concisely than the ab-index. Bayer and Klapper first introduced the cd-index in [3]. Our tables above suggest their definition.

**Definition 1.4.3** (Bayer-Klapper 1991). Define c = a + b and d = ab + ba. For the non-commutative variables c and d, define the cd-index  $\Phi(P)$  by rewriting the ab-index in terms of c and d, which can be done by the result of Bayer and Klapper.

Note that  $c^3 = a^3 + ba^2 + aba + a^2b + b^2a + bab + ab^2 + b^3$ ,  $cd = aba + a^2b + b^2a + bab$ , and  $dc = ba^2 + aba + bab + ab^2$ . So we have the *cd*-index for both polytopes above.

**Example 1.3.9** continued. For the triangular bipyramid P, the *cd*-index is  $\Phi(P) = 1c^3 + 4cd + 3dc$ .

**Example 1.3.11** continued. For the octahedron P, the cd-index is  $\Phi(P) = 1c^3 + 6cd + 4dc$ .

The CD-index, which is equivalent to the cd-index, is yet another useful tool for encoding information about a polytope's faces introduced by Fine [12, 13]. Start by building up polytopes P from a point using pyramids, via applying C, and using prisms, via applying I.

**Definition 1.4.4** (Fine 1995). Let P be a polytope. We define CP as the pyramid, or cone, over P; and we define IP as the prism over P.



Figure 1.11: Here are equivalent ways to construct a line segment.

We make the following simple, but useful, observation.

Note 1.4.5. Figure 1.11 shows that a pyramid over a point is combinatorially equivalent to a prism over a point.

Thus, initially, we may apply either C or I. We may use different CI-sequences to build up certain polytopes from a point. In the following example, we will practice building up the tetrahedron.



Figure 1.12: Here is one way to build the tetrahedron.

**Example 1.4.6.** We will build the tetrahedron from a point. For the first step, we may build a cone over a point. Then we build a cone over this edge. We end by building a cone over this triangle. As Figure 1.12 shows, we may build the tetrahedron using  $C^3$ .

Since building a prism over a point is equivalent to building a cone over a point, both  $C^3$  and  $C^2I$  are valid *IC*-words used to describe the construction of the tetrahedron. In the third step, applying *I* rather than *C* builds a prism over a triangle rather than a pyramid over a triangle. Thus, we can also build the triangular prism from a point as shown below.

**Example 1.3.8** continued. Consider the triangular prism P in Figure 1.7. As the picture shows,  $IC^2$  is one IC-word which constructs P.

In Example 1.2.6, we noted that the cube is a simple polytope dual to the octahedron. We will determine an IC word for the cube below.



Figure 1.13: Here is one way to build the cube.

**Example 1.4.7.** We want to construct the cube Q as shown in Figure 1.13. Taking a prism over a point builds one edge. Taking a prism over the edge builds a square. Taking a prism over a square builds a cube. So  $I^3$  is one IC-word of Q.

Unfortunately, it is not always possible to build up a polytope from a point using only the geometric operations C (pyramid) and I (prism) in a single word. For instance, neither the triangular bipyramid from Example 1.3.9 nor the octahedron from Example 1.3.11 may be constructed using only these operations. At the first step, applying C or I builds a line segment in  $\mathbb{R}$ . Applying the next operation builds a polytope in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  and so on. So it is only possible to build  $2^{d-1}$  polytopes of dimension d.

We may regard C and I as operations on flag vectors rather than regarding them as geometric operations. In other words, a CI-word w is equated to the flag f-vector of the polytope w(point). In [1, 2], Bayer and Billera proved that  $F_d - 1$  is the dimension of the vector space spanned by flag f-vectors of d-polytopes, where  $F_d$  is the  $d^{\text{th}}$ -Fibonacci number ( $F_0 = F_1 = 1$  and  $F_i = F_{i-1} + F_{i-2}$  for  $i \ge 2$ ). Moreover, they showed that applying d-combinations of the pyramid and bipyramid operations to a point spans the flag vectors of d-polytopes [2]. Dually, CI-words of length d span the space of flag f-vectors [12]. But there are relations among these words. Through truncation, Fine shows the following result [12].

**Theorem 1.4.8** (Fine 1995). For any polytope P, IICP = ICCP + ICIP - CCIP (as a flag f-vector identity).

Successively applying this relation and the fact that  $I \cdot = C \cdot$ , Fine defines a unique (C, IC)-polynomial for (the flag *f*-vector of) a polytope *P*. So let us revisit our example from earlier.

**Example 1.4.7** continued. Above, we found that  $I^3$  is an (I, C)-word for the cube Q. Use Note 1.4.5 to rewrite  $I^3$  as  $I^2C$ . Now we may apply Fine's result to rewrite  $I^2C$  as  $IC^2 + ICI - C^2I$ . Then we apply Note 1.4.5 again to rewrite this polynomial as  $2IC^2 - C^3$ . So 2(IC)C - CCC is the unique (C, IC)-polynomial for Q.

Fine introduced the CD-index of a polytope with the following definition [13].

**Definition 1.4.9** (Fine 1995). Define D = IC - CC.

Note that C is regarded as having degree 1 and D as having degree 2. When determining the CD-index, the following theorem, which is equivalent to Theorem 1.4.8, is useful [12].

**Theorem 1.4.10** (Fine 1995). For any polytope P, ID = DI.

These relations allow us to compute the CD-index from (C, IC)-polynomials or IC-polynomials. By eliminating IC terms in the (C, IC) basis, the CD-index is a more concise way to encode information about a polytope. We quickly determine the CD-index for the cube and triangular prism.

**Example 1.4.7** continued. Recall that the (C, IC)-polynomial for the cube Q is 2(IC)C - CCC. So 2(D + CC)C - CCC = 2DC + CCC is the CD-index of Q.

**Example 1.3.8** continued. For the triangular prism P,  $IC^2$  is the (C, IC)-word. Thus, the *DC*-index of *P* is  $DC + C^3$ .

Recall that we were not able to determine the IC-word for the triangular bipyramid or octahedron through construction. So we need to regard C and I as operations on flag vectors. In [11], Ehrenborg and Readdy showed how the cd-index changes under the geometric operations C (pyramid) and I (prism). As a result, the CD-index of a polytope can be converted into its cd-index. Conversely, Lee [18] argued that setting c = 2C - I and d = IC - CI allows one to convert from the cd-index to the CD-index via an intermediate IC-polynomial.

Before finding the CD-index of the triangular bipyramid or octahedron, let's use these relationships to rewrite the cd-basis in terms of the CD-basis via the (C, IC)basis.

We have  

$$c^3 = (2C - I)^3$$
  
 $= 8C^3 - 4C^2I - 4CIC + 2CI^2 - 4IC^2 + 2ICI + 2I^2C - I^3$   
 $= 4C^3 - 2CIC - 2IC^2 + I^2C$   
 $= 4C^3 - 2C(D + C^2) - 2(D + C^2)C + I(D + C^2)$   
 $= 4C^3 - 2CD - 2C^3 - 2DC - 2C^3 + ID + IC^2$   
 $= -2CD - 2DC + DI + (D + C^2)C$   
 $= -2CD - 2DC + DC + DC + C^3$   
 $= -2CD + C^3.$ 

We also have

$$cd = 2CIC - 2C^{2}I - I^{2}C + ICI$$
  
=  $2CIC - 2C^{3} - I^{2}C + IC^{2}$   
=  $2C(D + C^{2}) - 2C^{3} - I(D + C^{2}) + (D + C^{2})C$   
=  $2CD + 2C^{3} - 2C^{3} - ID - IC^{2} + DC + C^{3}$   
=  $2CD - DI - (D + C^{2})C + DC + C^{3}$   
=  $2CD - DC - DC - C^{3} + DC + C^{3}$   
=  $2CD - DC.$ 

Additionally,

$$dc = 2IC^{2} - ICI - 2CIC + CI^{2}$$
  
=  $IC^{2} - CIC$   
=  $(D + C^{2})C - C(D + C^{2})$   
=  $DC + C^{3} - CD - C^{3}$   
=  $DC - CD$ .

Now we will quickly determine the CD-index for the following examples.

**Example 1.3.9** continued. Recall that for the triangular bipyramid P, the *cd*-index is  $\Phi(P) = 1c^3 + 4cd + 3dc$ . Then the *CD*-index is

$$1(-2CD + C^{3}) + 4(2CD - DC) + 3(DC - CD)$$
$$= C^{3} + 3CD - DC.$$

**Example 1.3.11** continued. The *cd*-index of the octahedron P is  $\Phi(P) = 1c^3 + 6cd + 4dc$ . So the *CD*-index is

$$1(-2CD + C^{3}) + 6(2CD - DC) + 4(DC - CD)$$
$$= C^{3} + 6CD - 2DC.$$

Here we are going to highlight a couple of important results concerning the CD-index. The first result is proven by various people, including Fine and Lee [13, 16].

**Theorem 1.4.11** (cf. Fine 2010, Lee 2016). For a simplicial d-polytope P, the CDindex of its (simple) dual  $P^*$  is of the form

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor} g_i(P) D^i C^{d-2i}.$$

The other theorem is a direct consequence of the geometric definition of C and the fact that  $(CP)^* = CP^*$ .

**Theorem 1.4.12.** If Q is a k-fold pyramid over P, then the CD-index of  $Q^*$  is the CD-index of  $P^*$  premultiplied by  $C^k$ ; i.e.,

$$\psi(Q^*) = C^k \cdot \psi(P^*).$$

The following result by Fine allows us to determine the g-vector of a polytope Q from the CD-index of its dual  $Q^*$  [13].

**Theorem 1.4.13** (Fine 2010). For a d-polytope Q, say  $\psi(Q^*) = w(C, D)$  is the CD-index of its dual  $Q^*$ . Then  $g(Q, x) = \psi(1, x)$ .

Therefore, it is possible to recover the g-vector of a polytope from the CD-index of its dual.

In Chapter 4, we will show how to determine a polytope's CD-index from one of its representations, the Gale diagram, in certain cases. Now that we know how to encode information about the polytope's faces using these different indices, we are going to explore a way to build up a polytope by shelling on its facets.

### 1.5 Shellings

There are many important interpretations of the components of the *h*-vectors of simplicial polytopes. As we saw when discussing the ordinary *h*-vector in Section 1.3,  $h_k$  of a simplicial polytope P counts the number of vertices of in-degree k when sweeping its dual  $P^*$  with a hyperplane. Alternatively,  $h_k$  counts the number of unique minimal new faces of P with exactly k vertices in an arbitrary shelling of the facets of P. These two interpretations are dual to one another in the simplicial case when the shelling is a line shelling. In particular, for any simplicial polytope P,  $h_k(P)$  is found either by shelling P itself or sweeping its dual. Since they are counting something, the components of the *h*-vector are nonnegative. Thus, we will discuss shelling in detail here. For more general information on shelling, see [30].

For the simplicial case, Bayer and Lee gave the following definition of a shelling [4].

**Definition 1.5.1** (Bayer-Lee 1993). Let  $\Delta$  be a simplical complex on V. Thus,  $\Delta$  is closed under inclusion. Then  $\Delta$  is *shellable* if it satisfies the following criteria.

- 1. For every *i*-face of  $\Delta$ , there is a facet of  $\Delta$  containing F (*i.e.*,  $\Delta$  is *pure*).
- 2. The facets in  $\Delta$  may be ordered  $F_1, \ldots, F_n$  so that for  $1 \leq k \leq n$ , there is a unique face  $G_k \in \mathcal{F}(F_k)$  such that  $\mathcal{T}_k = \mathcal{F}(F_k) \bigcap \left[ \bigcup_{j=1}^{k-1} \mathcal{F}(F_j) \right]$  is precisely the set of faces of  $F_k$  not containing  $G_k$ .

Here  $G_k$  is the unique minimal new face. It is also important to remember that any subset of facets of a simplex is shellable in any order. In this dissertation, we are extending results to general polytopes. So we will need the general definition for shelling the boundary complex of a (k + 1)-polytope [30].

**Definition 1.5.2** (Ziegler 1995). Let  $C = \partial P$  for a (k + 1)-polytope. A *shelling* of C is a linear ordering  $F_1, \ldots, F_s$  of the facets of C such that either C is 0-dimensional (and, thus, facets are points) or it satisfies the following criteria.

- 1. The boundary complex  $\mathcal{C}(\partial F_1)$  of the first facet  $F_1$  has a shelling.
- 2. For  $2 \leq j \leq s$ ,  $F_j \bigcap \left[ \bigcup_{i=1}^{j-1} F_i \right] = \bigcup_{i=1}^r G_i$  is nonempty and the beginning segment of a shelling  $G_1, \ldots, G_r, \ldots, G_t$  of  $\mathcal{C}(\partial F_j)$ , the (k-1)-dimensional boundary complex of  $F_j$ .

We say that the complex of a polytope  $\mathcal{C}(P)$  is *shellable* if the boundary complex  $\mathcal{C}(\partial P)$  is shellable. So "shelling a polytope" means finding a shelling order for the facets of P. The following result allows us to reverse the ordering of any shelling [30].

**Lemma 1.5.3** (Ziegler 1995). If  $F_1, F_2, \ldots, F_s$  is a shelling order for the boundary of a polytope P, then  $F_s, F_{s-1}, \ldots, F_1$  is also a shelling order of it.

Bruggesser and Mani proved the following key result [8].

**Theorem 1.5.4** (Bruggesser-Mani 1971). All polytopes are shellable.

They used a "line" shelling argument to prove this result. In particular, the ordering of the facets of a polytope P corresponds to the ordering of the vertices of  $P^*$  for a particular dual of P (a polar dual) by sweeping with a hyperplane. Shellings that arise from Bruggesser and Mani's construction are called line shellings. Switching the orientation of the line reverses the ordering of a given line shelling and, subsequently, results in another line shelling. Various people, including Bruggesser and Mani, have shown that there is a shelling in which any specified facet comes first [8, 9, 20, 6]. Ziegler makes the following observation [30].

**Corollary 1.5.5** (Ziegler 1995). Every regular subdivision of a polytope is shellable. In particular, every Schlegel diagram is shellable.

When sweeping the *d*-polytope  $Q^*$  with a hyperplane H, each vertex has a corresponding  $\mathbf{S}^*$  and  $\mathbf{T}^*$  as H sweeps  $Q^*$  at v [19]. For a vertex v,  $\mathbf{S}^*$  is the vertex figure of  $Q^*$  at v. For a vertex v,  $\mathbf{T}^*$  is the intersection  $\mathbf{S}^* \cap H$ . So  $\mathbf{S}^*$  is a polytope of dimension d-1 and  $\mathbf{T}^*$  is a polytope of dimension d-2.

Sweeping the *d*-polytope  $Q^*$  corresponds to a shelling of Q induced by "lifting" the points in a Gale diagram, as described in Chapter 4. The vertex figure  $\mathbf{S}^*$  is dual to the (co)facet  $\mathbf{S}$  that we will shell on in the Gale diagram in Chapter 4. The intersection of the vertex figure with H is dual to the boundary of the intersection of the new facet with the old facets as we shell on a (co)facet in the Gale diagram in Chapter 4. Using the relationships from the previous section, Lee verifies how to calculate the CD-index of  $Q^*$  by shelling its dual Q [16].

**Theorem 1.5.6** (Lee 2016). The CD-index of 
$$Q^*$$
 is  $\psi(Q^*) = \sum_v \psi_v(Q_v^*)$ , where  $\psi_v(Q_v^*) = \frac{1}{2} \Big( (2C - I)\psi(\mathbf{S}_v^*) + (4D - I^2)\psi(\mathbf{T}_v^*) \Big).$ 

Here, for a fixed j,  $1 \leq j \leq s$ ,  $\mathbf{S}_v = \partial F_j$  and  $\mathbf{T}_v = \partial \bigcup_{i=1}^r G_i$ . In the case that v is a simple vertex with i edges below the hyperplane and d - i points above the hyperplane, then we have the following Corollary from Lee [16].

**Corollary 1.5.7** (Lee 2016). Consider the d-polytope Q. Let v be a vertex of Q of in-degree i. Then

$$\psi_v(Q^*) = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta_i^d = -\frac{1}{2}\Delta_{d-i}^d$$

where  $\Delta_i^d = D^i C^{d-2i} - D^{i+1} C^{d-2(i+1)}$  for  $i \neq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$  and  $\Delta_{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor}^d = 2D^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor}$  when 2|d and  $\Delta_{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor}^d = D^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} C$  otherwise.

Now that we have discussed various properties of polytopes, we are going to consider one useful representation of a polytope.

### **1.6** Gale Transforms and Gale Diagrams

In this section, we will discuss Gale transforms, Gale diagrams, and some useful properties. For more details and further information, see McMullen, Grünbaum, and Ziegler [22, 14, 30].

Before drawing attention to a few key results, we will define Gale transforms and diagrams and consider some examples.

**Definition 1.6.1** (cf. Ziegler 1995). Consider a set of points  $V = \{v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Suppose  $P = \operatorname{conv} V \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ . Then define a  $(d+1) \times n$ -matrix A as follows.

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} v_{1,1} & v_{2,1} & \cdots & v_{n,1} \\ v_{1,2} & v_{2,2} & \cdots & v_{n,2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ v_{1,d} & v_{2,d} & \cdots & v_{n,d} \\ 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Let  $\alpha^{(1)}, \alpha^{(2)}, \ldots, \alpha^{(n-d-1)}$  be a basis for the n-d-1-dimensional nullspace of A. We define a  $(n-d-1) \times n$ -matrix  $\overline{A}$  with rows  $\alpha^{(1)}, \alpha^{(2)}, \ldots, \alpha^{(n-d-1)}$  as follows.

$$\overline{A} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{1,1} & \alpha_{2,1} & \cdots & \alpha_{n,1} \\ \alpha_{1,2} & \alpha_{2,2} & \cdots & \alpha_{n,2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \alpha_{1,n-d-1} & \alpha_{2,n-d-1} & \cdots & \alpha_{n,n-d-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

Then  $\overline{V} = \{\overline{v_1}, \overline{v_2}, \dots, \overline{v_n}\}$  is the *Gale transform* of *P*, where  $\overline{v}_i = (\alpha_{i,1}, \alpha_{i,2}, \dots, \alpha_{i,n-d-1})$  for  $1 \le i \le n$ .

Note there is a natural correspondence between the points of V and the points of  $\overline{V}$ . Using this definition, we will find the Gale transform for the octahedron and cube below.



Figure 1.14: Here is the octahedron and its Gale transform.

### **Example 1.6.2.** Consider the octahedron

$$P = \operatorname{conv}\left(\{(1,0,0), (-1,0,0), (0,1,0), (0,-1,0), (0,0,1), (0,0,-1)\}\right).$$

Then A is

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and one possible A is  
$$\overline{A} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

So the Gale transform is  $\overline{V} = \{(1,1), (1,1), (-1,0), (-1,0), (0,-1), (0,-1)\}$ . Figure 1.14 shows the octahedron and its Gale transform.

This example shows that there is a relationship between a *d*-dimensional polytope  $P = \operatorname{conv}(\{v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n\}) \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  and its Gale transform  $\overline{V} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n-d-1}$ . Before stating this well known result, we introduce the following definition.

**Definition 1.6.3** (Lee-N). We say that S "captures" a point q if and only if  $q \in \text{rel int}(\text{conv}(S))$ .

The following theorem gives the relationship between sets that "capture" the origin o in the Gale transform and faces of the corresponding polytope P.

**Theorem 1.6.4** (cf. Grünbaum 2003). Consider any subset S of  $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$ . Then the set  $\{v_i | i \in S\}$  is  $V \cap F$  for some face F of P,  $F \neq P$ , if and only if the origin o is in the relative interior of  $conv(\{\overline{v_i} | i \notin S\})$ .

In other words, the complement of every point set of a face of P must "capture" the origin o in the relative interior of its convex hull in P's corresponding Gale transform. So there is a one-to-one correspondence between the faces of a polytope  $P \ (\neq P)$  and the sets of points that capture o in the corresponding Gale transform. In our example above, notice that conv  $(\{v_2, v_4\})$  is a face of P and  $o \in \text{rel int} (\text{conv} (\{\overline{v_1}, \overline{v_2}, \overline{v_3}\}))$ . It is also true that  $o \notin \text{rel int} (\text{conv} (\{\overline{v_1}, \overline{v_2}, \overline{v_3}\}))$  and  $\text{conv} (\{v_4, v_5, v_6\})$  is not a face of P.

In Example 1.2.6, we noted that the cube is dual to the octahedron. So we will now find the Gale transform for the cube.

**Example 1.6.5.** Consider the cube  $Q = \text{conv}(\{(1,1,1), (-1,1,1), (1,-1,1), (-1,-1,1), (-1,-1,1), (-1,-1,-1), (-1,-1,-1)\}).$ 

Then A is

	/1	-1	1	-1	1	-1	1	-1
1	1	1	-1	-1	1	1	-1	-1
$A \equiv$	1	1	1	1	-1	-1	-1	-1
	$\backslash 1$	1	1	1	1	1	1	1 /

and one possible  $\overline{A}$  is

So the Gale transform is  $\overline{V} = \{(1, 1, 1, 1), (-1, -1, 1, -1), (-1, 1, -1, -1), (1, -1, -1, -1), (-1, -1, -1, 1), (-1, -1, -1, 1), (-1, -1, -1), (-1, -1,$ 

These two examples illustrate an important fact. When the number of points n and the dimension of the polytope d are close enough, then the dimension of the Gale transform is smaller than the dimension of the polytope itself. However, when n and d are not close enough, then the dimension of the Gale transform can be larger than the dimension of the polytope itself. Subsequently, Gale transforms are particularly useful representations of polytopes when n - d is small. Furthermore, the Gale transform preserves many properties of the original polytope. So studying properties of the polytope through the Gale transform helps us better understand higher-dimensional polytopes. Therefore, in this dissertation, we will show how to determine information about polytopes with few vertices (i.e.,  $n \leq d+3$ ) from their Gale transforms. When interpreting the toric h- and g-vectors, we will actually study Gale diagrams, which are closely related to Gale transforms through the following well known relationship.

**Definition 1.6.6** (cf. Grünbaum 2003). Suppose that  $\overline{V} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n-d-1}$  is the Gale transform of the *d*-polytope  $P \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ . Then  $\overline{V'} \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a Gale diagram of P if and only if the origin  $o \in \operatorname{rel}$  int  $(\operatorname{conv}(\{\overline{v^i} | i \in S\}))$  exactly when  $o \in \operatorname{rel}$  int  $(\operatorname{conv}(\{\overline{v'^i} | i \in S\}))$  for every subset  $S \subset \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ .



Figure 1.15: Here is the triangular bipyramid and its Gale diagram.



Figure 1.16: Here is the triangular prism and its Gale digram.

Every *d*-polytope  $P \in \mathbb{R}^d$  corresponds to a unique Gale diagram in  $\mathbb{R}^e$ , up to combinatorial equivalence. Using this definition, we may construct Gale diagrams for the triangular bipyramid and the triangular prism without using matrices.

**Example** 1.2.4 continued. Figures 1.15 and 1.16 show the Gale diagrams for the triangular bipyramid and the triangular prism, respectively. Notice that the complement of every point set of a face of a given polytope does capture the origin o in its
Gale diagram. Further, the complement of every point set that does not capture the origin in the Gale diagram is not a face of that polytope.

The relationship between faces in P and the points in the Gale diagram leads to the following result, which is stated in [14].

**Corollary 1.6.7** (cf. Grünbaum 2003). The origin o in the Gale diagram coincides with i points, say  $\{\overline{v_1}, \overline{v_2}, \ldots, \overline{v_i}\}$ , from  $\overline{V}$  if and only if the polytope P is an i-fold pyramid over the points  $\{v_{i+1}, v_{i+2}, \ldots, v_n\}$ .

A *d*-polytope *P* has a corresponding *e*-dimensional Gale diagram  $\overline{V}$ , where e = n - d - 1. Then the following result of McMullin shows how to determine the Gale diagram for any of the faces *L* of *P* from  $\overline{V}$  [22].

**Theorem 1.6.8** (McMullin 1979). Regard L as a polytope itself. Then the Gale diagram of L is found by projecting onto the space orthogonal to  $\overline{V} \setminus \underline{L}$  in the Gale diagram corresponding to P and then deleting the points associated to  $\overline{V} \setminus L$ .

When the number of vertices of a polytope is close enough to its dimension, then the Gale diagram is low-dimensional. Thus, this representation is particularly helpful when exploring properties of polytopes with few vertices.

#### 1.7 Triangulations and Regular Triangulations

Here we briefly introduce triangulations and their significance in the upcoming chapters. There is some historical context in [14]. Additional information about triangulations may be found in [10].

McMullen and Walkup stated the generalized lower bound conjecture (GLBC) [23].

**Conjecture 1.7.1** (McMullen-Walkup 1971). Let P be any simplicial d-polytope. Then

- 1.  $g_i(P) \ge 0$  for  $0 \le i \le \left|\frac{d}{2}\right|$ .
- 2. For  $1 \le k \le \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor$ , the following statements are equivalent.
  - $g_k(P) = 0;$
  - P is (k − 1)-stacked, i.e. P admits a subdivision into a simplicial complex whose (d − k)-faces are also faces of P.

In 1971 McMullen made a conjecture to characterize the *f*-vectors of simplicial polytopes [21]. Billera and Lee proved the sufficiency of McMullen's conditions for *f*-vectors [5] and Stanley proved the necessity of these conditions [27]. With this complete proof, the statement is now called the *g*-theorem. The *g*-theorem establishes the non-negativity of the  $g_i$  for  $0 \le i \le \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor$ , which is Part 1 of the GLBC.

In this section, we focus our attention to Part 2 of the GLBC. An equivalent definition states that a *d*-polytope P is (k-1)-stacked exactly when P has a triangulation  $\mathcal{T}$  for which there is no interior face of dimension less than d - k + 1. Consider any *d*-polytope  $P = \operatorname{conv}(V)$  where  $V = \{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$ . Lee gives the following definition of a triangulation of P [17]. **Definition 1.7.2** (Lee 1991). A triangulation of P is a collection  $\mathcal{T} = \{S_1, \ldots, S_m\}$  of subsets of V that satisfy the following conditions.

- dim(conv  $(S_i)$ ) = d for  $1 \le i \le m$ ;
- $|S_i| = d + 1$  for  $1 \le i \le m$ ;
- $\bigcup_{i=1}^{m} \operatorname{conv} \left( S_i \right) = P;$
- $\operatorname{conv}(S_i) \cap \operatorname{conv}(S_j) = \operatorname{conv}(F)$  for some common proper face F of  $S_i$  and  $S_j$  where  $1 \le i < j \le m$ .

McMullen and Walkup proved that if P is (k-1)-stacked, then  $g_k(P) = 0$  when they made the GLBC [23]. Then Lee and Welzl independently showed that the forward implication holds for polytopes with few vertices, *i.e.*, the number of vertices is at most d+3 [18, 29]. In his proof, Lee showed how to interpret the  $g_k$  as winding numbers in the Gale diagram. We will explore these concepts further in the next section.

In 2004, McMullen proved the following result [24].

**Theorem 1.7.3** (McMullen 2004). If a simplicial polytope P has a triangulation  $\mathcal{T}$  with no interior faces F such that  $\dim(F) \leq \left|\frac{d}{2}\right|$ , then this triangulation  $\mathcal{T}$  is unique.

The validity of the forward implication for Part 2 of the GLBC is now fully verified due to recent work by Murai and Nevo [25]. So for all simplicial *d*-polytopes  $P, g_k(P) = 0$  exactly when P is (k-1)-stacked. In fact, Murai and Nevo also showed that the forward implication holds in the more general context of homology spheres which satisfy the *weak Lefschetz property*. In Chapter 3, we extend this forward implication to general convex (*i.e.*, non-simplicial) nonpyramidal polytopes Q with few vertices in the context of Gale transforms.

### 1.8 Winding Numbers

Let  $e \ge 1$ ,  $n \ge e+1$ , and d = n-e-1. Consider a set of points  $\overline{V} = \{\overline{v}_1, ..., \overline{v}_n\} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^e$  in affinely general position.

**Definition 1.8.1** (Lee 1991). Let  $\mathcal{X} = \{X \subset \overline{V} : |X| = e\}$ . In  $\mathbb{R}^e$ , an X in  $\mathcal{X}$  is a *k-splitter* if the hyperplane  $H = \operatorname{aff}(X)$  partitions the remaining n - e points of  $\overline{V}$  into two sets, at least one of which has cardinality k.

**Example 1.8.2.** Consider the 2-dimensional Gale diagram in Figure 1.17. The 7 points of  $\overline{V}$  are evenly spaced around a circle. All the 2-splitters of these 7 points are shown.



Figure 1.17: All the 2-splitters are marked in this 2-dimensional Gale diagram.



Figure 1.18: Here is the set up for computing the winding number.

Now we may discuss winding numbers. Choose any  $p \in \mathbb{R}^e$  in affinely general position with respect to the points in  $\overline{V}$ . The hyperplane H spanned by a splitter Xpartitions  $\overline{V} \setminus X$  into two sets F and G, where F is the set of points of  $\overline{V}$  in the same open halfspace  $H^-$  as p and G is the set of points in the opposite open halfspace  $H^+$ . See Figure 1.18. Then Lee defined the winding number  $w_k(p)$  of p as follows [18].

**Definition 1.8.3** (Lee 1991). The sign of X with respect to p is

$$sg(X) = \begin{cases} +1, & \text{if } \operatorname{card}(G) < \operatorname{card}(F) \\ -1, & \text{if } \operatorname{card}(G) > \operatorname{card}(F) \\ 0, & \text{if } \operatorname{card}(G) = \operatorname{card}(F) \end{cases}$$

Let  $\alpha(X)$  denote the measure of the solid angle of the cone which is determined by conv (X) and whose apex is p. (Total angle equals 1.) Then the  $k^{th}$  winding number is  $w_k = \sum_{\substack{k = \text{splitters} \\ X \in \mathcal{X}}} sg(X)\alpha(X)$  for a fixed  $k, 0 \le k < \lfloor \frac{n-e}{2} \rfloor$ .



Figure 1.19: Here we want to determine  $w_2$  in the Gale diagram.

Intuitively, the  $k^{th}$  winding number,  $w_k(p)$ , counts how many times k-splitters "wind around" p. So we may determine the  $k^{th}$  winding number of regions determined by the sets conv (X) for k-splitters X. We calculate  $w_2$  in Figure 1.19.

**Example 1.8.2** continued. We found all the 2-splitters of 7 points evenly spaced around a circle above. Here we determine the winding number  $w_2(p)$  for different points p that fall in affinely general position with respect to the points of  $\overline{V}$ .

Then Lee proved the following result [18].

**Theorem 1.8.4** (Lee 1991). Let  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ . Then the  $k^{th}$  winding number of p,  $w_k(p)$ , equals  $g_k$  for the corresponding simplicial polytope P, where the origin of the Gale diagram is chosen to be p.

As stated in the previous section, it is known that  $w_k(p) \ge 0$  for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , as a consequence of the *g*-theorem. Using Gale diagrams, Lee and Welzl independently provided elementary proofs by providing interpretations of the *g*-vector for simplicial polytopes with few vertices (e.g., e = 2) [18, 29]. As noted in the last section, Lee and Welzl also independently proved that if  $g_k(P) = 0$  for  $1 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , then *P* is (k-1)-stacked. In particular, they showed the following result holds.

**Theorem 1.8.5** (Lee 1991, Welzl 2001). Suppose P is a simplicial d-polytope, with at most d + 3 vertices, whose corresponding Gale transform has origin q. Let  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ . If  $g_k(q) = 0$ , then there exists a ray from q crossing no k-splitters. This ray determines the triangulation predicted by the GLBC.

**Example 1.8.2** continued. See Figure 1.20. Suppose the origin q in this Gale transform with 7 points corresponds to the 4-dimensional polytope Q. Since q falls in affinely general position with respect to the points in  $\overline{V}$  of the Gale transform, then Q is a simplicial polytope. Further, since  $g_2(Q) = g_2(q) = 0$ , then there exists a ray



Figure 1.20: Here is a ray that does not cross any 2-splitters in the Gale transform.



Figure 1.21: Here the ray crosses three splitters in the Gale transform.

that does not cross any 2-splitter. One such ray is indicated in Figure 1.20.

A ray in general direction crosses the relative interior of the convex hull of exactly one  $X \in \mathcal{X}$  at any given point. The maximum simplices in the triangulation are the complements of the splitters crossed by the ray. Figure 1.21 verifies that the ray chosen above is in general direction. As it moves towards infinity, this ray crosses the 1-splitter  $\{\overline{v}_1, \overline{v}_6\}$ , the 1-splitter  $\{\overline{v}_2, \overline{v}_7\}$ , and the 0-splitter  $\{\overline{v}_1, \overline{v}_7\}$ . Thus, this ray determines a triangulation of Q for which the maximum simplices are  $V \setminus \{v_1, v_6\}$ ,  $V \setminus \{v_2, v_7\}$ , and  $V \setminus \{v_1, v_7\}$ .

McMullen's earlier result [22] verifies that Theorem 1.8.5 determines a triangulation of the corresponding polytope.

**Theorem 1.8.6** (McMullen 1979). Let  $\overline{V}$  be the e-dimensional Gale transform with origin o corresponding to the d-polytope P. Adding a point z in affinely general position with respect to the points  $\overline{V} \cup \{o\}$  determines a triangulation of P. The faces

of this triangulation are the complements of the sets of points which together with z capture the origin o.



Figure 1.22: Here the point z is opposite the ray in the Gale transform.

Adding z in general position with respect to  $\overline{V}$  determines a triangulation that is equivalent to the triangulation determined by a ray in general position. In fact, if the ray is pointing in the opposite direction of z, as in Figure 1.22 then these two methods determine the exact same triangulation. Triangulations obtained in this way are called *regular triangulations*.

By extending these results to certain non-simplicial polytopes in Chapter 2, we determine the g-vector for any polytope P whose Gale diagram is e-dimensional in various cases. In particular, we are able to determine the g-vector of every polytope with a 2-dimensional Gale diagram. Then we extend the triangulation result to general nonpyramidal polytopes with few vertices in Chapter 3.

Copyright<sup>©</sup> Sarah A. Nelson, 2016.

#### Chapter 2 The Toric *g*-Vector and Gale diagrams

Using the winding number interpretation of Lee in [18], we know how to find the g-vector of any simplicial polytope from its Gale diagram. In particular, we compute the winding number of the origin, which falls in affinely general position with respect to the points  $\overline{V}$  of the Gale diagram. Our goal in this chapter is to determine the g-vector of a general convex polytope from its Gale diagram. We will compute the g-vector for d-dimensional polytopes with e-dimensional Gale diagrams whose points are in various states of special position. In addition, we will provide winding interpretations in some cases. First, we will consider Gale diagrams  $\overline{V}$  in which all the points of  $\overline{V}$  are in affinely general position but the origin is not in affinely general position with respect to  $\overline{V}$ . Then we will consider Gale diagrams in which all the points  $\overline{V}$  are in affinely general position except a subset of vertices which fall on a single hyperplane containing the origin. We will close this chapter with a complete analysis of polytopes with few vertices.

For notational ease, we will write V, instead of  $\overline{V}$ , for points in the Gale diagram throughout the rest of this dissertation. Whether V refers to the points of a polytope or points of its Gale diagram will be clear from the context.

# 2.1 Gale Diagrams in *e*-Dimensions whose Origin is not in Affinely General Position

We will first consider convex *d*-polytopes with *e*-dimensional Gale diagrams in which the points V of the diagram fall in affinely general position, except for the origin, which is not in affinely general position with respect to V. In the case when the origin q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of a single splitter, we will show that  $g_k(q)$  equals the smaller of the winding numbers of the two regions immediately adjacent to q in Theorem 2.1.1. When the origin lands on multiple splitters, we argue that each splitter acts "independently" by Lemma 2.1.4. The g-vector for a polytope Q whose origin q lands on one of the vertices v in its Gale diagram is the same as the g-vector obtained when that vertex v is deleted in Theorem 2.1.10.

In this section, we start with a collection of n points, V, in affinely general position in  $\mathbb{R}^e$ . Consider a point q that is in affinely general position with respect to Vexcept that q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of each of  $\alpha$  splitters, say  $X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_{\alpha}$ , where  $X_i$  is a  $k_i$ -splitter for  $1 \leq i \leq \alpha$ , and aff  $(X_i) \neq \text{aff}(X_j)$  for all  $i \neq j$ . Then there exists a p in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup \{q\}$  so that  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitter except  $X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_{\alpha}$ .

Define  $H_i = \operatorname{aff}(X_i)$  for all *i*. Let  $F_i$  be the points of *V* that are in the open halfspace of  $H_i$  containing *p*, and let  $G_i$  be points of *V* that are in the opposite open halfspace of  $H_i$ . See Figure 2.1. Then  $V = F_i \cup G_i \cup X_i$  for each *i*. Note that placing the origin at *p* corresponds to a simplicial polyope *P*, and placing the origin at *q* corresponds to a nonsimplicial polyope *Q*.



Figure 2.1: Multiple splitters capture the origin q here.

We know how to compute the winding number of p and, subsequently, we know how to determine the g-vector of P. How do we compute the g-vector of Q when qfalls on the relative interior of the convex hull of some splitters in the corresponding Gale diagram? How do we interpret the winding number q in this case?

# Single *k*-Splitter



Figure 2.2: One k-splitter captures q here.

We will first determine the g-vector of Q when  $\alpha = 1$ . In other words, we assume that q falls in the relative interior of the convex hull of a single k-splitter  $X_1$ , or X. See Figure 2.2.

**Theorem 2.1.1** (Lee-N). When the origin q in the Gale diagram falls in the relative interior of the convex hull of exactly one k-splitter, then  $g_k(Q)$  equals the minimum  $g_k$  of its neighboring regions. Otherwise  $g_i(Q) = g_i(P)$  for  $i \neq k$ , where P is the polytope

corresponding to having the origin p in either of the regions immediately adjacent to q.

*Proof.* We already know how to handle the simplicial case, so we want to take advantage of this fact when working on the nonsimplicial case. We will determine  $g(\partial Q)$  in terms of  $g(\partial P)$ . We need to determine which faces are different for P and Q. Start by considering which sets capture p or q but not both.

Clearly, X captures only q. Since p is in affinely general position with respect to V, then any set that captures p in its interior must have full dimension e. Since  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitter except X, we also note that any set which captures p in its interior either captures q in its interior or on its boundary. Sets which capture both p and q in their relative interiors correspond to common faces of P and Q. Sets which capture p in their interiors and q on their boundaries are exactly the sets of the form  $F' \cup X$  for F' a nonempty subset of F.

Since we know what is different between the sets that capture only p or q, then we also know exactly what is different about the faces of P and Q by considering complements by Definition 1.6.6. The nonsimplicial polytope Q has the face  $V \setminus X =$  $F \cup G$ . The simplicial polytope P has all the faces of the form  $V \setminus (F' \cup X) =$  $(F \setminus F') \cup G$  for every nonempty subset F' of F.

Then we may compute the *h*-vector of  $\partial Q$  by subtracting terms for all the faces of  $\partial P$  not in  $\partial Q$  and adding the term for the face of  $\partial Q$  not in  $\partial P$  to the *h*-vector of  $\partial P$ .

$$\begin{split} h(\partial Q, x) &= h(\partial P, x) \\ &- \sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial P \text{ not in } \partial Q \\ H = \sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial Q \text{ not in } \partial P }} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(G)} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial Q \text{ not in } \partial P }} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(G)} \end{split}$$

Since P is simplicial, all of its faces are simplices. For simplicial objects, we may use the ordinary h- and g-vectors [26]. Recall that  $g(\partial \operatorname{simplex}, x) = 1$  (Lemma 1.3.13). Also, for  $1 \leq i \leq |F|$  and |F'| = i, there are  $\binom{|F|}{i}$  sets of the form  $(F \setminus F') \cup G$  of dimension d - i. Thus, we have the following:

$$\sum_{\substack{L \text{ face of } \partial P \text{ not in } \partial Q}} g(\partial L, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(L)}$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i=1}}^{|F|} {|F| \choose i} (1) \cdot (x-1)^{d-1-(d-i)}$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i=1}}^{|F|} {|F| \choose i} (x-1)^{i-1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{x-1} \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i=1}}^{|F|} {|F| \choose i} (x-1)^{i}$$

$$= \frac{1}{x-1 \choose x-1} (x^{|F|}-1) \text{ by the Binomial Theorem}$$

$$= \frac{x^{|F|}-1}{x-1}$$

$$= x^{|F|-1} + x^{|F|-2} + \dots + x^{2} + x + 1.$$

Observe that the face  $F \cup G$  is a simplicial (d-1)-polytope that attaches along the boundary of the complex of the faces of P after the above faces of P are removed. The facets of  $\partial(F \cup G)$  are of the form  $(F \setminus t) \cup (G \setminus s)$  where  $t \in F$  and  $s \in G$ . They have cardinality d-1 and are contained in exactly one set of the form  $(F \setminus t) \cup G$ where t is an element of F. Therefore,  $\partial(F \cup G) = (2^{F \setminus t}) \cup (2^{G \setminus s}) = \partial 2^{F} * \partial 2^{G}$ , where \* denotes the simplicial join. We need to determine  $g(\partial(F \cup G), x)$ . Since  $\partial(F \cup G)$  is the join of the simplicial complexes  $\partial 2^{F}$  and  $\partial 2^{G}$ , then we have that

$$\begin{aligned} &h(\partial(F \cup G), x) \\ &= h(\partial \overline{F}, x) \cdot h(\partial \overline{G}, x) \text{ by Lemma 1.3.15} \\ &= (x^{|F|-1} + x^{|F|-2} + \dots + x + 1) \cdot (x^{|G|-1} + x^{|G|-2} + \dots + x + 1) \text{ as shown above.} \end{aligned}$$

Since |F| + |G| - 2 = d - 1, then  $h(\partial(F \cup G), x)$  equals

$$x^{d-1} + 2x^{d-2} + \dots + \ell x^{d-\ell} + \dots + \ell x^{\ell-1} + \dots + 2x + 1.$$

where  $\ell = \min\{|F|, |G|\}$ . Therefore,  $g(\partial(F \cup G), x)$  equals

 $1 + x + \dots + x^{\ell - 1}.$ 

Thus, we have the following:

$$\sum_{\substack{L \text{ face of } \partial Q \text{ not in } \partial P \\ = (1 + x + \dots + x^{\ell-1}) \cdot (x - 1)^{d-1 - \dim(L)}} g(\partial L, x)(x - 1)^{d-1 - \dim(L)}$$
$$= (1 + x + \dots + x^{\ell-1}).$$

With both of these results, we are able to determine the change in the toric h-vector when we move the origin from p to q in the Gale diagram. The change in the toric h-vector is

$$-(1+x+\cdots+x^{|F|-1})+(1+x+\cdots+x^{\ell-1}).$$

In the case that  $\ell = |F| \leq |G|$ , there is no change in the *h*-vector. In the case that  $\ell = |G| < |F|$ , then the change in the *h*-vector is

$$-x^G - x^{G+1} - \dots - x^{|F|-1}$$

By looking at the differences, we are able to determine the change in the toric g-vector when we move from p to q in the Gale diagram. In the former case, there is no change in the g-vector. So  $g_{\ell}(Q) = g_{\ell}(P) = w_{\ell}(p)$ . In the latter case, the change in the g-vector is  $-x^{|G|}$ . So  $g_{\ell}(Q) = g_{\ell}(P) - 1 = w_{\ell}(p) - 1$ . In either case,  $g_{\ell}(Q)$  equals the minimum  $\ell^{th}$  winding number of the two regions adjacent to q.



Figure 2.3: Use Theorem 2.1.1 to determine g(Q).

Consider the following example.

**Example 2.1.2.** See Figure 2.3. In Example 1.8.2, we found  $g_2(P) = w_2(p)$  for different points p that fall in affinely general position with respect to the points of V. The point q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of the 2-splitter  $\{v_3, v_7\}$ . As the figure here shows, p is in region adjacent to q for which  $g_2$  is minimum. Let P be the simplicial 4-polytope corresponding to the Gale diagram in which the origin is p. Then by Theorem 2.1.1, g(Q) = g(P) = (1, 1, 0).

This result leads to the following winding interpretation.

**Corollary 2.1.3** (Lee-N). When the origin q in the Gale diagram falls on exactly one k-splitter, then that splitter is not winding around q.

We know how to compute the g-vector of Q when q falls in the relative interior of the convex hull of exactly one k-splitter in the Gale diagram. How do we compute the g-vector of Q when q falls in the relative interiors of the convex hulls of multiple splitters simultaneously?

#### Multiple *k*-Splitters

Now we will determine the g-vector of Q when  $\alpha > 1$ ; in other words, q falls in the relative interior of the convex hulls of multiple splitters  $X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_{\alpha}$ , where aff  $(X_i) \neq \text{aff}(X_j)$  for all  $i \neq j$ . See Figure 2.1. We first need to consider the relationship between any pair of splitters that cross on their interiors.

For each i, let  $H_i^-$  and  $H_i^+$  be the closed halfspaces of  $X_i$  on the same side as  $F_i$  and  $G_i$ , respectively.

**Lemma 2.1.4** (Lee-N). If  $X_i$  and  $X_j$  contain a common point q in the relative interiors of their convex hulls for  $1 \le i < j \le \alpha$ , then there exists a point of  $X_j$  in each of  $G_i$  and  $F_i$ .

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we may consider i = 1 and j = 2. Since  $X_1 \neq X_2$ , then  $H_1 \neq H_2$ . We know that

 $q \in \operatorname{rel} \operatorname{int} (\operatorname{conv} (X_1)) \cap \operatorname{rel} \operatorname{int} (\operatorname{conv} (X_2)).$ 

Then  $q \in \operatorname{rel} \operatorname{int} (\operatorname{conv} (X_1)) \subseteq H_1$ , and, subsequently,

$$q \notin H_1^+ \setminus H_1. \tag{2.1}$$

Since  $q \in \text{rel int}(\text{conv}(X_2)) \subseteq H_2$  and  $H_1 \neq H_2$ , then

$$q \in \operatorname{rel int} (\operatorname{conv} (X_2)) \nsubseteq H_1.$$

Now suppose there is no point of  $X_2$  in  $F_1$ . Then  $X_2 \subseteq H_1^+$ . It follows that rel int  $(\operatorname{conv}(X_2)) \subseteq H_1^+$ . Thus, we have

$$q \in \operatorname{rel} \operatorname{int} (\operatorname{conv} (X_2)) \subseteq H_1^+ \setminus H_1,$$

which contradicts (2.1). Therefore, there must be at least one point of  $X_2$  in  $F_1$ . Using the same argument with  $H_1^-$  and  $G_1$  rather than  $H_1^+$  and  $F_1$ , respectively, we conclude that there must be at least one point of  $X_2$  in  $G_1$ . Relabeling also gives us that there is at least one point of  $X_1$  in  $F_2$  and at least one point of  $X_1$  in  $G_2$ . Now, in general, we know that  $X_j \cap (H_i^+ \setminus H_i) \neq \emptyset$  and  $X_j \cap (H_i^- \setminus H_i) \neq \emptyset$ . Therefore,  $X_j \cap G_i \neq \emptyset$  and  $X_j \cap F_i \neq \emptyset$ . **Corollary 2.1.5** (Lee-N). Let  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ . When the origin q in the Gale diagram falls on multiple k-splitters as described above, then we have to consider whether we are moving from the positive side (the closed halfspace of  $X_i$  with more points) towards the negative side (the closed halfspace  $X_i$  with fewer points) of each k-splitter  $X_i$  when moving the origin from p to q. We subtract one from  $g_k(P)$  for every k-splitter which has p on its positive side.

*Proof.* The sets of points capturing the origin q for each splitter are disjoint from Lemma 2.1.4. So the sets of faces that are changed when moving the origin from p to q for the different splitters are disjoint. The result then follows by applying Theorem 2.1.1 to each splitter.



Figure 2.4: Use Corollary 2.1.5 to determine g(Q).

Consider the following example.

**Example 2.1.6.** See Figure 2.4. In Example 1.8.2, we found  $g_2(P) = w_2(p)$  for different points p that fall in affinely general position with respect to the points of V. The point q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of the 2-splitter  $\{v_3, v_7\}$  and the 2-splitter  $\{v_2, v_6\}$ . Let P be the simplicial 4-polytope corresponding to the

Gale diagram in which the origin is p. Notice that p is on the negative side of both the 2-splitter  $\{v_3, v_7\}$  and the 2-splitter  $\{v_2, v_6\}$ . So  $g_2(Q) = g_2(P) - 0 = 0$  by Corollary 2.1.5. Then g(Q) = g(P) = (1, 2, 0).



Figure 2.5: Determine  $g_3(Q)$  using Corollary 2.1.5.

Note 2.1.7. In general,  $g_k(Q)$  does not equal the minimum  $w_k$  of its neighboring regions.

The following example illustrates this important fact.

**Example 2.1.8.** See Figure 2.5. Consider this 2-dimensional Gale diagram with origin q corresponding to the non-simplicial 6-polytope Q. Then  $X_i$  is a 3-splitter for all i = 1, 2, 3. Further, these are the only 3-splitters which capture q. One may show that the numbers in each region indicate  $w_3(o)$  for different points o that fall in affinely general position with respect to the points of V. Having the origin at p corresponds to the simplicial 6-polytope P, and  $g_3(P) = 3$ . Notice that p is on the positive side of  $X_1$  and  $X_3$ . Then  $g_3(Q) = g_3(P) - 2 = 3 - 2 = 1$  by Corollary 2.1.5. As indicated in the figure, the regions immediately adjacent to q correspond to  $g_3 = 2$  or  $g_3 = 3$ . So  $g_3(Q)$  is not the minimum  $g_3$  of its neighboring regions.

**Theorem 2.1.9** (Lee-N). When the origin q in the Gale diagram is in the relative interiors of the convex hulls of multiple splitters, then we only consider the k-splitters when determining  $g_k(Q)$ . In other words, we consider each set of k-splitters separately.

With these results, we may determine the g-vector for any d-polytope whose edimensional Gale diagram consists of points falling in affinely general position except for the origin q falling in the relative interior of the convex hull of at least one splitter.

## **Origin Falls on a Point**

Now we will determine the g-vector of a d-polytope Q when the origin coincides with a point in the e-dimensional Gale diagram V. In other words, q falls on exactly one of the points v.

Consider the (d-1)-polytope Q' which corresponds to the *e*-dimensional Gale diagram consisting of the origin q and the n-1 points that do not coincide with q; *i.e.*, the set  $V \setminus v$ . Now we will argue that the *g*-vector of Q is the same as the *g*-vector of Q'.

**Theorem 2.1.10** (Lee-N). When the origin q in the Gale diagram falls on exactly one point v, then we find g(Q) by first deleting v from the Gale diagram.

*Proof.* Since q coincides with v in the Gale diagram, we know that Q is a pyramid over Q' by Corollary 1.6.7. As noted in Section 1.3, building a pyramid over a polytope does not change its g-vector (Theorem 1.3.7). Therefore, the g-vectors of Q and Q' are equivalent.

If the points in  $V \setminus v$  are in affinely general position with respect to each other and q, then Q' is a simplicial polytope. Thus, we may find the g-vector of Q' using the winding number interpretation provided by Lee [18].

Using Corollary 2.1.5 and Theorem 2.1.10, we may now determine the g-vector of any polytope whose Gale diagram consists of all points in affinely general position except for the origin, which lies in the relative interior of the convex hulls of some of the splitters and is itself in V. All of these results hold for e-dimensional Gale diagrams. In the next section, we will continue to study polytopes with e-dimensional Gale diagrams. We will now prove Theorems 2.2.9 and 2.2.9, which establish how to find the g-vector in certain cases of Gale diagrams whose points are in affinely general position except for a subset of points that falls on a single hyperplane containing the origin.

# 2.2 Considering Hyperplanes

We say the points V in  $\mathbb{R}^e$  are in affinely general position if no more than i+1 points lie in any common *i*-dimensional affine space for  $0 \le i \le e-1$ .

First, we consider the case when more than one point lies on a 0-dimensional affine space. We will extend our previous result to argue that the *g*-vector for an *e*-dimensional Gale diagram in which multiple points coincide with the origin is the same as the *g*-vector for that Gale diagram without those stacked points at the origin. Then we will determine the *g*-vector for certain *d*-polytopes with *e*-dimensional Gale diagrams in which there exists a hyperplane H containing at least e + 1 points.

# **Origin Falls on Multiple Points**

We will determine the the g-vector of a d-polytope Q when the origin coincides with multiple points in the e-dimensional Gale diagram V. In other words, q coincides with the stacked points  $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\sigma}$ , where  $\sigma \geq 2$ .

Consider the  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope Q'' which corresponds to the *e*-dimensional Gale diagram consisting of the origin q and the  $n - \sigma$  points that do not coincide with q; *i.e.*, the set  $V \setminus \{v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\sigma}\}$ . Now we will apply Theorem 2.1.10 to show that the g-vector of Q is the same as the g-vector of Q''.

**Theorem 2.2.1** (Lee-N). Suppose the origin q in the Gale diagram falls on more than one point  $\{v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\sigma}\}$  in V. Then we find g(Q) by first deleting the points  $v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\sigma}$  from the Gale diagram.

*Proof.* Since q coincides with  $\{v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_\sigma\}$  in the Gale diagram, we know that Q is a  $\sigma$ -fold pyramid over Q'' by Corollary 1.6.7. As noted in Section 1.3, building a pyramid over a polytope does not change its g-vector (Theorem 1.3.7). Then building a multipyramid over a polytope also does not change the g-vector. Thus, as in Theorem 2.1.10 the g-vectors of Q and Q'' are equivalent.

Further, suppose that the points in  $V \setminus \{v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_{\sigma}\}$  are in affinely general position with respect to each other and q. Then Q'' is a simplicial polytope. Thus, we may find the *g*-vector of Q'' using the winding number interpretation provided by Lee [18].

We have now shown how to determine the g-vector of any d-polytope whose edimensional Gale diagram consists of all points in affinely general position except for multiple points coinciding with the origin. Next we will consider what happens when many points fall on a single hyperplane H in the Gale diagram.

For the remainder of this section, we will show how to compute the g-vector from e-dimensional Gale diagrams in which there exists a hyperplane H that satisfies the following conditions.

- H contains at least e + 1 points from V and another point q;
- The set  $Y = V \cap H$  affinely spans H;
- Any minimal affinely dependent subset of V of at most e + 1 points lies in H;
- Every subset of e points in  $Y \cup \{q\}$  is affinely independent.

Let  $\gamma \ge e+1$  denote the cardinality of Y. Say  $Y = \{v_1, v_2, \dots, v_{\gamma}\}$ , relabeling if necessary. Then q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of nonempty subsets of Y; denote them  $\{Y_{\beta}\}$ .

Here we generalize the notion of a splitter.

**Definition 2.2.2** (Lee-N). Suppose  $e \ge 1$ ,  $n \ge e+1$ , and d = n - e - 1. Consider a set of vertices  $V = \{v_1, ..., v_n\}$  in affinely general position, where each  $v_i \in \mathbb{R}^e$ . In  $\mathbb{R}^e$ , a *splitter* is a maximal subset of V affinely spanning a hyperplane.

Thus, the nonempty subsets  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y are splitters. Then there exists a point p in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup \{q\}$  so that  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitters except those  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y. There also exists a p' in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup q$  that satisfies the following conditions.



Figure 2.6: Here the splitter consisting of 5 points maximally spans H.

- The point p' is in the line spanned by p and q;
- The lines segment pp' does not meet the convex hull of any splitters except the same subsets Y<sub>β</sub> of Y;
- The point p' is in the open halfspace of H not containing p.

Let F be the points of V that are in the open halfspace of H containing p, and let G be points of V that are in the opposite open halfspace of H containing p'. See Figure 2.6. Then  $V = F \cup G \cup Y$ . Note that placing the origin at p and p'corresponds to simplicial polytopes P and P', respectively, and placing the origin at q corresponds to a nonsimplicial polytope Q.

We know how to compute g(P) and g(P') [18]. How does the *g*-vector change when crossing a hyperplane *H* with more than *e* points? How do we compute  $g_k(Q)$ when *q* is in *H*?

#### Crossing a Splitter

We will first determine the relationship between the *g*-vectors determined by placing the origin at p and p', respectively. In other words, we are considering what change corresponds to crossing the convex hull of a set of points on a single hyperplane Hwith at least e + 1 points, which are in affinely general position with respect to H.

**Proposition 2.2.3** (Lee-N). Suppose the origin in an *e* dimensional Gale diagram crosses *H*, as described above, from *F* to *G*. Then for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , the change in the k<sup>th</sup> component of the toric g-vector is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x-1)^{d-n+1}(x^{|F|}-x^{|G|})\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}.$$

*Proof.* Since we would like to compute the change in the toric g-vector, we are going to determine  $g(\partial P')$  in terms of  $g(\partial P)$ . We need to determine which faces are different for P and P'. Let's start by considering which sets capture p or p' but not both.

Since p and p' are both in affinely general position with respect to V, then any set that captures p or p' in its interior must have full dimension e. Since  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitters except the subsets  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y, we also note that any set which captures p in its interior either captures q in its interior or on its boundary. Since  $\overline{pp'}$  also does not meet the convex hull of any splitters except the subsets  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y, then any set which captures both p and q in its interior also captures p' in its interior.

Sets which capture both p and p' in their interiors correspond to common faces of P and P'. So we only need to consider sets which capture p in their interiors and q on their boundaries. Such sets do not capture p' in their interiors or on their boundaries. Sets which capture p in their interiors and q on their boundaries are exactly the sets of the form  $F' \cup Y_{\beta}$  for every nonempty subset F' of F and every nonempty subset  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y that captures q.

Applying the same argument to p', we know that we only need to consider sets which capture p' in their interiors and q on their boundaries. Such sets do not capture p in their interiors or on their boundaries. Sets which capture p' in their interiors and q on their boundaries are exactly the sets of the form  $G' \cup Y_{\beta}$  for every nonempty subset G' of G and every nonempty subset  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y that captures q.

Since we know what is different between the sets that capture only p or p', then we also know exactly what is different about the faces of P and P' by considering complements by Definition 1.6.6. P has all the faces of the form  $V \setminus (F' \cup Y_{\beta}) =$  $(F \setminus F') \cup G \cup (Y \setminus Y_{\beta})$  for every nonempty subset F' of F and every nonempty subset  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y that captures q. P' has all the faces of the form  $V \setminus (G' \cup Y_{\beta}) =$  $F \cup (G \setminus G') \cup (Y \setminus Y_{\beta})$  for every nonempty subset G' of G and every nonempty subset  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y that captures q.

Then we may compute the *h*-polynomial of  $\partial P'$  by subtracting the terms of the *h*-polynomial for all the faces of  $\partial P$  not in  $\partial P'$  and adding the terms of the *h*-polynomial for all the faces of  $\partial P'$  not in  $\partial P$  to the *h*-polynomial of  $\partial P$ .

$$\begin{split} h(\partial P', x) &= h(\partial P, x) \\ &- \sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial P \text{ not in } \partial P' \\ G \text{ face of } \partial P' \text{ not in } \partial P}} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(G)} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial P' \text{ not in } \partial P}} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(G)} \end{split}$$

First, we will rewrite the second term. Since P is simplicial, all of its faces are simplices. Consider  $L = (F \setminus F') \cup G \cup (Y \setminus Y_{\beta})$ . Since L is a simplex, then  $g(\partial L, x) = 1$  by Lemma 1.3.13 and  $\dim(L) = \operatorname{card}(L) - 1 = |F| - |F'| + |G| + |Y| - |Y_{\beta}| - 1 = n - |F'| - |Y_{\beta}| - 1$ .

So we have the following:

$$= \sum_{\substack{\text{L face of } \partial P \text{ not in } \partial P' \\ \text{L face of } \partial P \text{ not in } \partial P' \\ \text{L face of } \partial P \text{ not in } \partial P' \\ = \sum_{\substack{\text{L face of } \partial P \text{ not in } \partial P' \\ 0 \subseteq T \subset F \\ y_{\beta}}} (x-1)^{d-n+|F'|+|Y_{\beta}|} \\ = \sum_{\substack{\emptyset \subseteq T \subset F \\ (x-1)^{d-n}}} \sum_{\substack{\emptyset \subseteq T \subset F \\ 0 \subseteq T \subset F}} (x-1)^{|F'|} \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|} \\ = (x-1)^{d-n} \sum_{\substack{i=1 \\ i=1}}^{|F|} {|F| \choose i} (x-1)^{i} \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|} \\ = (x-1)^{d-n} (x^{|F|}-1) \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|} \text{ by the Binomial Theorem.}$$

Next, we will rewrite the third term. In this case, P' is simplicial and  $L = F \cup (G \setminus G') \cup (Y \setminus Y_{\beta})$ . So  $g(\partial L, x) = 1$  (Lemma 1.3.13) and dim $(L) = card(L) - 1 = |F| + |G| - |G'| + |Y| - |Y_{\beta}| - 1 = n - |G'| - |Y_{\beta}| - 1$ .

Then we have the following:

$$\sum_{\substack{\text{L face of } \partial P \text{ not in } \partial P' \\ (x-1)^{d-n} (x^{|G|}-1) \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|} \text{ by a similar argument.}}} g(\partial L, x)(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$

With both of these results, we are able to determine the change in the toric h-vector when we move the origin in the Gale diagram from p to p'. The change in the toric h-vector is

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta(x) &= (x-1)^{d-n} \left( -(x^{|F|}-1) + (x^{|G|}-1) \right) \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|} \\ &= (x-1)^{d-n} (x^{|G|}-x^{|F|}) \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}. \end{aligned}$$

Since the toric *h*-vector is unimodal by Theorem 1.3.16 [15], then g(x) agrees with  $(1-x) \cdot h(x)$  in the lower degree terms  $\leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , *i.e.*,  $h(P', x) - h(P, x) = \Delta(x)$ . Both h(P', x) and h(P, x) are symmetric; hence, so is  $\Delta(x)$ . Thus, the change in g(x) matches the lower order terms  $(x^j, 0 \leq j \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor)$  of  $(1-x)\Delta(x)$ . Therefore, the toric g-vector as we move the origin in the Gale diagram from p to p' is given by

$$(1-x)(x-1)^{d-n}(x^{|G|}-x^{|F|})\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$
$$= -(x-1)^{d-n+1}(x^{|G|}-x^{|F|})\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$
$$= (x-1)^{d-n+1}(x^{|F|}-x^{|G|})\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$



Figure 2.7: We will determine the change in the g-vector when crossing this splitter.

We will apply this result to the following example.

**Example 2.2.4.** Consider this 2-dimensional Gale diagram with 13 points as shown in Figure 2.7. Let the origin p correspond to the simplicial 10-polytope P and the origin p' correspond to the simplicial 10-polytope P'. Then the change in the  $k^{th}$ component of the toric g-vector when the origin moves from p to p' is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  (for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = 5$ ) in the product

$$(x-1)^{-2}(x^5-x^3)\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$

by Proposition 2.2.3.



Figure 2.8: Here Y is a 2-dimensional Gale diagram corresponding to a simplicial 2-polytope P.

Now consider Y as a set of points in dimension e-1 within the ambient space H. In this case, q corresponds to a simplicial polytope  $\hat{Q}$  of dimension  $|Y| - (e-1) - 1 = \gamma - e$ . Figure 2.8 shows the Gale diagram Y that corresponds to the hyperplane in Figure 2.6.

**Proposition 2.2.5** (Lee-N). Suppose the origin in H lies in the convex hull of points Y that affinely span H and are not in affinely general position. When the origin falls in affinely general position with respect to Y, then the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric h-vector of  $\hat{Q}$  is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x-1)^{d-n+1} \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}.$$

*Proof.* Since  $\widehat{Q}$  is simplicial, all of its faces are simplices. So we may use the ordinary h- and g-vectors and the fact that  $g(\partial \text{simplex}, x) = 1$ . Only the subsets  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y capture q. By considering complements, all the faces of  $\widehat{Q}$  have the form  $Y \setminus Y_{\beta}$ . Since  $Y \setminus Y_{\beta}$  is a simplex, then  $\dim(Y \setminus Y_{\beta}) = \operatorname{card}(Y \setminus Y_{\beta}) - 1 = |Y| - |Y_{\beta}| - 1 = \gamma - |Y_{\beta}| - 1$ .

So we have the following:

$$\begin{split} h(\partial \widehat{Q}, x) &= \sum_{\substack{\text{L face of } \partial \widehat{Q} \\ P_{\beta}}} g(\partial L, x)(x-1)^{\dim(\widehat{Q})-1-\dim(L)}} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} (1)(x-1)^{(\gamma-e)-1-(\gamma-|Y_{\beta}|-1)} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|+d-n+1} \\ &= (x-1)^{d-n+1} \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|} \end{split}$$

Since q is in affinely general position with respect to Y, we may combine the previous two results in the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.2.6** (Lee-N). Suppose H and Y are defined as above. Then for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector corresponding to crossing H from p to p' in dimension e equals the  $k^{th}$  component of the product of the difference  $x^{|F|} - x^{|G|}$  times the toric h-vector of  $\hat{Q}$ .

*Proof.* By Proposition 2.2.3, for  $0 \leq k \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x-1)^{d-n+1} (x^{|F|} - x^{|G|}) \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$
$$= (x^{|F|} - x^{|G|}) (x-1)^{d-n+1} \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$
$$= (x^{|F|} - x^{|G|}) h(\partial \widehat{Q}, x) \text{ by Proposition 2.2.5.}$$



Figure 2.9: The 1-dimensional Gale diagram of Y.

**Example 2.2.4** continued. Consider the 1-dimensional Gale diagram in Figure 2.9. Let the origin q in this Gale diagram correspond to the simplicial 3-polytope  $\hat{Q}$ . This Gale diagram is combinatorially equivalent to the Gale diagram of the triangular bipyramid in Figure 1.15. So  $\hat{Q}$  is the triangular bipyramid from Example 1.2.4. Then  $h(\partial \hat{Q}, x) = x^3 + 2x^2 + 2x + 1$  by Example 1.3.6. Since this is also the 1-dimensional Gale diagram of Y from Figure 2.7, then the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector (for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = 5$ ) is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$\begin{array}{rl} (x^5 - x^3)(x^3 + 2x^2 + 2x + 1) \\ = & (x^8 + 2x^7 + 2x^6 + 1x^5) - (x^6 + 2x^5 + 2x^4 + 1x^3) \\ = & x^8 + 2x^7 + x^6 - x^5 - 2x^4 - 1x^3 \end{array}$$

by Theorem 2.2.6. Thus,  $g(\partial P', x) = g(\partial P, x) - x^5 - 2x^4 - 1x^3$ .

So we know how to compute the change in the toric g-vector when the origin moves across a hyperplane H whose points are not in affinely general position. How do we compute the toric g-vector of a polytope Q whose origin q lies on a hyperplane H with more than e points?

#### Landing on a Splitter

Now we will determine the toric g-vector for q when q falls on the hyperplane H with at least e + 1 points, as described after the proof of Theorem 2.2.1. See Figures 2.6 and 2.8.

Let  $\ell = \min\{|F|, |G|\}$ . Then the following result holds.

**Proposition 2.2.7** (Lee-N). Suppose the origin in an *e* dimensional Gale diagram is in the convex hull of Y whose points span the hyperplane H, as described above. Then for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x-1)^{d-n+1}(x^{|F|}-x^{\ell})\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}.$$

*Proof.* Since we would like to compute the change in the toric g-vector, we are going to determine  $g(\partial Q)$  in terms of  $g(\partial P)$ . We need to determine which faces are different for P and Q. Let's start by considering which sets capture p or q but not both.

Since p is in affinely general position with respect to V, then any set that captures p in its interior must have full dimension e. Further,  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex

hull of any splitters except all the nonempty subsets  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y that capture q. We also note that any set which captures p in its interior either captures q in its interior or on its boundary.

Sets which capture both p and q in their interiors correspond to common faces of P and Q. So we only need to consider sets which capture p in their interiors and q on their boundaries. Sets which capture p in their interiors and q on their boundaries are exactly the sets of the form  $F' \cup Y_{\beta}$  for every nonempty subset F' of F and every nonempty subset  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y that captures q.

The nonempty subsets  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y are the only sets which capture only q.

Since we know what is different between the sets that capture only p or q, then we also know exactly what is different about the faces of P and Q by considering complements (Definition 1.6.6). P has all the faces of the form  $V \setminus (F' \cup Y_{\beta}) =$  $(F \setminus F') \cup G \cup (Y \setminus Y_{\beta})$  for every nonempty subset F' of F and every nonempty subset  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y that captures q. Q has all the faces of the form  $V \setminus Y_{\beta} = F \cup G \cup (Y \setminus Y_{\beta})$ for every nonempty subset  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y that captures q.

Then we may compute the *h*-polynomial of  $\partial Q$  by subtracting the terms of the *h*-polynomial for all the faces of  $\partial P$  not in  $\partial Q$  and adding the terms of the *h*-polynomial for all the faces of  $\partial Q$  not in  $\partial P$  to the *h*-polynomial of  $\partial P$ .

$$\begin{split} h(\partial Q, x) &= h(\partial P, x) \\ &- \sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial P \text{ not in } \partial Q \\ G \text{ face of } \partial Q \text{ not in } \partial P}} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(G)} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{G \text{ face of } \partial Q \text{ not in } \partial P}} g(\partial G, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(G)} \end{split}$$

From the proof of Proposition 2.2.3 in the previous section, the second term may be rewritten as follows.

$$\sum_{\substack{\text{L face of }\partial P \text{ not in }\partial Q \\ = (x-1)^{d-n} (x^{|F|} - 1) \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}} g(\partial L, x) (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$

Next, we will rewrite the third term. In this case,  $L = F \cup G \cup (Y \setminus Y_{\beta})$ . Recall that in the hyperplane H, no e-1 points fall on an (e-2)-dimensional affine space with q. So these sets  $Y_{\beta}$  that capture q must be full dimensional within H; *i.e.*, they are (e-1)-dimensional with at least e points. Note that any set of e points of Y spans the hyperplane H. In particular, each  $Y_{\beta}$  spans H.

McMullin proved that projecting orthogonally to  $Y_{\beta}$  and then deleting its points gives the Gale diagram of the face L, regarded as a polytope [22]. Since  $Y_{\beta}$  spans H, the Gale diagram of L is a one-dimensional line with the points F falling on one side of q, the points of G falling on the other side of q and  $|Y| - |Y_{\beta}| = \gamma - |Y_{\beta}|$  points coinciding with q. Then  $g(\partial L, x) = 1 + x + x^2 + \cdots + x^{\ell-1}$ . If  $Y_{\beta}$  is a cofacet, then Lis a facet of dimension d - 1 = n - e - 2 and cardinality n - e. The dimension and cardinality of L decreases by 1 for each additional point added to a cofacet. Thus, the dim $(L) = n - |Y_{\beta}| - 2$  for the face L corresponding to any coface  $Y_{\beta}$ . Then we have the following:

$$\sum_{\substack{L \text{ face of } \partial Q \text{ not in } \partial P \\ Y_{\beta}}} g(\partial L, x)(x-1)^{d-1-\dim(L)}} \\ = \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} \frac{x^{\ell} - 1}{x-1} (x-1)^{d-1-(n-|Y_{\beta}|-2)} \\ = \frac{x^{\ell} - 1}{x-1} \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|-e} \\ = \frac{x^{\ell} - 1}{(x-1)^{e+1}} \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|} \\ = (x-1)^{d-n} (x^{\ell} - 1) \sum_{\substack{Y_{\beta} \\ Y_{\beta}}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}.$$

With both of these results, we are able to determine the change in the toric h-vector when we move the origin in the Gale diagram from p to q. The change in the toric h-vector is

$$(x-1)^{d-n} \left( -(x^{|F|}-1) + (x^{\ell}-1) \right) \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$
  
=  $(x-1)^{d-n} (x^{\ell} - x^{|F|}) \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}.$ 

As before, since the toric *h*-vector is symmetric by Theorem 1.3.16 [15], then g(x) agrees with  $(1 - x) \cdot h(x)$  in the lower degree terms  $\leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ . Therefore, the change in the lower terms of the toric *g*-vector as we move the origin in the Gale diagram from p to q is given by

$$(1-x)(x-1)^{d-n}(x^{\ell}-x^{|F|})\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$
  
=  $-(x-1)^{d-n+1}(x^{\ell}-x^{|F|})\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$   
=  $(x-1)^{d-n+1}(x^{|F|}-x^{\ell})\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}.$ 

We will apply this result to the following example.

**Example 2.2.8.** Consider the 2-dimensional Gale diagram with 13 points as shown in Figure 2.10. Let the origin p correspond to the simplicial 10-polytope P and the origin q correspond to the nonsimplicial 10-polytope Q. Since  $\ell = |G| < |F|$ , the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric q-vector when the origin moves from p to qis given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  (for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = 5$ ) in the product

$$(x-1)^{-2}(x^5-x^3)\sum_{Y_{\beta}}(x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$

by Proposition 2.2.7.



Figure 2.10: We will determine the change in the g-vector when landing on this splitter.

Recall that when considering Y as a set of points in dimension e - 1 within the ambient space H, q corresponds to a simplicial polytope  $\hat{Q}$  of dimension  $|Y| - (e - 1) - 1 = \gamma - e$ . Then we may use Proposition 2.2.5 to express  $g(\partial Q)$  in terms of the  $(\gamma - e)$ -dimensional simplicial polytope  $\hat{Q}$ .

**Theorem 2.2.9** (Lee-N). Suppose H, Y, and  $\ell$  are defined as above. Then for  $0 \leq k \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector corresponding to moving the origin from p to q on H equals the  $k^{th}$  component of the product of the difference  $x^{|F|} - x^{\ell}$  times the toric h-vector of  $\hat{Q}$ .

*Proof.* By Proposition 2.2.7, for  $0 \leq k \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x-1)^{d-n+1} (x^{|F|} - x^{\ell}) \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$$
  
=  $(x^{|F|} - x^{\ell}) (x-1)^{d-n+1} \sum_{Y_{\beta}} (x-1)^{|Y_{\beta}|}$   
=  $(x^{|F|} - x^{\ell}) h(\partial \widehat{Q}, x)$  by Proposition 2.2.5.

When  $|F| \leq |G|$ , the following result is immediate.

**Corollary 2.2.10** (Lee-N). Suppose H, Y, and  $\ell$  are defined as above. Let  $0 \leq k \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ . If  $|F| \leq |G|$ , then there is no change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector corresponding to moving the origin from p to q on H.

**Example 2.2.8** continued. Consider the 1-dimensional Gale diagram in Figure 2.9. Recall that the origin q in this Gale diagram correspond to the simplicial 3-polytope  $\hat{Q}$ . As noted in Example 2.2.4,  $\hat{Q}$  is the triangular bipyramid from Example 1.2.4 and  $h(\partial \hat{Q}, x) = x^3 + 2x^2 + 2x + 1$ . Since this is the 1-dimensional Gale diagram of Y from Figure 2.10, then the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector (for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = 5$ ) is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x^{|F|} - x^{\ell})h(\partial \widehat{Q}, x)$$

by Theorem 2.2.9. Further, since  $\ell = |G| < |F|$ , this product is equivalent to the product

$$(x^{|F|} - x^{\ell})h(\partial \widehat{Q}, x).$$

Thus,  $g(\partial Q, x) = g(\partial P, x) - x^5 - 2x^4 - 1x^3$  by the calculations in Example 2.2.4.

## Multiple Splitters

We will discuss Lemma 2.1.4 in the context of splitters.

Consider an *e*-dimensional Gale diagram in which there exists  $\alpha$  hyperplanes  $H_i$ , with  $\alpha > 1$ , satisfying the following conditions.

- Each  $H_i$  contains at least e points from V and the point  $q \notin V$ ;
- The set  $Y_i = V \cap H_i$  affinely spans  $H_i$  for each i;
- Any minimal affinely dependent subset of V of at most e + 1 points lies in one of the  $H_i$ 's;
- Every subset of e points in any  $Y_i \cup \{q\}$  is affinely independent;
- $H_i \neq H_j$  for all  $i \neq j$ .

Let  $\gamma_i \geq e+1$  denote the cardinality of  $Y_i$ . Say  $Y_i = \{v_{1,i}, v_{2,i}, \ldots, v_{\gamma,i}\}$ , relabeling if necessary. Then q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of nonempty subsets of  $Y_i$ , denote them  $\{Y_{\beta,i}\}$ .

As we saw earlier in this section, nonempty subsets  $Y_{\beta,i}$  of  $Y_i$  are splitters.

Then there exists a point p in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup \{q\}$ so that  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitters except those  $Y_{\beta,i}$  of Y. Let  $F_i$  be the points of V that are in the open halfspace of  $H_i$  containing p, and let  $G_i$ be points of V that are in the opposite open halfspace of H not containing p. Then  $V = F_i \cup G_i \cup Y_i$  for each i. Note that placing the origin at p corresponds to simplicial polytopes P, and placing the origin at q corresponds to a nonsimplicial polytope Q.

For each i, let  $H_i^-$  and  $H_i^+$  be the closed halfspaces of  $Y_i$  on the same side as  $F_i$  and  $G_i$ , respectively. Then we may extend Lemma 2.1.4 for k-splitters to the more general definition of splitters.

**Lemma 2.2.11** (Lee-N). If  $Y_i$  and  $Y_j$  contain a common point q in their relative interiors for  $1 \le i < j \le \alpha$ , then there exists a point of  $Y_j$  in each of  $G_i$  and  $F_i$ .

*Proof.* The argument in the proof of Lemma 2.1.4 relies on the hyperplanes and closed halfspaces determined by a given  $X_i$ . Replacing the  $X_i$  from the k-splitter setting with the  $Y_i$  from the current splitter setting does not change the argument. Thus, the proof of this result follows immediately from the proof of Lemma 2.1.4.

Therefore, the following results also hold in this more general setting.

**Corollary 2.2.12** (Lee-N). Let  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ . When the origin q in the Gale diagram falls on multiple splitters as described above, then each splitter acts independently. To determine the total change in the g-vector, we sum over the change for each splitter using Corollary 2.1.5 and Theorem 2.2.9.

*Proof.* The sets of points capturing the origin q for each splitter are disjoint from Lemma 2.2.11. So the sets of faces that are changed when moving the origin from p to q for the different splitters are disjoint. The result then follows by applying Theorem 2.2.9 to each splitter.



Figure 2.11: We will determine how the g-vector changes when the origin moves onto multiple splitters from p to q.

We will apply this result to the 2-dimensional Gale diagram in Figure 2.11.

**Example 2.2.13.** Consider the 2-dimensional Gale diagram with 14 points as shown in Figure 2.11. Let the origin p correspond to the simplicial 11-polytope P and the origin q correspond to the nonsimplicial 11-polytope Q. Note that q is captured by the 4-splitter  $\{v_1, v_{10}\}$ , the splitter  $\{v_2, v_3, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}\}$ , and the splitter  $\{v_4, v_5, v_{15}\}$ . Since p is on the positive side of the 4-splitter  $\{v_1, v_{10}\}$ , then this splitter decreases  $g_4(P)$  by one.

Notice that p is also on the positive side of the splitter  $\{v_2, v_3, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}\}$ . The Gale diagram  $\{v_2, v_3, v_{11}, v_{12}, v_{13}\}$  as a set of points in dimension 1 is combinatorially equivalent to the Gale diagram of the triangular bipyramid in Figure 1.15. As we calculated in Example 2.2.4,  $h(\partial \text{triangular bipyramid}, x) = x^3 + 2x^2 + 2x + 1$ . Then the contribution of this splitter to the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector (for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = 5$ ) is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x^7 - x^2)(x^3 + 2x^2 + 2x + 1) = (x^{10} + 2x^9 + 2x^8 + x^7) - (x^5 + 2x^4 + 2x^3 + x^2)$$

by Theorem 2.2.9. So this splitter decreases  $g_5(P)$  by one,  $g_4(P)$  by two,  $g_3(P)$  by two, and  $g_2(P)$  by one.

Note that p is on the negative side of the splitter  $\{v_4, v_5, v_{15}\}$ . Then by Corollary 2.2.10, this splitter contributes no change to the q-vector as the origin moves from p to q.

Therefore,  $g(\partial Q, x) = g(\partial P, x) - x^5 - 3x^4 - 2x^3 - 1x^2$ .

#### 2.3Complete Analysis for Gale Diagrams of Polytopes with Few Vertices

Recall that a d-polytope with few vertices has at most d+3 vertices. In this section, we want to determine the q-vector of any polytope with few vertices from its Gale diagram. Polytopes with few vertices have Gale diagrams of dimension at most 2.

#### Gale Diagrams of Dimension 0 and 1

**Theorem 2.3.1** (Lee-N). Let P be any d-dimensional polytope with a 0-dimensional Gale diagram. Then the g-polynomial of P is g(P, x) = 1.

*Proof.* Any d-polytope P with 0-dimensional Gale diagram is a d-simplex. Then the result follows immediately from Lemma 1.3.13.

Now consider any d-polytope Q with a 1-dimensional Gale diagram. The d+2points are collinear in the Gale diagram. So u points fall on one side of the origin q,  $\sigma$  points coincide with the origin q, and the remaining r points fall on the other side of the origin q where  $u + \sigma + r = d + 2$ ,  $u \ge r \ge 1$ , and  $\sigma \ge 0$ .

**Theorem 2.3.2** (Lee-N). Let Q be any d-dimensional polytope with a 1-dimensional Gale diagram. Suppose  $\sigma$  points coincide with the origin q. Let u points fall on one side of the origin q and r points fall on the other side of the origin q. If  $r \leq u$ , then  $q(Q, x) = 1 + x + x^2 + \dots + x^{r-1}$ 

*Proof.* By Corollary 1.6.7, Q is a  $\sigma$ -fold pyramid over the polytope  $\hat{Q}$  whose 1dimensional Gale diagram has u points on one side of the origin q and r points on the other side of the origin q. Since the origin q falls in affinely general position in the Gale diagram of  $\hat{Q}$ , then  $\hat{Q}$  is a simplicial  $(d-\sigma)$ -polytope. Since  $u \geq r$ , the *q*-polynomial is  $q(\hat{Q}, x) = 1 + x + x^2 + \dots + x^{r-1}$  by Lee's result in [18]. 

Therefore, the result follows from Theorem 1.3.7.

Using these two results, we may determine the q-vector of any polytope whose Gale diagram has dimension 0 or 1. Now we turn out attention to polytopes with 2dimensional Gale diagrams. Notice that polytopes with 2-dimensional Gale diagrams are the convex hulls of d + 3 points.

#### Gale Diagrams of Dimension 2

When the d + 3 points of V and the origin q all fall in affinely general position with respect to one another, then Q is a simplicial d-polytope. In this case, we determine g(Q) using Lee's result [18].

For any polytope Q whose origin q coincides with  $\sigma$  point(s) (with  $\sigma \geq 0$ ) in the Gale diagram V, the g-vector of Q is the same as the g-vector of the polytope  $\hat{Q}$  whose Gale diagram consists of the points  $\hat{V} = \{v \in V | v \neq q\}$  by Theorem 2.1.10 and Theorem 2.2.1. If all the points in  $\hat{V} \cup \{q\}$  are in affinely general position with respect to each other, then the d-polytope Q is a  $\sigma$ -fold pyramid over the simplicial  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope  $\hat{Q}$ . In this case, we determine  $g(\hat{Q})$  using Lee's results [18] and, subsequently, know g(Q).

In all other cases, the d + 4 points of  $V \cup \{q\}$  are not in affinely general position with respect to each another. Suppose that  $Y_1, Y_2, \ldots, Y_{\alpha}$  are the only splitters that "capture" q. Then there exists a point p in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup \{q\}$  so that  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitter except  $Y_1, Y_2, \ldots, Y_{\alpha}$ . To determine the total change in the g-vector, we sum over the change for each splitter using Corollary 2.1.5 and Theorem 2.2.9.

Using these results, we may determine the g-vector of any polytope whose Gale diagram is 2-dimensional. Now we will analyze splitters in 2-dimensional Gale diagrams further.

For the remainder of this section, we will show how to compute the g-vector from 2-dimensional Gale diagrams in which there exists a line H that satisfies the following conditions.

- The line H contains at least 2 points from V and the origin q;
- The set  $Y = V \cap H$  affinely spans H;
- Any minimal affinely dependent subset of V of at most 3 points lies in H;
- Every subset of 2 points in  $Y \cup \{q\}$  is affinely independent.

Without loss of generality, say u points  $Y_1 = \{y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_u\}$  of Y fall on one side of q and the remaining r points  $Y_2 = \{z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_r\}$  of Y fall on the other side of qwith  $u \ge r \ge 1$ . Note that all the points in  $V \setminus Y$  are in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup \{q\}$ . Then q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of nonempty subsets of Y, denote them  $Y_\beta$ . In this case, each  $Y_\beta$  is the union of any nonempty subset  $Y'_1$  of  $Y_1$  with any nonempty subset  $Y'_2$  of  $Y_2$ .

Recall that the nonempty subsets  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y are splitters. In particular,  $Y'_1 \cup Y'_2$  is a splitter for every nonempty subset  $Y'_1$  of  $Y_1$  and every nonempty subset  $Y'_2$  of  $Y_2$ .

Then there exists a point p in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup \{q\}$ so that  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitters except those  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y. There also exists a p' in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup q$  that satisfies the following conditions.

• The point p' is in the affine hull of  $\{p, q\}$ ;

- The line segment  $\overline{pp'}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitters except the same subsets  $Y_{\beta}$  of Y;
- The point p' is in the open halfplane not containing p.



Figure 2.12: Here is a line in a 2-dimensional Gale Diagram with points in  $V \cup \{p\} \cup \{p'\} \cup \{q\}$ .

Let F be the points of V that are in the open halfplane of H containing p, and let G be points of V that are in the opposite open halfplane of H containing p'. See Figure 2.12. Then  $V = F \cup G \cup Y = F \cup G \cup Y_1 \cup Y_2$ . Note that placing the origin at p and p' corresponds to simplicial polytopes P and P', respectively, and placing the origin at q corresponds to a nonsimplicial polytope Q.

Since p and p' fall in affinely general position with respect to V, we know how to compute g(P) and g(P') [18]. How does the g-vector change when crossing a splitter with at least 2 points? How do we compute  $g_k(Q)$  when q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of that splitter? In both of these cases, we show that various  $g_k$ 's will change simultaneously and, thus, intuitively, there are multiple k-splitters winding around the point q.

#### Crossing a Splitter With Multiple Points on Each End

We will determine the change in the g-vector when the origin moves from p to p'. In other words, we show how the g-vector changes when the origin crosses the relative interior of the convex hull of a single splitter Y with  $|Y_1| = u$  points on one end and  $|Y_2| = r$  points on the other end.

**Theorem 2.3.3** (Lee-N). When the origin in a 2-dimensional Gale diagram moves from p to p' crossing a single splitter Y from F to G with u points on one end and r points on the other end, then for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$  the change in the k<sup>th</sup> component of the toric g-vector is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x^{r-1} + x^{r-2} + \dots + x^2 + x + 1)(x^{u-1} + x^{u-2} + \dots + x^2 + x + 1)(x^{|F|} - x^{|G|}).$$

*Proof.* By Theorem 2.2.6, for  $0 \leq k \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x^{|F|} - x^{|G|})h(\partial \widehat{Q}, x).$$

The sets  $Y_{\beta}$  which capture q are of the form  $Y'_1 \cup Y'_2$  for every nonempty subset  $Y'_1$  and  $Y'_2$  of  $Y_1$  and  $Y_2$ , respectively. Since all the faces of  $\partial \widehat{Q}$  are of the form  $(Y_1 \setminus Y'_1) \cup (Y_2 \setminus Y'_2)$  for every nonempty subset  $Y'_1$  of  $Y_1$  and every nonempty subset  $Y'_2$  of  $Y_2$ , then the  $\partial \widehat{Q}$  is actually the simplicial join  $\partial 2^{Y_1} * \partial 2^{Y_2}$ . Therefore,  $h(\partial \widehat{Q}, x) = h(\partial \overline{Y_1}, x) \cdot h(\partial \overline{Y_2}, x)$  by Lemma 1.3.15.

Then the change in the toric g-vector is encoded by

$$\frac{x^r - 1}{x - 1} \cdot \frac{x^u - 1}{x - 1} (x^{|F|} - x^{|G|})$$

and the result follows.

Then the following corollary is an immediate consequence.

**Corollary 2.3.4** (Lee-N). When the same number of points are on both sides of the single splitter, i.e., |F| = |G|, then there is no change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric g-vector for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ .

When there is exactly one point on each end of the splitter, then we know what change occurs by Theorem 2.1.1.

**Corollary 2.3.5** (Lee-N). When r = u = 1, then the change in the toric g-vector is the same as the change in the toric g-vector when crossing a single  $\ell$ -splitter, where  $\ell = min\{|F|, |G|\}$  (Theorem 2.1.1).

*Proof.* In the case that r = u = 1, our theorem states that the change in the *g*-polynomial is the restriction of the following product to terms of degree  $\leq \left|\frac{d}{2}\right|$ :

(1)(1) 
$$\left(x^{|F|} - x^{|G|}\right) = x^{|F|} - x^{|G|}.$$

When we also have |F| < |G|, then  $g_{|F|}(P') = g_{|F|}(P) + 1$ . So you increase by one when moving to the side with more points. When we also have |F| > |G|, then  $g_{|G|}(P') = g_{|F|}(P) - 1$ . So you decrease by one when moving to the side with fewer points. Thus, we get the change that we were expecting, and are generalizing, when crossing a single  $\ell$ -splitter, where  $\ell = \min\{|F|, |G|\}$ .

Note that even when the points in  $Y_1(Y_2)$  coincide, then these results would still hold. Whether the u(r) points are distinct or coincide, the sets  $Y_\beta$  of Y do not change. Thus, the faces of P and P' are the same.

**Example 2.3.6.** Let e = 2. See Figure 2.13. Suppose  $|Y_2| = 6$ , |F| = 3,  $|Y_1| = 4$ , and |G| = 5. Then there are 18 points in V, d = 18 - 2 - 1 = 15, and  $\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = 7$ . By



Figure 2.13: We will determine the change in the g-vector when crossing a line.



Figure 2.14: Here is the 1-dimensional Gale diagram of Y.

Theorem 2.3.3, for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = 7$ , the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric *g*-vector is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x^{5} + x^{4} + x^{3} + x^{2} + x + 1)(x^{3} + x^{2} + x + 1)(x^{3} - x^{5})$$
  
=  $(x^{8} + 2x^{7} + 3x^{6} + 4x^{5} + 4x^{4} + 4x^{3} + 3x^{2} + 2x + 1)(x^{3} - x^{5})$   
=  $(1 + 2x + 3x^{2} + 4x^{3} + 4x^{4} + 4x^{5} + 3x^{6} + 2x^{7} + x^{8})(x^{3} - x^{5})$ 

After distributing, we have

So the change in the toric g-vector is (0, 0, 0, 1, 2, 2, 2, 1).

Now let e = 1. See Figure 2.14. Once more, |Z| = 6, and |Y| = 4. So there are 10 points in V, d = 10 - 1 - 1 = 8, and  $\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = 4$ .

Then the g-vector corresponding to having the origin o is (1, 1, 1, 1, 0). We may compute the g-vector by moving in along the splitter to the origin from either the left or the right. If we move in from the left, then we pass one positive 0-splitter, 1-splitter, 2-splitter, and 3-splitter. If we move in from the right, then we pass one positive 0-splitter, 1-splitter, 2-splitter, 3-splitter, and 4-splitter and one negative 4splitter. In either case, the h-vector is (1, 2, 3, 4, 4, 4, 3, 2, 1). Notice that multiplying this h-polynomial by  $x^{|F|} - x^{|G|}$  matches the change in the g-vector found above.

#### Landing on a Splitter With Multiple Points on Each End

We now know how to compute the change in the toric g-vector when the origin moves from p to p' across the relative interior of the convex hull of a single splitter which has multiple points on either end in a 2-dimensional Gale diagram. Now we will determine the g-vector of q when q falls on the relative interior of the convex hull of a single splitter with multiple points on either end in a 2-dimensional Gale diagram.

Let  $\ell = \min\{|F|, |G|\}$ . Recall that when considering Y as a set of points in dimension 1 within the ambient space H, q corresponds to a simplicial polytope  $\hat{Q}$  of dimension |Y| - 1 - 1 = u + r - 2. Then the following result holds.

**Theorem 2.3.7** (Lee-N). When the origin in a 2-dimensional Gale diagram moves from p to q in the relative interior of the convex hull of a single splitter Y with u points on one end and r points on the other end, then for  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$  the change in the k<sup>th</sup> component of the toric g-vector is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x^{r-1} + x^{r-2} + \dots + x^2 + x + 1)(x^{u-1} + x^{u-2} + \dots + x^2 + x + 1)(x^{|F|} - x^{\ell}).$$

*Proof.* By Theorem 2.2.9, for  $0 \leq k \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , the change in the  $k^{th}$  component of the toric *g*-vector is given by the coefficient of  $x^k$  in the product

$$(x^{|F|} - x^{\ell})h(\partial \widehat{Q}, x).$$

Then the result follows immediately from the argument used in the proof of Theorem 2.3.3.



Figure 2.15: We will determine the change in the g-vector when landing on a line.

We will revisit the example introduced in the previous subsection.

**Example 2.3.6** continued. See Figure 2.15. Consider this 2-dimensional Gale diagram with 18 points, where  $|Y_1| = 4$  and  $|Y_2| = 6$ . Let the origin p correspond to the simplicial 15-polytope P, and let the origin q correspond to the nonsimplicial 15-polytope Q. Since  $\ell = |F| < |G|$ , then g(Q) = g(P) by Theorem 2.3.7.

Let the origin p' correspond to the simplicial polytope P'. If the points in the Gale diagram were relabeled so that the points in F were in the same plane as p', then

$$g(Q) = g(P') - (x^5 - x^3)(x^3 + x^2 + x + 1)(x^5 + x^4 + x^3 + x^2 + x + 1)$$

by Theorem 2.3.7. The product is

So the change in the toric g-vector is (0, 0, 0, -1, -2, -2, -2, -1). Notice that the change in the g-vector when moving the origin from p' to p is the negative of the change in the g-vector when moving the origin from p to p' (as computed at the end of the previous subsection).

Copyright<sup>©</sup> Sarah A. Nelson, 2016.

#### **Chapter 3 Triangulations and Gale Transforms**

Part of McMullen and Walkup's GLBC states that for a simplicial *d*-polytope P, if  $g_k(P) \ge 0$  for some  $1 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , then P has a triangulation  $\mathcal{T}$  in which there is no interior face of dimension less than d - k + 1 [23]. Murai and Nevo proved that this statement holds for all simplicial polytopes [25].

#### **3.1** Extension to Non-Pyramids

Recall that a polytope with few vertices has at most d + 3 vertices. Lee and Welzl showed that this statement holds for polytopes with few vertices, *i.e.*, the number of vertices is at most d + 3, and the triangulation is regular in this case [18, 29]. In his proof, Lee showed how to interpret the  $g_k$  as winding numbers in the Gale transform. We will extend the triangulation result in the Gale transform setting to general nonpyramidal polytopes with few vertices. Note that polytopes with few vertices have Gale transforms of dimension at most 2.

Suppose a *d*-polytope Q has a Gale transform in which  $\sigma$  points coincide with the origin q for  $\sigma > 0$ . Then by Corollary 1.6.7, Q is a  $\sigma$ -fold pyramid over the  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope  $\hat{Q}$ . If there is a triangulation  $\mathcal{T}$  of  $\hat{Q}$  in which there is no interior face of dimension less than  $d - \sigma - k + 1$ , then  $\mathcal{T}$  of  $\hat{Q}$  extends to a triangulation of Qwhere no interior face has dimension less than d - k + 1. Therefore, we will restrict our attention to polytopes Q which are not pyramids.

**Theorem 3.1.1** (Lee-N). Consider any d-polytope Q which is not a pyramid and has few vertices. If  $g_k(Q) = 0$  for some k where  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ , then there exists a regular triangulation of Q for which there is no interior face of dimension less than d - k + 1.

*Proof.* Let Q be any d-polytope Q that is not a pyramid and has few vertices whose corresponding Gale transform is  $V = \{v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n\}$  with origin q. Further, suppose that  $g_k(Q) = 0$  for some k where  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ .



Figure 3.1: Here is a general 1-dimensional Gale transform.

Any *d*-polytope P with 0-dimensional Gale transform has all its points coincide with q and is a *d*-simplex and, thus, P is a pyramid.

For any d-polytope Q with a 1-dimensional Gale transform, the d + 2 points are collinear in the Gale transform. Figure 3.1 depicts an arbitrary Gale transform of

dimension 1. Since no points coincide with q (*i.e.*,  $\sigma = 0$ ), then u points fall on one side of q and the remaining r points fall on the other side of q where u + r = d + 2. Without loss of generality,  $u \ge r \ge 1$ . Since q falls in affinely general position in the Gale transform of Q, then Q is a simplicial d-polytope. Then the result follows from Lee and Welzl [18, 29].

Therefore, previous work takes care of all *d*-dimensional polytopes that are not pyramids and have at most d + 2 points. Now we will prove that the above result holds for all *d*-dimensional polytopes that are not pyramids and have d + 3 vertices. In this case, *Q*'s corresponding Gale transform is 2-dimensional.



Figure 3.2: Three splitters capture q in this 2-dimensional Gale transform.



Figure 3.3: Positively scale the points of the Gale transform.


Figure 3.4: Shift the splitters capturing q in the Gale transform towards their larger sides.



Figure 3.5: Find a ray in the Gale transform from origin q that does not cross any 3-splitters.

If the origin q falls in affinely general position with respect to the points V in the Gale transform, then its corresponding polytope Q is simplicial. Then the result follows from Lee and Welzl again [18, 29].

If q does not fall in affinely general position with respect to V, then the polytope Q is nonsimplicial. So q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of at least one splitter, as in Figure 3.2. Positively scale all the points in V independently with respect to q so that they fall on the boundary of a circle. Then positively scale any points in V that coincide on the boundary of the circle independently with respect

to q by arbitrarily small positive amounts so that no points in the Gale transform coincide. See Figure 3.3. This positively scaled Gale transform also corresponds to the nonsimplicial polytope Q, since the sets of points capturing q and not capturing q are the same.

The line through each splitter divides the remaining points (which are not on that splitter) into two sets. Denote the side of the line with fewer points as the negative side, and denote the side of the line with more points as the positive side. Whenever the number of points on both sides is equivalent, arbitrarily choose one side of the line as the positive side and the other side as the negative side. Translate the line and all the points on it in an arbitrarily small parallel motion towards its positive side. See Figure 3.4. Once all the splitters are shifted by arbitrarily small amounts, then q falls in affinely general position with respect to all points.

Notice that the splitters no longer "capture" q. So the sets of points which do and do not capture q have now changed. Further, this shifted Gale transform corresponds to a simplicial polytope P of dimension d with d + 3 vertices. Since q falls on the negative side of each splitter, then  $g_k(P) = g_k(Q)$  for all k by Corollary 2.1.5 and Theorem 2.2.9. So P is a simplicial d-polytope and  $g_k(P) = 0$ .

Using Lee's Theorem 1.8.5, we find a ray r in general position from the origin q that does not cross any k-splitters. Scaling the Gale transform by arbitrarily small amounts and shifting guarantees that the ray crosses each splitter individually. Then we shift each splitter back towards its negative side so that it captures q once more. See Figure 3.5. Since  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$  and the splitter is moving from its negative side, this shift does not change what k-splitters r is crossing. So r still does not cross k-splitters in the Gale transform of Q. Therefore, there exists a regular triangulation of Q where no interior face has dimension less than d - k + 1.



Figure 3.6: The ray in this Gale transform determines the regular triangulation of the polytope.

Consider the following example.

**Example 3.1.2.** Consider the 2-dimensional Gale transform with origin q and 14 points as shown in Figure 3.2. Let q correspond to the nonsimplicial 11-polytope Q. One may show that  $g_3(Q) = 0$ . As the figures throughout the proof illustrate, the chosen ray does not cross any 3-splitters. In fact, as it moves towards infinity, this ray crosses the 2-splitter  $\{v_1, v_{12}\}$ , the 1-splitter  $\{v_1, v_{13}\}$ , the 2-splitter  $\{v_2, v_{14}\}$ , the 1-splitter  $\{v_3, v_{14}\}$ , and the 0-splitter  $\{v_1, v_{14}\}$ . See Figure 3.6. Thus, this ray determines a triangulation of Q for which the maximum simplices are  $\overline{V \setminus \{v_1, v_{12}\}}$ ,  $\overline{V \setminus \{v_1, v_{13}\}}$ ,  $\overline{V \setminus \{v_2, v_{14}\}}$ ,  $\overline{V \setminus \{v_2, v_{14}\}}$ , and  $\overline{V \setminus \{v_1, v_{14}\}}$ 

#### 3.2 Counter Example: Pyramid

Before our theorem, we discussed a *d*-polytope Q which is a  $\sigma$ -fold pyramid over the  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope  $\hat{Q}$ . Since the dimension of  $\hat{Q}$  is  $(d - \sigma)$ , we would have to restrict k so that  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d-\sigma}{2} \rfloor$  in order for the above result to still hold. Otherwise, the required triangulation might not exist. Consider the following example.

**Example 3.2.1.** Suppose Q is a pyramid over P, where P is the regular octahedron. Note that Q is a 4-dimensional polytope and P is a 3-dimensional polytope. From Example 1.3.11, recall that h(P) = (1,3,3,1) and g(P) = (1,2). Then by Theorem 1.3.7, h(Q) = (1,3,3,3,1). So g(Q) = (1,2,0). In particular,  $g_2(Q) = 0$  where  $2 \leq \lfloor \frac{\dim(Q)}{2} \rfloor$ . However, Q does not have any triangulation  $\mathcal{T}$  for which there is no interior face of dimension less than d-k+1 = 4-2+1 = 3. If  $\mathcal{T}$  was a triangulation of Q, the  $\mathcal{T}$  would induce a triangulation  $\mathcal{T}'$  of the base P where there is no interior face of dimension less than 2. Since every triangulation of the regular octahedron must contain an interior edge, then such a  $\mathcal{T}$  can not exist.

Copyright<sup>©</sup> Sarah A. Nelson, 2016.

#### Chapter 4 The *CD*-index and Gale diagrams

Recall that a d-polytope with few vertices has at most d+3 vertices. In this chapter, we want to determine the CD-index of a polytope from the Gale diagram of its dual polytope, which has few vertices. Polytopes with few vertices have Gale diagrams of dimension at most 2.

#### 4.1Dimension 0 and 1

Recall that  $C^d$  corresponds to taking a d-fold pyramid over a point. Further,  $(CP)^* =$  $CP^*$ . Thus, for any d-dimensional polytope P with a 0-dimensional Gale diagram,  $\psi(P^*) = C^d.$ 

Now consider any d-polytope Q with a 1-dimensional Gale diagram. Without loss of generality, say u points fall on one side of the origin q,  $\sigma$  points coincide with the origin q, and the remaining r points fall on the other side of the origin q where  $u + \sigma + r = d + 2, u \geq r \geq 1$ , and  $\sigma \geq 0$ . Figure 3.1 depicts this arbitrary Gale diagram of dimension 1.

**Theorem 4.1.1** (Lee-N). Let Q be any d-dimensional polytope with a 1-dimensional Gale diagram. Suppose  $\sigma$  points coincide with q where  $0 < \sigma < d+2$ . If u points fall on one side of q and the remaining r points fall on the other side of q, for  $u \ge r \ge 1$ , then

$$\psi(Q^*) = \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} C^{\sigma} D^i C^{d-\sigma-2i}.$$

*Proof.* By Corollary 1.6.7, Q is a  $\sigma$ -fold pyramid over the polytope  $\hat{Q}$  whose 1dimensional Gale diagram has u points on one side of q and r points on the other side of q. Since q falls in affinely general position with respect to the points in the Gale diagram of  $\hat{Q}$ , then  $\hat{Q}$  is a simplicial  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope. So the CD-index of the  $\left| \frac{d-\sigma}{2} \right|$ 

polytope dual to 
$$\hat{Q}$$
 is  $\psi(\hat{Q}^*) = \sum_{i=0}^{r} g_i D^i C^{d-\sigma-2i}$  by Theorem 1.4.11. Since  $u \geq r$ ,

then  $g_i = 1$  for  $0 \le i \le r - 1$  and 0 otherwise. So  $\psi(\hat{Q}^*) = \sum_{i=0} D^i C^{d-\sigma-2i}$ .

Therefore, the result follow from Theorem 1.4.12.

Using these two results, we may compute the CD-index of a polytope whose dual polytope has a Gale diagram of dimension 0 or 1. We will consider a few important cases that hold for *e*-dimensional Gale diagrams before turning our attention to polytopes whose dual polytopes have 2-dimensional Gale diagrams.

#### 4.2 General Dimension

Many different cases arise in *e*-dimensional Gale diagrams, as we saw in Chapter 2. Here we will discuss a few results that are straightforward in this general setting.

We will explain how to interpret the CD-index of a polytope from the *e*-dimensional Gale diagram of its dual polytope in the case that all the points in V are in affinely general position except for a subset which coincides with the origin.

#### Simplicial Polytopes

When the d + e + 1 points of V and the origin p all fall in affinely general position with respect to one another, then P is a simplicial d-polytope. So computing the CD-index of  $P^*$  is straightforward.

**Theorem 4.2.1** (cf. Fine 2010, Lee 2016). Let P be any d-dimensional simplicial polytope with an e-dimensional Gale diagram. Then

$$\psi(P^*) = \sum_{i=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor} g_i(P) D^i C^{d-2i}.$$

*Proof.* By Theorem 1.4.11, the *CD*-index of  $P^*$  is  $\sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} g_i(P) D^i C^{d-2i}$ .

Then we determine g(P) using Lee's results [18].

## Multipyramids over Polytopes

Now consider any polytope Q whose origin q coincides with  $\sigma$  point(s) in the Gale diagram V for  $0 \leq \sigma \leq d + e + 1$ . Let  $\hat{V} = \{v \in V | v \neq q\}$  be the Gale diagram of the  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope  $\hat{Q}$ . Note that  $\hat{Q} = Q$  and  $\hat{V} = V$  when  $\sigma = 0$ . Recall the following relationship between  $\psi(Q^*)$  and  $\psi(\hat{Q}^*)$ .

**Theorem 1.4.12** Let Q be any d-dimensional polytope with an e-dimensional Gale diagram V. Suppose  $\sigma$  points coincide with the origin q where  $0 \leq \sigma \leq d + e + 1$ . If  $\hat{V} = \{v \in V | v \neq q\}$  is the Gale diagram of the  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope  $\hat{Q}$ , then

$$\psi(Q^*) = C^{\sigma}\psi(\hat{Q}^*).$$

*Proof.* The *d*-polytope Q is a  $\sigma$ -fold pyramid over the  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope  $\hat{Q}$  by Corollary 1.6.7. Since  $C^{\sigma}\hat{Q}$  corresponds to taking a  $\sigma$ -fold pyramid over the  $(d-\sigma)$ -polytope  $\hat{Q}$  and  $(C\hat{Q})^* = C\hat{Q}^*$ , then the result follows.

This result allows us to focus our attention on the base  $\hat{Q}$  of the pyramid Q. If all the points in  $\hat{V} \cup \{q\}$  are in affinely general position with respect to each other, then computing the CD-index of  $Q^*$  is straightforward. **Corollary 4.2.2** (Lee-N). Let Q be any d-dimensional polytope with an e-dimensional Gale diagram. Suppose  $\sigma$  points coincide with the origin q where  $0 \leq \sigma \leq d + e + 1$ , and  $\hat{V} \cup \{q\}$  are in affinely general position with respect to each other. Then

$$\psi(Q^*) = \sum_{i=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{d-\sigma}{2} \right\rfloor} g(\hat{Q}) C^{\sigma} D^i C^{d-\sigma-2i},$$

where  $\hat{Q}$  is the  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope corresponding to the e-dimensional Gale diagram  $\hat{V}$  with origin q.

*Proof.* By Theorem 1.4.12,  $\psi(Q^*) = C^{\sigma} \psi(\hat{Q}^*)$ . So we need to understand  $\psi(\hat{Q}^*)$ .

Since all the points in  $\hat{V} \cup \{q\}$  are in affinely general position with respect to each other, then  $\hat{Q}$  is a simplicial  $(d - \sigma)$ -polytope. Therefore,  $g(\hat{Q}) = \psi(\hat{Q}^*) = \lfloor \frac{d-\sigma}{2} \rfloor$  $\sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d-\sigma}{2} \rfloor} g_i(\hat{Q}) D^i C^{d-\sigma-2i}$  by Theorem 4.2.1. Recall that the *g*-vector of Q is the same as

the *g*-vector of the polytope  $\hat{Q}$  whose Gale diagram consists of the points  $\hat{V} = \{v \in V | v \neq q\}$  by Theorem 2.1.10 and Theorem 2.2.1. Then then result follows.

Since  $\hat{Q}$  is simplicial, then we use Lee's result to determine  $g(\hat{Q})$  [18].

In all other cases, the points of  $\hat{V} \cup \{q\}$  are not in affinely general position with respect to each another. For the rest of this chapter, we are going to focus on the base  $\hat{Q}$  of the pyramid Q in the case that  $\hat{Q}$  has a 2-dimensional Gale diagram. (Since  $\hat{Q}$  is the base of the pyramid, no points of  $\hat{V}$  coincide with q.)

Recall Theorem 1.5.6, which states that the *CD*-index of  $Q^*$  is  $\psi(Q^*) = \sum_{v} \psi_v(Q_v^*)$ ,

where  $\psi_v(Q_v^*) = \frac{1}{2} \Big( (2C - I)\psi(\mathbf{S}_v^*) + (4D - I^2)\psi(\mathbf{T}_v^*) \Big)$ . So we first show how to determine **S** and **T** for each (co)facet we shell on in an *e*-dimensional Gale diagram.

## Shelling via Gale diagrams

Consider a set  $\overline{V} = \{\overline{v_1}, \overline{v_2}, \dots, \overline{v_n}\}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , where  $\overline{v_i} \in \mathbb{R}^d$  for  $1 \leq i \leq d$ . Let Q be the polytope that is the convex hull of this point set, and let  $V \subset \mathbb{R}^e$  be a Gale diagram for this point set.

Lift the points of V by appending an  $(e+1)^{\text{st}}$  coordinate to each point so that the new points are in affinely general position with respect to any nonvertical hyperplane. (Nonvertical means that the last coordinate of the normal vector is nonzero.) Call this new set  $\hat{V} \subset \mathbb{R}^{e+1}$ .

Consider the line  $L = (q, t), -\infty < t < \infty$ , which we visualize as a vertical line.

A cofacet in V, which corresponds to a facet in Q ((d-1)-dimensional face), is a minimal set S such that S "captures" q. Therefore, it will be a k-simplex for some  $0 \le k \le e$ . The set  $\hat{S}$  will also be a k-simplex, and will have exactly one point on L.

A cosubfacet in V, which corresponds to a subfacet in Q ((d-2)-dimensional face) is a minimal affinely dependent set S such that S captures q. Therefore, S will be a k-dimensional set of k + 2 points for some  $0 \le k \le e$ . The set  $\hat{S}$  will

be a (k + 1)-simplex, and will intersect L in a line segment through some points in rel int  $(\operatorname{conv}(\hat{S}))$ . Note that the "lower" endpoint of this segment will lie in rel int  $(\operatorname{conv}(S_1))$  for some unique face of  $\hat{S}$ , and likewise the "upper" endpoint of this segment will lie in rel int  $(\operatorname{conv}(S_2))$  for some unique face of  $\hat{S}$ . Then  $S_1$  and  $S_2$ will be the unique pair of cofacets containing the cosubfacet S.

In general, any coface S in V that is not a cofacet will lift to a subset  $\hat{S}$  of  $\hat{V}$  that will intersect L in a line segment through some points in rel int  $(\operatorname{conv}(\hat{S}))$ .

In particular, a coface in V which corresponds to a (d-3)-face in Q is an affinely dependent k-dimensional set S of k + 3 points such that S captures q for some  $0 \le k \le e$ . The set  $\hat{S}$  will be a (k + 1)-dimensional set of k + 3 points (hence minimally affinely dependent), and will also intersect L in a line segment through points in rel int (conv  $(\hat{S})$ ).

**Lemma 4.2.3** (Lee-N). Order the cofacets  $\mathbf{S}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{S}_m$  of V in the order in which the  $\hat{S}_i$  are intersected by L as t goes from  $-\infty$  to  $\infty$ . This ordering corresponds to a shelling order of the facets  $S'_1, \ldots, S'_m$  of Q, where  $S'_i = \overline{V \setminus S_i}$  for all i.

*Proof.* Claim: Fix  $2 \leq i \leq m$ . For every proper face F' that is in both  $S'_i$  and  $S'_j$  for some  $j, 1 \leq j < i$ , there exists  $k, 1 \leq k < i$ , such that  $S'_i \cap S'_k$  is a subfacet containing F'. That is to say, as a polyhedral complex,  $S'_i \cap (S'_1 \cup \cdots \cup S'_{i-1})$  is generated by a collection of subfacets of Q in  $S'_i$ .

Proof. In terms of V, let F,  $\mathbf{S_i}$ , and  $\mathbf{S_j}$  be the corresponding cofaces, where  $F \supset \mathbf{S_i}$  and  $F \supset \mathbf{S_j}$ . Then  $p_i = L \cap \hat{\mathbf{S_i}}$  is higher than  $p_j = L \cap \hat{\mathbf{S_j}}$ . Note that the entire open line segment  $(p_j, p_i)$  from  $p_j$  to  $p_i$  lies in rel int  $(\operatorname{conv}(\hat{\mathbf{S_i}} \cup \hat{\mathbf{S_j}})) \subseteq \operatorname{conv}(\hat{F})$ . Choose a point p on  $(p_j, p_i)$  sufficiently close to  $p_i$  such that there is a simplex  $\hat{S}$ ,  $\hat{\mathbf{S_i}} \subset \hat{S} \subseteq (\hat{\mathbf{S_i}} \cup \hat{\mathbf{S_j}})$  that contains p in its relative interior. Consider the lower point q' of the intersection of L with  $\operatorname{conv}(\hat{S})$ . There is a unique face  $\hat{T}$  of  $\hat{S}$  such that  $q' \in \operatorname{rel}$  int  $(\operatorname{conv}(\hat{T}))$ . This set  $\hat{T}$  will correspond to the desired cofacet  $\mathbf{S_k}$ .

From the above we can identify the collection  $S_1, \ldots, S_\ell$  of cosubfacets such that as a polyhedral complex,  $S'_i \cap (S'_1 \cup \cdots \cup S'_{i-1})$  is generated by  $S'_1, \ldots, S'_\ell$ . These will be all the cosubfacets S for which the upper vertex of the line segment  $L \cap \hat{S}$  lies in conv $\hat{\mathbf{S}}_i$ .

Claim: This collection of subfacets is the beginning of a shelling of the boundary of  $S'_i$ .

We can prove this by induction on dimension. Recall that a Gale diagram for  $S'_i$  can be obtained from that of Q by projecting all points of  $V \setminus \mathbf{S_i}$  orthogonally onto the space W perpendicular to span  $\mathbf{S_i}$ . Now extend W to  $\hat{W} = \text{span}(W \cup L)$ . Project the points of  $\hat{V}$  parallel to aff  $\hat{S}_i$  onto  $\hat{W}$ . The result will be a lifting of the Gale diagram for  $S'_i$  in which  $S_1, \ldots, S_\ell$  are now cofacets, and come first in the ordering of all cofacets of  $S'_i$  via the line L. (The base cases of d = 0 or d = 1 are easily handled.)

For CD-index calculations we are going to need the Gale diagram of the boundary  $\mathbf{T}'_{\mathbf{i}}$  of  $S'_{\mathbf{1}} \cup \cdots \cup S'_{\ell}$ .

**Lemma 4.2.4** (Lee-N). If we place the origin at  $L \cap \hat{\mathbf{S}}_i$  and project within  $\hat{V}$  as above, then this projection yields a Gale diagram for  $\mathbf{T}_i$ .

*Proof.* The Gale diagram of the boundary  $T'_i$  of  $S'_1 \cup \cdots \cup S'_\ell$  is generated by all (d-3)-faces of  $S'_i$  that lie in at least one (d-2)-face of  $S'_i$  in  $\{S'_1 \cup \cdots \cup S'_\ell\}$  and in at least one (d-2)-face of  $S'_i$  not in  $\{S'_1 \cup \cdots \cup S'_\ell\}$ . Thus we need minimal affinely dependent sets  $\hat{R}$  in  $\hat{V}$  that satisfy the following conditions simultaneously.

- 1.  $\hat{T}$  contains a lifted cosubfacet containing  $\hat{S}_i$  but lie below  $\hat{S}_i$ ;
- 2.  $\hat{T}$  contains a lifted cosubfacet containing  $\hat{S}_i$  but lie above  $\hat{S}_i$ .

If we place the origin at  $L \cap \hat{S}_i$  and project within  $\hat{V}$  as above, such  $\hat{T}$  projects to a simplex containing the origin in its relative interior. Thus this projection yields a Gale diagram for  $\mathbf{T}_i$ .

## 4.3 Dimension 2

As we saw in Chapter 2, many cases arise in 2-dimensional Gale diagrams. The results from Section 4.2 allow us to interpret the CD-index from 2-dimensional Gale diagrams whose points are in affinely general position except for a subset which coincides with the origin.

In all other cases, the points of  $\hat{V} \cup \{q\}$  are not in affinely general position with respect to each another. For the rest of this chapter, we are going to focus on the base  $\hat{Q}$  of the pyramid Q. So we are going to focus on determining the CD-index of a polytope  $Q^*$  from the Gale diagram of its dual Q in the case that Q has a 2-dimensional Gale diagram in which no points coincide with the origin q.

## An *l*-Splitter

Let V be the a collection of n points in affinely general position in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Consider a point q that is in affinely general position with respect to V except that q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of some l-splitter X. Define  $H = \operatorname{aff}(X)$ . Let F be the points of V that are in one open halfplane of H, and let G be points of V that are in the opposite open halfplane of H. Then  $V = F \cup G \cup X$ . Say that  $X = \{y_1, z_1\}$ and  $|F| = \ell \leq |G| = m$ , relabeling the points of V if necessary. Then there exists a point p in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup \{q\}$  so that  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitter except X and p falls in the same halfplane as the points of F. See Figure 4.1. Note that placing the origin at p corresponds to a simplicial polyope P, and placing the origin at q corresponds to a nonsimplicial poytope Q. How does the CD-index of the dual polytope change when the origin in the Gale diagram moves from p to q onto the splitter with exactly 2 points?

**Definition 4.3.1** (Lee-N). Denote the change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin shifts from p to q in the relative interior of the convex hull of a line Y with at least 2 points as  $\chi(u, r, \ell, m)$  if the  $u + r + \ell + m$  points fall on a circle in such a way that there are u points and r points on either side of the splitter which "captures" q



Figure 4.1: Here is a 2-dimensional Gale diagram with an  $\ell$ -splitter.



Figure 4.2: We want to determine  $\chi(u, r, \ell, m)$  in this 2-dimensional Gale diagram.

and the points of F are on the left side of q and the points of G are on the right side of q. See Figure 4.2.

Here we will determine  $\chi(1, 1, \ell, m)$ , where  $\ell \leq m$ . Notice that we lose  $\ell$  (co)facets and gain 1 (co)facet. To determine which (co)facets are lost, lift the 2-dimensional Gale diagram so that  $y_1$  is higher than  $z_1$  and the  $\ell$  points in F and the m points in G are suitably low. Relabel the points of  $F v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_\ell$  in such a way that  $v_i$  is higher than  $v_{i+1}$  for  $0 \leq i \leq \ell - 2$ . See Figure 4.3. Then all the points  $\hat{V} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  are in affinely general position with respect to any nonvertical plane. So we are able to use our results from the last section to find each  $\mathbf{S}$  and  $\mathbf{T}$  as we shell on the (co)facets. We are also able to determine which (co)facets are shelled off by considering how many points are split above each of the  $\ell$  planes determined by the two endpoints



Figure 4.3: Lift the Gale diagram to find the (co)facets for shelling off facets lost.

and one point from F. We may calculate how many different ways i points are split above a plane as follows.

**Lemma 4.3.2** (Lee-N). There is one *i*-splitter, for  $0 \le i \le \ell - 1$ .

*Proof.* The number of points above the plane determined by  $y_1$ ,  $z_1$  and one point  $v_i$  from F is equivalent to the number of points in F above  $v_i$  for  $0 \le i \le \ell - 1$ . There are i points of F above  $v_i$  for  $0 \le i \le \ell - 1$ . So the result follows.

This result tells us there is one (co)facet of each type d-i for  $0 \le i \le \ell - 1$  being shelled off. Due to the symmetry of  $\Delta_i^d = \Delta_{d-i}^d$  as noted in Corollary 1.5.7, we may equivalently think of shelling off one (co)facet of each type *i* for  $0 \le i \le \ell - 1$ . So we may compute the total contribution of the (co)facets shelled off to the total change in the *CD*-index as we move onto the  $\ell$ -splitter as follows.

**Proposition 4.3.3** (Lee-N). The contribution from all the (co)facets shelled off to the change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin moves from p to q onto an  $\ell$ -splitter is

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} (D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i} - D^{i+1} C^{2\ell-1-2(i+1)}) - \frac{1}{2} D^{\frac{2\ell-2}{2}} C^{2\ell-1-2(i+1)} - \frac{1}{2} D^{\frac{2\ell-2}{2}} - D^{i+1} C^{2\ell-1-2(i+1)} - \frac{1}{2} D^{\frac{2\ell-2}{2}} - D^{i+1} C^{2\ell-1-2(i+1)} - D^{i+1} C^{2\ell-1-2$$

if  $\ell = m$  and

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} (D^i C^{(\ell+m-1)-2i} - D^{i+1} C^{(\ell+m-1)-2(i+1)})$$

if  $\ell < m$ .

Proof. Shelling simplicial d-polytopes gives the CD-index of their dual polytopes. So shelling off the (co)facets lost allows us to determine the CD-index contribution of the vertices of their duals, which are simple vertices. Therefore, we may use Lee's  $\Delta$ -formulas in [16]. When the simplicial (co)facet is d-dimensional, the contribution of the cofacets shelled off to the change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin moves from p to q in the relative interior of the convex of hull of the  $\ell$ -splitter X is given by

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor -1} B_i \cdot (D^i C^{d-2i} - D^{i+1} C^{d-2(i+1)}) -\frac{1}{2} 2B_i \cdot D^{\frac{d}{2}} -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor +1}^{\ell-1} B_i \cdot (D^{d-i} C^{d-2(d-i)} - D^{d+1-i} C^{d-2(d+1-i)}).$$

when 2|d, and

$$\begin{split} &-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{\left\lfloor\frac{d}{2}\right\rfloor-1}B_{i}\cdot\left(D^{i}C^{d-2i}-D^{i+1}C^{d-2(i+1)}\right)\\ &-\frac{1}{2}B_{i}\cdot D^{\frac{d-1}{2}}C\\ &-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=\left\lfloor\frac{d}{2}\right\rfloor+1}^{\ell-1}B_{i}\cdot\left(D^{d-i}C^{d-2(d-i)}-D^{d+1-i}C^{d-2(d+1-i)}\right) \end{split}$$

otherwise; where  $B_i$  is the number of *i*-splitters crossed in the lifting above.

Here the dimension is  $d = \ell + m - 1$ . If  $\ell = m$ , then  $d = 2\ell - 1$  and  $\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = \ell - 1$ . So d is not divisible by d and the change is

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} (D^i C^{(2\ell-1)-2i} - D^{i+1} C^{(2\ell-1)-2(i+1)}) - \frac{1}{2} D^{\frac{(2\ell-1)-1}{2}} C.$$

When  $\ell < m$ , then  $\ell \leq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ . So either  $\ell = 0$  and there are no cofacets lost; or  $\ell > 0$  and  $0 \leq \ell - 1 < \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ . In both cases, there are no terms for  $i \geq \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ .

There is exactly one (co)facet shelled on to the polytope. We determine  $\mathbf{S}$  as follows.

Lemma 4.3.4 (Lee-N). The CD-index of 
$$\psi(\mathbf{S}^*)$$
 is  $\psi(\mathbf{S}^*) = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}$ .

*Proof.* The (co)facet gained consists of  $y_1$  and  $z_1$ . To obtain the Gale diagram for this (co)facet, project the 2-dimensional Gale diagram V onto the line orthogonal to  $V \setminus \{y_1, z_1\}$  and then delete those two points [22]. So the Gale diagram  $\hat{V}$  for the (co)facet is 1-dimensional with  $\ell$  points on one side of q and m points on the other



Figure 4.4: Here is the Gale diagram for **S**.

side of q. See Figure 4.4. Since q is in affinely general position with respect to the points in  $\hat{V}$ , then **S** a simplicial polytope of dimension l + m - 2. Since  $\ell \leq m$ , then  $\psi(\mathbf{S}^*) = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2-2i}$  by Theorem 4.1.1.



Figure 4.5: Here is the Gale diagram for **T** of type  $(u, r, \ell, m)$ .

Now, we need to determine  $\mathbf{T}$  as follows. First, make note of the following definition.

**Definition 4.3.5** (Lee-N). We say **T** has type  $(u, r, \ell, m)$  if the  $u + r + \ell + m$  points fall on a circle in such a way that there are u points and r points on either side of the splitter which "captures" q and the points of F are on the lower side left of q and the points of G are on the lower side right of q. See Figure 4.5.

**Lemma 4.3.6** (Lee-N). The CD-index  $\psi(\mathbf{T}^*)$  is 0.

*Proof.* To obtain the Gale diagram for  $\mathbf{T}$ , lift the 2-dimensional Gale diagram once more so that  $y_1$  is higher than  $z_1$  and the  $\ell$  points in F and the m points in G are suitably low. Then the origin starts below the higher points  $y_1$  and  $z_1$  points and above the lower points in F and G points. As the origin moves up, it crosses exactly



Figure 4.6: Lift the Gale diagram with an  $\ell$ -splitter to determine a shelling order for the facets shelled on.



Figure 4.7: Project the lifting to obtain the Gale diagram of **T**.

one splitter, namely X. See Figure 4.6. Project in the direction of the splitter X onto the plane perpendicular to the unlifted X and delete the two points. Then we have a 2-dimensional Gale diagram for  $\mathbf{T}$  with no points on either side of the diagonal and the points of F on the low left side and the points of G on the low right side. See Figure 4.7. Therefore, this particular  $\mathbf{T}$  is of type  $(0, 0, \ell, m)$ . Since no subsets "capture" q, then the result follows.

Let us determine  $\chi(1, 1, 1, 1)$ .

**Example 4.3.7.** When determining  $\chi(1, 1, 1, 1)$ , we shell off one (co)facet and shell on one (co)facet. Notice that n = 4 and d = 1. So the facet shelled off has a *CD*index of *C*. Projecting orthogonally shows that the *CD*-index of  $\mathbf{S}^*$  is 1. Lifting and then projecting gives that the *CD*-index of  $\mathbf{T}^*$  is 0. Thus,

$$\begin{split} \chi(1,1,1,1) &= -\frac{1}{2}C + \frac{1}{2}\Big((2C-I)\cdot 1 + (4D-I^2)\cdot 0\Big) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}C + C - \frac{1}{2}I \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}C + C - \frac{1}{2}C \\ &= -C + C \\ &= -D^0C^1 + D^0C^1D^0C^0 \\ &= -D^0C^{1-0} + D^0C^{2-1}D^0C^{2-2}. \end{split}$$

So there is no change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin moves from p to q onto the 1-splitter.

Combining these results, we determine  $\chi(1, 1, \ell, m)$  as follows.

**Theorem 4.3.8** (Lee-N). The change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin moves from p to q onto X in the Gale diagram, as shown in Figure 4.1 is

$$\chi(1,1,\ell,m) = -\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-1-2i} + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{\ell+m-2-2i}.$$

*Proof.* The previous example shows the computation holds when  $\ell = m = 1$ .

There are two cases that arise here. First, suppose that  $\ell = m$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \psi(Q^*) &= \psi(P^*) \\ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} (D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i} - D^{i+1} C^{2\ell-1-2(i+1)}) - \frac{1}{2} D^{\frac{2\ell-2}{2}} C \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} (2C-I) \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{2\ell-2(i+1)} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} (4D-I^2) 0 \end{split}$$

So

$$\chi(1,1,\ell,\ell) = -\frac{1}{2} (D^0 C^{2\ell-1} - D^{\ell-1} C^1) - \frac{1}{2} D^{\frac{2\ell-2}{2}} C + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{2\ell-2-2i} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i I C^{2\ell-2-2i}$$

Since  $2\ell - 2 - 2(\ell - 1) = 0$ , then we peel off the last term of this last sum and rewrite the rest of the sum using the following relationship.

$$D^{i}IC^{2\ell-2-2i} = D^{i}(IC)C^{2\ell-3-2i}$$
  
=  $D^{i}(D+C^{2})C^{2\ell-3-2i}$   
=  $D^{i+1}C^{2\ell-3-2i} + D^{i}C^{2\ell-1-2i}$ 

Then

$$\begin{split} \chi(1,1,\ell,\ell) &= -\frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{2\ell-1} + \frac{1}{2} D^{\ell-1} C^1 - \frac{1}{2} D^{\frac{2\ell-2}{2}} C \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{2\ell-2-2i} - \frac{1}{2} D^{\ell-1} I \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} (D^{i+1} C^{2\ell-3-2i} + D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i}) \end{split}$$

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$\begin{split} \chi(1,1,\ell,\ell) &= -\frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{2\ell-1} + \frac{1}{2} D^{\ell-1} C^1 - \frac{1}{2} D^{\ell-1} C \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{2\ell-2-2i} - \frac{1}{2} D^{\ell-1} C \\ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} D^{i+1} C^{2\ell-3-2i} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i} ) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{2\ell-1} - \frac{1}{2} D^{\ell-1} C + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{2\ell-2-2i} \\ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-2} D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{2\ell-1} - \frac{1}{2} D^{\ell-1} C + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{2\ell-2-2i} \\ -\frac{1}{2} D^{\ell-1} C^{2\ell-1-2(\ell-1)} - \sum_{i=1}^{\ell-2} D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i} - \frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{2\ell-1} \\ &= -D^0 C^{2\ell-1} - \sum_{i=1}^{\ell-2} D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i} - \frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{2\ell-1} \\ &= -D^0 C^{2\ell-1} - \sum_{i=1}^{\ell-2} D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i} - D^{\ell-1} C^1 \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{2\ell-2-2i} \\ &= -\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{2\ell-1-2i} + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{2\ell-2-2i} \end{split}$$

And the result follows.

Now suppose that  $\ell < m$  Then

$$\begin{split} \psi(Q^*) &= \psi(P^*) \\ -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} (D^i C^{(\ell+m-1)-2i} - D^{i+1} C^{(\ell+m-1)-2(i+1)}) \\ +\frac{1}{2} (2C-I) \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)} \\ +\frac{1}{2} (4D-I^2) 0 \end{split}$$

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$\chi(1,1,\ell,m) = -\frac{1}{2} (D^0 C^{\ell+m-1} - D^\ell C^{m-\ell-1}) + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i I C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}$$

Since  $\ell + m - 2(\ell - 1 + 1) = m - \ell \ge 1$ , we rewrite the fourth term again using the relationship found above. Then

$$\chi(1,1,\ell,m) = -\frac{1}{2}D^0C^{\ell+m-1} + \frac{1}{2}D^\ell C^{m-\ell-1} + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1}CD^iC^{\ell+m-2-2i} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1}(D^{i+1}C^{\ell+m-3-2i} + D^iC^{\ell+m-1-2i})$$

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$\begin{split} \chi(1,1,\ell,m) &= -\frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{\ell+m-1} + \frac{1}{2} D^\ell C^{m-\ell-1} \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{\ell+m-2-2i} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^{i+1} C^{\ell+m-3-2i} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-1-2i} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{\ell+m-1} + \frac{1}{2} D^\ell C^{m-\ell-1} \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{\ell+m-2-2i} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} D^i C^{\ell+m-1-2i} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-1-2i} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{\ell+m-1} + \frac{1}{2} D^\ell C^{m-\ell-1} \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{\ell+m-2-2i} - \frac{1}{2} D^\ell C^{\ell+m-1-2(\ell)} \\ &- \sum_{i=1}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-1-2i} - \frac{1}{2} D^0 C^{\ell+m-1} \\ &= -D^0 C^{\ell+m-1} - \sum_{i=1}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-1-2i} \\ &+ \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{\ell+m-2-2i} \\ &= - \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-1-2i} + \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} C D^i C^{\ell+m-2-2i} \end{split}$$

And the result follows.



Figure 4.8: Here is the Gale diagram of the triangular prism  $P^*$ .



Figure 4.9: Here is the Gale diagram of the triangular bipyramid P.

We will use previous results to determine the CD-index of the triangular bipyramid and the triangular prism from the appropriate Gale diagram.

**Example 4.3.9.** To determine the CD-index of the triangular bipyramid P, consider the Gale diagram of its dual  $P^*$ , the triangular prism. See Figure 4.8. No matter which direction we move in to o, we cross one 0-splitter and two 1-splitters. When we move the origin onto o, then o is captured by three 2-splitters. By Theorem 1.4.11 and Lemma 2.1.4, the CD-index of P is  $\psi(P) = C^3 + 2DC + 3 \cdot \chi(1, 1, 2, 2)$ . Using Theorem 4.3.8, we find that  $\chi(1, 1, 2, 2) = -C^3 - DC + C^3 + CD = CD - DC$ . Therefore,  $\psi(P) = C^3 + 2DC + 3CD - 3DC = C^3 - DC + 3CD$ , which agrees with our earlier computations (see Example 1.3.9).

To determine the CD-index of the triangular prism  $P^*$ , consider the Gale diagram of its dual P, the triangual bipyramid. See Figure 4.9. We cross one 0-splitter and one 1-splitter as we move to o from the left. By Theorem 1.4.11,  $\psi(P^*) = C^3 + DC$ , which also agrees with are earlier computations (see Example 1.3.8).



Figure 4.10: Here is a 2-dimensional Gale diagram with a splitter Y.

## A Splitter

We would like to generalize the result for an  $\ell$ -splitter to any splitter defined by at least 2 points. As in Section 2.3, we will consider 2-dimensional Gale diagrams in which there exists a line H that satisfies the following conditions.

- The line H contains at least 3 points from V and the origin q;
- The set  $Y = V \cap H$  affinely spans H;
- Any minimal affinely dependent subset of V of at most 3 points lies in H;
- Every subset of 2 points in  $Y \cup \{q\}$  is affinely independent.

Once more, the u points  $Y_1 = \{y_1, y_2, \ldots, y_u\}$  of Y fall on one side of q and the remaining r points  $Y_2 = \{z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_r\}$  of Y fall on the other side of q with  $u \ge r \ge 1$ . Note that all the points in  $V \setminus Y$  are in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup \{q\}$ . Then q is in the relative interior of the convex hull of nonempty subsets of Y, denote them  $Y_\beta$ . In this case, each  $Y_\beta$  is the union of any nonempty subset  $Y'_1$  of  $Y_1$  with any nonempty subset  $Y'_2$  of  $Y_2$ . Recall that the nonempty subset  $Y'_1$  of  $Y_1$  and every nonempty subset  $Y'_2$  of  $Y_2$ .

Let F be the points of V that are in one open halfplane of H, and let G be points of V that are in the opposite open halfplane of H. Say that  $|F| = \ell \leq |G| = m$ , relabeling the points of V if necessary. So  $l + m \geq 3$  and  $V = F \cup G \cup Y =$  $F \cup G \cup Y_1 \cup Y_2$ . Then there exists a point p in affinely general position with respect to  $V \cup \{q\}$  so that  $\overline{pq}$  does not meet the convex hull of any splitters except those  $Y_\beta$  of Y and p falls in the same halfplane of H as the points of F. See Figure 4.10. Note that placing the origin at p corresponds to simplicial polytope P, and placing the origin at q corresponds to a nonsimplicial polytope Q. Since p falls in affinely general position with respect to V, we know how to compute  $\psi(P^*)$  by Theorem 1.4.11. How does the CD-index of the dual polytope change when the origin in the Gale diagram moves from p to q into the relative interior of the convex hull of the splitter with at least 3 points?



Figure 4.11: Lift the Gale diagram with a splitter Y to order the (co)facets for shelling.

Notice that we lose  $ur\ell$  (co)facets and gain ur (co)facets. To determine which (co)facets are lost, lift the 2-dimensional Gale diagram so that the u points in  $Y_1$  are higher than the r points in  $Y_2$  and the  $\ell$  points in F and the m points in G are suitably low. Relabel the points of  $F v_0, v_1, \ldots, v_\ell$  in such a way that  $v_\sigma$  is higher than  $v_{\sigma+1}$  for  $0 \leq \sigma \leq \ell-2$ . Also relabel the points of  $Y_1 y_0, y_1, \ldots, y_{u-1}$  in such a way that  $y_j$  is higher than  $y_{j+1}$  for  $0 \leq j \leq u-2$ . Relabel the points of  $Y_2 z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_{r-1}$  in such a way that  $z_k$  is higher than  $z_{k+1}$  for  $0 \leq k \leq r-2$ . Then all the points  $\hat{V} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  are in affinely general position with respect to any nonvertical plane. See Figure 4.11. So we are able to use our results from the last section to find each  $\mathbf{S}$  and  $\mathbf{T}$  as we shell on the (co)facets. We are also able to determine which (co)facets are shelled off by considering how many points are split above each of the  $ur\ell$  planes determined by one point from  $Y_1$ , one point from  $Y_2$ , and one point from F. We may calculate how many different ways  $i = \sigma + j + k$  points are split above a plane for  $0 \leq i \leq u + r + \ell - 3$  as follows.

**Lemma 4.3.10** (Lee-N). The number of *i*-splitters is given by the sum  $\binom{i+2}{2} - \binom{i+2-u}{2} - \binom{i+2-r}{2} - \binom{i+2-\ell}{2} + \binom{i+2-u-r}{2} + \binom{i+2-u-\ell}{2} + \binom{i+2-u-\ell}{2} + \binom{i+2-u-r-\ell}{2}$ , where  $\binom{p}{2} = 0$  if p < 0.

*Proof.* The number of points above the plane determined by one point  $y_j$  from  $Y_1$ , one point  $z_k$  from  $Y_2$ , and one point  $v_i$  from F is equivalent to the sum of the number

of points in F above  $v_{\sigma}$ , the number of points in  $Y_1$  above  $y_j$ , and the number of points in  $Y_2$  above  $z_k$  for any given  $\sigma$ , j, and k. There are  $\sigma$  points of F above  $v_{\sigma}$  for  $0 \leq \sigma \leq \ell - 1$ . There are j points of  $Y_1$  above  $y_j$  for  $0 \leq j \leq u - 1$ . There are k points of  $Y_2$  above  $z_k$  for  $0 \leq k \leq r - 1$ .

Determining the number of *i*-splitters is equivalent to finding all possible combinations of  $\sigma + j + k = i$  where  $0 \le \sigma \le \ell - 1$ ,  $0 \le j \le u - 1$ , and  $0 \le k \le r - 1$ . The total number of such combinations is the coefficient of  $x^i$  in the product

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{u-1} x^{j}\right) \left(\sum_{k=0}^{r-1} x^{k}\right) \left(\sum_{\sigma=0}^{\ell-1} x^{\sigma}\right) \\ &= \frac{1-x^{u}}{1-x} \frac{1-x^{r}}{1-x} \frac{1-x^{\ell}}{1-x} \\ &= \frac{1-x^{u}-x^{r}-x^{\ell}+x^{u+r}+x^{u+\ell}+x^{r+\ell}-x^{u+r+\ell}}{(1-x)^{3}} \\ &= (1-x^{u}-x^{r}-x^{\ell}+x^{u+r}+x^{u+\ell}+x^{r+\ell}-x^{u+r+\ell}) \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} {j+2 \choose 2} x^{j}. \end{aligned}$$

Then the result follows.

This result tells us how to count how many (co)facets of each type are shelled off. Using this result, we may compute the total contribution of the (co)facets shelled off to the total change in the CD-index as we move onto the splitter Y.

Due to the symmetry of  $\Delta_i^d = \Delta_{d-i}^d$  as noted in Corollary 1.5.7, we may compute the total contribution of the (co)facets shelled off to the total change in the *CD*-index as we move onto the splitter Y as follows.

**Proposition 4.3.11** (Lee-N). The contribution from all the (co)facets shelled off to the change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin moves from p to q in the relative interior of the convex of hull of the splitter Y is given by the following sum.

$$\begin{split} &-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{\left\lfloor\frac{d}{2}\right\rfloor-1}B\cdot \left(D^{i}C^{d-2i}-D^{i+1}C^{d-2(i+1)}\right)\\ &-\frac{1}{2}B\cdot 2D^{\frac{d}{2}}\\ &-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=\left\lfloor\frac{d}{2}\right\rfloor+1}^{u+r+\ell-3}B\cdot \left(D^{d-i}C^{d-2(d-i)}-D^{d+1-i}C^{d-2(d+1-i)}\right), \end{split}$$

if 2|d;

$$-\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=0}^{\left\lfloor\frac{d}{2}\right\rfloor-1} B \cdot (D^{i}C^{d-2i} - D^{i+1}C^{d-2(i+1)}) \\ -\frac{1}{2}B \cdot D^{\frac{d-1}{2}}C \\ -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=\left\lfloor\frac{d}{2}\right\rfloor+1}^{u+r+\ell-3} B \cdot (D^{d-i}C^{d-2(d-i)} - D^{d+1-i}C^{d-2(d+1-i)}).$$

where 
$$B = \binom{i+2}{2} - \binom{i+2-u}{2} - \binom{i+2-r}{2} - \binom{i+2-\ell}{2} + \binom{i+2-u-r}{2} + \binom{i+2-u-\ell}{2} + \binom{i+2-u-\ell}{2$$

*Proof.* Shelling simplicial *d*-polytopes gives the *CD*-index of their dual polytopes. So shelling off the (co)facets lost allows us to determine the *CD*-index contribution of the vertices of their duals, which are simple vertices. Therefore, we may use Lee's  $\Delta$ -formulas in [16] and the result follows immediately.

Now we need to explore the ur (co)facets which are shelled on by determining the **S** and **T** associated with each (co)facet shelled on. After finding the CD-index for **S**, we will find the CD-index for **T**.

**Lemma 4.3.12** (Lee-N). The CD-index of a given  $S^*$  is



Figure 4.12: Here is the Gale diagram for  $\mathbf{S}$  in the splitter case.

*Proof.* Each (co)facet consists of one point from either end of the splitter, *i.e.*, one point  $y_i$  from  $Y_1$  and another point  $z_j$  from  $Y_2$ . To obtain the Gale diagram of one of these cofacets, project the 2-dimensional Gale diagram V onto the line orthogonal to  $V \setminus \{y_i, z_j\}$  and then delete those two points [22]. So the Gale diagram for a (co)facet is 1-dimensional with two fewer points. See Figure 4.12. Notice that  $\ell$  points fall on one side of q, u + r - 2 points are stacked at q, and m points fall on the other side of q. Thus, the result follows from Theorem 4.1.1.

There are ur Q's and they are combinatorially equivalent. So they all have the same CD-index. Thus, we have the following result.

Corollary 4.3.13 (Lee-N). The sum of the CD-indices of all the  $S^*$ 's is

$$ur \cdot C^{u+r-2} \left( \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)} \right).$$

Using this result, we may compute the contribution of the ur Q's to the total change in the CD-index as we move onto the splitter.

**Proposition 4.3.14** (Lee-N). The contribution from all the **S**'s to the change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin moves from p to q onto a splitter Y is  $\frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left( \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)} \right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left( \sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)} \right).$ 

 $\begin{aligned} Proof. \text{ Recall that } m \geq \ell, \ \ell + m \geq 2, \text{ and } u + r \geq 3. \text{ Then the following calculations} \\ \text{hold. } \frac{1}{2}(2C - I) \cdot ur \cdot C^{u+r-2} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= ur \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2}(IC)C^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= ur \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2}(D + C^2)C^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= ur \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot DC^{u+r-3} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) - \frac{ur}{2} \cdot D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-1} D^i C^{\ell+m-2(i+1)}\right) \\ &= \frac{ur}{2} \cdot C^{u+r-1} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\ell-$ 



Figure 4.13: Lift the Gale diagram with a splitter Y to determine a shelling order for the facets shelled on.

Now that we understand the contribution of the  $\mathbf{S}$ 's to the change in the CD-index, we need to understand the contribution of the  $\mathbf{T}$ 's to the change in the CD-index.



Figure 4.14: Project this lifting to obtain the Gale diagram for **T**.

As we argued in the previous section, we obtain the Gale diagrams for the **T**'s by lifting the 2-dimensional Gale diagram so that the u points are higher than the r points and the  $\ell$  points and the m points are much lower. The origin starts below the higher u and r points and above the lower  $\ell$  and m points. As the origin moves up, it crosses all possible splitters determined by one point from the r points and one point from the u points. See Figure 4.13. For a given splitter, project in the direction of the splitter onto the plane perpendicular to the unlifted splitter and delete the two points. Then we have a 2-dimensional Gale diagram for **T** with a total of r + u - 2 points on either side of the diagonal and the  $\ell$  points on the low left and the m points on the low right side. See Figure 4.14. To compute the CD-contribution from all the **T**'s, we will determine how many **T**'s of each type arise.

**Lemma 4.3.15** (Lee-N). All **T**'s are of type  $(r + u - 2 - i, i, \ell, m)$ . There are i + 1**T**'s for  $0 \le i \le r - 1$  and r + u - 1 - i R's for  $u \le i \le r + u - 2$ . When r < u, there are also r **T**'s for  $r \le i \le u - 1$ .

*Proof.* Each  $\mathbf{T}$  arises by projecting orthogonally when the origin crosses a splitter as it moves up. So the number of splitters of each type crossed is equivalent to the number of  $\mathbf{T}$ 's of each type arising during this process.

There is exactly one way to choose a point from the r(u) vertices to split off i points above that point for every i where  $0 \le i \le r-1$  ( $0 \le i \le u-1$ ). Then the number of i-splitters is given by the coefficient of  $x^i$  in the following product

$$\left(\sum_{i=0}^{r-1} x^i\right) \left(\sum_{i=0}^{u-1} x^i\right).$$

When  $r \neq u$ , this product may be written as follows.

$$(1 + x + x^{2} + \ldots + x^{r-1})(1 + x + x^{2} + \ldots + x^{u-1})$$

$$= 1 + 2x + 3x^{2} + \ldots + rx^{r-1} + rx^{r} + \ldots + rx^{u-1} + (r-1)x^{u} + \ldots + 2x^{u-1+r-2} + x^{u-1+r-1}$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} (i+1)x^{i} + \sum_{i=r}^{u-1} rx^{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{r-1} (r-i)x^{u-1+i}$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} (i+1)x^{i} + \sum_{i=r}^{u-1} rx^{i} + \sum_{i=u}^{r+u-2} (r+u-i-1)x^{i}$$

When r = u, the middle sum is empty.

The *i* runs over all possible *i*-splitters. So after projecting orthogonally, there will be *i* points below the origin and r + u - 2 - i points above the origin. Since the coefficient of  $x^i$  records how many **T**'s of each type arise as the origin moves up through all the possible splitters, then the result follows.



Figure 4.15: Here is the Gale diagram for **T** of type  $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \nu)$ .

Since we know how many **T**'s arise of each type, it is now important to understand the *CD*-index of each type of **T**. So we need to determine the *CD*-index of a general **T** of type  $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \nu)$ , as shown in Figure 4.15. First we need to calculate the number of *w*-splitters of each type crossed as the origin approaches the splitter in this general **T**.

**Lemma 4.3.16** (Lee-N). Consider a general **T** as described above. There are w+1 w-splitters for  $0 \le w \le \min\{\alpha, \gamma\} - 1$  and  $\alpha + \gamma - w - 1$  w-splitters for  $\max\{\alpha, \gamma\} \le w \le \alpha + \gamma - 2$ . When  $\alpha \ne \gamma$ , the number of w-splitters for  $\min\{\alpha, \gamma\} \le w \le \max\{\alpha, \gamma\} - 1$  is  $\min\{\alpha, \gamma\}$ .

*Proof.* There is exactly one way to choose a point from the  $\alpha$  ( $\gamma$ ) vertices to split off w points above that point for every w where  $0 \le w \le \alpha - 1$  ( $0 \le w \le \gamma - 1$ ). Then the number of w-splitters is given by the coefficient of  $x^w$  in the following product

$$\left(\sum_{w=0}^{\alpha-1} x^w\right) \left(\sum_{w=0}^{\gamma-1} x^w\right)$$

When  $\alpha \neq \gamma$ , this product may be written as follows.

$$(1 + x + x^{2} + \dots + x^{\alpha-1})(1 + x + x^{2} + \dots + x^{\gamma-1})$$

$$= 1 + 2x + 3x^{2} + \dots + \min\{\alpha, \gamma\}x^{\min\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1}$$

$$+\min\{\alpha, \gamma\}x^{\min\{\alpha, \gamma\}} + \dots + 2x^{\max\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1} + \min\{\alpha, \gamma\}x^{\max\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1}$$

$$+(\min\{\alpha, \gamma\} - 1)x^{\max\{\alpha, \gamma\}} + \dots + 2x^{\max\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1 + \min\{\alpha, \gamma\}-2} + x^{\max\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1 + \min\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1}$$

$$= \sum_{w=0}^{\min\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1} (w + 1)x^{w} + \sum_{w=\min\{\alpha, \gamma\}}^{\max\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1} \min\{\alpha, \gamma\}x^{i}$$

$$+ \sum_{w=1}^{\min\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1} (\min\{\alpha, \gamma\} - w)x^{\max\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1 + w}$$

$$= \sum_{w=0}^{\min\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1} (w + 1)x^{w} + \sum_{w=\min\{\alpha, \gamma\}}^{\max\{\alpha, \gamma\}-1} \min\{\alpha, \gamma\}x^{w} + \sum_{w=\max\{\alpha, \gamma\}}^{\alpha+\gamma-2} (\alpha + \gamma - w - 1)x^{w}$$

When  $\alpha = \gamma$ , the middle sum is empty and, thus, the above product may be written as follows.

$$(1 + x + x^{2} + \dots + x^{\alpha - 1})(1 + x + x^{2} + \dots + x^{\alpha - 1})$$
  
= 1 + 2x + 3x<sup>2</sup> + \dots + \alpha x^{\alpha - 1} + (\alpha - 1)x^\alpha + \dots + 2x^{2\alpha - 3} + x^{2\alpha - 2}  
= \sum\_{w=0}^{\alpha - 1} (w + 1)x^\w + \sum\_{w=1}^{\alpha - 1} (\alpha - w)x^{\alpha - 1 + w}  
= \sum\_{w=0}^{\alpha - 1} (w + 1)x^\w + \sum\_{w=\alpha}^{\alpha - 2} (2\alpha - w - 1)x^\w

The result follows from these two sums.

Summing over all possible w values and adding the change that occurs as we move the origin onto the splitter gives the entire CD-index of a general  $\mathbf{T}^*$ .

Corollary 4.3.17 (Lee-N). The CD-index of a general  $T^*$  is

$$\sum_{w=0}^{\min\{\alpha,\gamma\}-1} (w+1) D^w C^{\alpha+\beta+\gamma+\nu-3-2w} + \sum_{w=\min\{\alpha,\gamma\}}^{\max\{\alpha,\gamma\}-1} \min\{\alpha,\gamma\} D^w C^{\alpha+\beta+\gamma+\nu-3-2w} + \sum_{w=\max\{\alpha,\gamma\}}^{\alpha+\gamma-2} (\alpha+\gamma-w-1) D^w C^{\alpha+\beta+\gamma+\nu-3-2w} + x(\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\nu),$$

where  $x(\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \nu)$  denotes the change in the CD-index as we move the origin onto the splitter from very close by. Simplifying algebraically, our previous results give the CD-index for the sum over all  $\mathbf{T}$ 's.

**Corollary 4.3.18** (Lee-N). The sum of the CD-indices of all the  $\mathbf{T}^*$ 's that arise when starting with a Gale diagram of type  $(r, u, \ell, m)$  is

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i=0}^{r-1} (i+1) \Biggl( \sum_{w=0}^{\min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}-1} (w+1) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &\max\{r+u-2-i,\ell\} \\ &+ \sum_{w=max\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} \min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\} D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \chi(r+u-2-i,\ell) \\ &+ \chi(r+u-2-i,i,\ell,m) \Biggr) \\ &+ \sum_{i=r}^{u-1} r \Biggl( \sum_{w=0}^{\min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}-1} (w+1) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}-1} \min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\} D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=max\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} (r+u+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \chi(r+u-2-i,\ell) \\ &+ \chi(r+u-2-i,\ell) \\ &+ \sum_{i=u}^{r+u-2} (r+u-1-i) \Biggl( \sum_{w=0}^{\min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}-1} (w+1) D^w C^{(r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=max\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} \min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\} D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} \min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\} D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} \min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\} D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=max\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} \min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\} D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} (r+u+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=max\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} (r+u+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} (r+w+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}} (r+w+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=min\{r+w-2-i,\ell\}} (r+w+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+ \sum_{w=min\{r+w-2-i,\ell\}} (r+w+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ &+$$

Using this result, we may compute the contribution of all  $ur \mathbf{T}$ 's to the total change in the CD-index as we move onto the splitter.

**Proposition 4.3.19** (Lee-N). The contribution from all the **T**'s to the change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin moves from p to q is  $\frac{1}{2}(4D-I^2) \left[ \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} (i+1) \left( \sum_{w=0}^{\min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}-1} (w+1)D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \right) \right]$ 

$$\begin{split} & \max \{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1} \min \{r+u-2-i,\ell\} D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ & + \sum_{\substack{r+u+\ell-4-i \\ r+u+\ell-4-i}}^{r+u+\ell-4-i} (r+u+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ & + \chi (r+u-2-i,\ell) \\ & + \sum_{\substack{i=r \\ max\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1}}}^{r} r \left( \sum_{\substack{w=0 \\ max\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1}}}^{min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1}} (w+1) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ & + \sum_{\substack{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\} \\ r+u+\ell-4-i}}^{r+u+\ell-4-i} (r+u+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ & + \chi (r+u-2-i,\ell) \\ & + \sum_{\substack{i=u \\ max\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}}}^{r+u-2} (r+u-1-i) \left( \sum_{\substack{w=0 \\ w=0}}^{min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1}} (w+1) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ & + \sum_{\substack{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1} \\ min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1}}}^{r+u+\ell-4-i} min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1} (w+1) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ & + \sum_{\substack{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1}}}^{r+u+\ell-4-i} min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1} (w+1) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\ & + \sum_{\substack{w=min\{r+u-2-i,\ell\}^{-1}}}^{r+u+\ell-4-i} (r+u+\ell-3-i-w) D^w C^{r+u+\ell+m-5-2w} \\$$

To rewrite an (IC)-polynomial as a CD-polynomial, the following equalities are useful.

Whenever the power of C is at least 2, then  $I^2 D^a C^b$ 

$$\begin{split} &= D^{a}I^{2}C^{b} \\ &= D^{a}I(IC)C^{b-1} \\ &= D^{a}I(D+C^{2})C^{b-1} \\ &= D^{a+1}(IC)C^{b-2} + D^{a}(IC)C^{b} \\ &= D^{a+1}(D+C^{2})C^{b-2} + D^{a}(D+C^{2})C^{b} \\ &= D^{a+2}C^{b-2} + D^{a+1}C^{b} + D^{a+1}C^{b} + D^{a}C^{b+2} \\ &= D^{a+2}C^{b-2} + 2D^{a+1}C^{b} + D^{a}C^{b+2}. \end{split}$$

Whenever the power of the first C is exactly 1 and the power of the second C is at least 1, then  $I^2 D^a C D^b C^e$ 

$$\begin{split} &= D^{a}I^{2}CD^{b}C^{e} \\ &= D^{a}I(IC)D^{b}C^{e} \\ &= D^{a}I(D+C^{2})D^{b}C^{e} \\ &= D^{a}ID^{b+1}C^{e} + D^{a}(IC)CD^{b}C^{e} \\ &= D^{a+b+1}(IC)C^{e-1} + D^{a}(IC)CD^{b}C^{e} \\ &= D^{a+b+1}(D+C^{2})C^{e-1} + D^{a}(D+C^{2})CD^{b}C^{e} \\ &= D^{a+b+2}C^{e-1} + D^{a+b+1}C^{e+1} + D^{a+1}CD^{b}C^{e} + D^{a}C^{3}D^{b}C^{e} \end{split}$$

We put together all of these pieces to determine the change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin moves from p to q in the relative interior of the convex hull of the splitter Y.

**Conjecture 4.3.20** (Lee-N). Denote the change in the CD-index from  $P^*$  to  $Q^*$  as the origin moves from p to q in the relative interior of the convex hull of the splitter Y as  $\chi(u, r, \ell, m)$ . Then  $\chi(u, r, \ell, m) = \chi(r, u, \ell, m)$ 

$$= -\sum_{\beta=0}^{\ell-1} \left( \sum_{\alpha=0}^{r-1} D^{\alpha+\beta} C^{d-2(\alpha+\beta)} \right) + \left( \sum_{\alpha=0}^{r-1} D^{\alpha} C^{u+r-1-2\alpha} \right) \left( \sum_{\beta=0}^{\ell-1} D^{\beta} C^{\ell+m-2(\beta+1)} \right)$$

**Evidence** We have computed the change in the CD-index for a few values of u, r,  $\ell$ , and m. They are listed here to motivate our above conjecture.

$$\begin{split} \chi(1,1,2,2) &= -D^0C^3 & -DC \\ &+ D^0CD^0C^2 & + D^0CDC^0 \\ \chi(2,1,2,2) &= \chi(1,2,2,2) \\ &= -D^0C^4 & -DC^2 \\ &+ D^0C^2D^0C^2 & + D^0C^2DC^0 \\ \chi(3,1,2,2) &= \chi(1,3,2,2) \\ &= -D^0C^5 & -DC^3 \\ &+ D^0C^3D^0C^2 & + D^0C^3DC^0 \\ \chi(2,2,2,2) &= -D^0C^5 & -DC^3 \\ &+ D^0C^3D^0C^2 & + D^0C^3DC^0 \\ &- DC^3 & -D^2C \\ &+ DCD^0C^2 & + DCDC^0 \\ \chi(3,2,2,2) &= \chi(2,3,2,2) \\ &= -D^0C^6 & -DC^4 \\ &+ D^0C^4D^0C^2 & + D^0C^4DC^0 \\ &- DC^4 & -D^2C^2 \\ &+ DC^2D^0C^2 & + DC^2DC^0 \\ \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \chi(1,1,2,6) &= -D^0 C^7 - D C^5 \\ &+ D^0 C D^0 C^6 + D^0 C D C^4 \\ \chi(2,1,2,6) &= \chi(1,2,2,6) \\ &= -D^0 C^8 - D C^6 \\ &+ D^0 C^2 D^0 C^6 + D^0 C^2 D C^4 \\ \chi(3,1,2,6) &= \chi(1,3,2,6) \\ &= -D^0 C^7 - D C^7 \\ &+ D^0 C^3 D^0 C^6 + D^0 C^3 D C^4 \\ \chi(4,1,2,6) &= \chi(1,4,2,6) \\ &= -D^0 C^{10} - D C^8 \\ &+ D^0 C^4 D^0 C^6 + D^0 C^3 D C^4 + D C D^0 C^6 + D C D C^4 \\ \chi(2,2,2,6) &= -D^0 C^7 - D C^7 - D^2 C^5 \\ &+ D^0 C^3 D^0 C^6 + D^0 C^3 D C^4 + D C D^0 C^6 + D C D C^4 \\ \chi(3,2,2,6) &= \chi(2,3,2,6) \\ &= -D^0 C^{10} - D C^8 - D C^8 - D^2 C^6 \\ &+ D^0 C^4 D^0 C^6 + D^0 C^4 D C^4 + D C^2 D^0 C^6 + D C^2 D C^4 \\ \chi(3,3,2,6) &= -D^0 C^{11} - D C^9 \\ &+ D^0 C^5 D^0 C^6 + D^0 C^5 D C^4 \\ &- D C^9 - D^2 C^7 \\ &+ D C^3 D^0 C^6 + D^2 C^3 D C^4 \\ &- D^2 C^7 - D^3 C^5 \\ &+ D^2 C D^0 C^6 + D^0 C^6 D C^4 \\ \chi(4,3,2,6) &= \chi(3,4,2,6) \\ &= -D^0 C^{12} - D C^{10} \\ &+ D^0 C^6 D^0 C^6 + D C^4 D C^4 \\ &- D C^{10} - D^2 C^8 \\ &+ D C^4 D^0 C^6 + D C^4 D C^4 \\ &- D^2 C^8 - D^3 C^6 \\ &+ D^2 C^2 D^0 C^6 + D^2 C^2 D C^4 \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \chi(1,1,3,6) &= -D^0C^8 - DC^6 - D^2C^4 \\ &+ D^0CD^0C^7 + D^0CDC^5 + D^0CD^2C^3 \\ \chi(2,1,3,6) &= \chi(1,2,3,6) \\ &= -D^0C^9 - DC^7 - D^2C^5 \\ &+ D^0C^2D^0C^7 + D^0C^2DC^5 + D^0C^2D^2C^3 \\ \chi(3,1,3,6) &= \chi(1,3,3,6) \\ &= -D^0C^{10} - DC^8 - D^2C^6 \\ &+ D^0C^3D^0C^7 + D^0C^3DC^5 + D^0C^3D^2C^3 \\ \chi(2,2,3,6) &= -D^0C^{10} - DC^8 - D^2C^6 \\ &+ D^0C^3D^0C^7 + D^0C^3DC^5 + D^0C^3D^2C^3 \\ &- DC^8 - D^2C^6 - D^3C^4 \\ &+ DCD^0C^7 + DCDC^5 + DCD^2C^3 \\ \chi(3,2,3,6) &= \chi(2,3,3,6) \\ &= -D^0C^{11} - DC^9 - D^2C^7 \\ &+ D^0C^4D^0C^7 + D^0C^4DC^5 + D^0C^4D^2C^3 \\ &- DC^9 - D^2C^7 - D^3C^5 \\ &+ DC^2D^0C^7 + DC^2DC^5 + DC^2D^2C^3 \\ \chi(3,3,3,6) &= -D^0C^{12} - DC^{10} - D^2C^8 \\ &+ D^0C^5D^0C^7 + D^0C^5DC^5 + D^0C^5D^2C^3 \\ &- DC^{10} - D^2C^8 - D^3C^6 \\ &+ DC^3D^0C^7 + D^2CDC^5 + DC^3D^2C^3 \\ &- D^2C^8 - D^3C^6 - D^4C^4 \\ &+ D^2CD^0C^7 + D^2CDC^5 + D^2CD^2C^3 \\ \end{split}$$

So, it appears as though  $\chi(j, k, \ell, m) = \chi(k, j, \ell, m)$  satisfies the following pattern.

$$\begin{array}{l} -D^{0}C^{j+k+\ell+m-3} - DC^{j+k+\ell+m-5} - \ldots - D^{\ell-1}C^{j+k+m-\ell-1} \\ +D^{0}C^{j+k-1}D^{0}C^{\ell+m-2} + D^{0}C^{j+k-1}DC^{\ell+m-4} + \ldots + D^{0}C^{j+k-1}D^{\ell-1}C^{m-\ell} \\ -DC^{j+k+\ell+m-5} - D^{2}C^{j+k+\ell+m-7} - \ldots - D^{\ell}C^{j+k+m-\ell-3} \\ +DC^{j+k-3}D^{0}C^{\ell+m-2} + DC^{j+k-3}DC^{\ell+m-4} + \ldots + DC^{j+k-3}D^{\ell-1}C^{m-\ell} \\ \cdots \\ \cdots \\ \cdots \\ +D^{k-1}C^{j+\ell+m-k-1} - D^{k}C^{j+\ell+m-k-3} - \ldots - D^{k+\ell-2}C^{j+m-k-\ell+1} \\ +D^{k-1}C^{j-k+1}D^{0}C^{\ell+m-2} + D^{k-1}C^{j-k+1}DC^{\ell+m-4} + \ldots + D^{k-1}C^{j-k+1}D^{\ell-1}C^{m-\ell} \end{array}$$

The next result follows immediately from Conjecture 4.3.20.

**Corollary 4.3.21** (Lee-N). The g-vector of  $Q^*$  is the same as the g-vector of  $P^*$ .

*Proof.* We may determine the change in the *g*-vector by plugging in x for D and 1 for C by Theorem 1.4.13 [13]. Then we obtain the following result.

$$-\sum_{\beta=0}^{\ell-1} \left( \sum_{\alpha=0}^{r-1} x^{\alpha+\beta} \cdot 1^{d-2(\alpha+\beta)} \right) + \left( \sum_{\alpha=0}^{r-1} x^{\alpha} \cdot 1^{u+r-1-2\alpha} \right) \left( \sum_{\beta=0}^{\ell-1} x^{\beta} \cdot 1^{\ell+m-2(\beta+1)} \right)$$

$$= -\sum_{\beta=0}^{\ell-1} \left( \sum_{\alpha=0}^{r-1} x^{\alpha} \cdot x^{\beta} \right) + \sum_{\alpha=0}^{r-1} x^{\alpha} \sum_{\beta=0}^{\ell-1} x^{\beta}$$
$$= -\sum_{\beta=0}^{\ell-1} x^{\beta} \sum_{\alpha=0}^{r-1} x^{\alpha} + \sum_{\alpha=0}^{r-1} x^{\alpha} \sum_{\beta=0}^{\ell-1} x^{\beta}$$
$$= 0$$

So there is no change in the g-vector. Since we are moving from the smaller side to the larger side, this result agrees with our g-vector calculations in Chapter 2 (Theorem 2.3.7).

This agreement with our earlier result further supports the validity of our conjecture.

Copyright<sup>©</sup> Sarah A. Nelson, 2016.

# Chapter 5 Future Work

Here are some unanswered questions worth pursuing.

- How do we read off the *g*-vector from any Gale diagram? How do we completely generalize the interpretation of the *g*-vector from the Gale diagram?
- To what extent does the triangulation part of the generalized lower bound theorem extend to non-simplicial polytopes?
- Prove the *CD*-Conjecture for all 2-dimensional Gale diagrams.
- How do we read off the *CD*-index from any Gale diagram? How do we completely generalize the interpretation of the *CD*-index from the Gale diagram?

Copyright<sup>©</sup> Sarah A. Nelson, 2016.

## Bibliography

- Margaret M. Bayer and Louis J. Billera. Counting faces and chains in polytopes and posets. In *Combinatorics and algebra (Boulder, Colo., 1983)*, volume 34 of *Contemp. Math.*, pages 207–252. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1984.
- [2] Margaret M. Bayer and Louis J. Billera. Generalized dehn-sommerville relations for polytopes, spheres and eulerian partially ordered sets. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 79(1):143–157, 1985.
- [3] Margaret M. Bayer and Andrew Klapper. A new index for polytopes. Discrete Comput. Geom., 6(1):33–47, 1991.
- [4] Margaret M. Bayer and Carl W. Lee. Combinatorial aspects of convex polytopes. In *Handbook of convex geometry, Vol. A, B*, pages 485–534. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1993.
- [5] Louis J. Billera and Carl W. Lee. A proof of the sufficiency of McMullen's conditions for *f*-vectors of simplicial convex polytopes. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A, 31(3):237–255, 1981.
- [6] Anders Björner and Michelle Wachs. On lexicographically shellable posets. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 277(1):323–341, 1983.
- [7] Arne Brøndsted. An introduction to convex polytopes, volume 90 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1983.
- [8] H. Bruggesser and P. Mani. Shellable decompositions of cells and spheres. Math. Scand., 29:197–205 (1972), 1971.
- [9] Gopal Danaraj and Victor Klee. Shellings of spheres and polytopes. Duke Math. J., 41:443–451, 1974.
- [10] Jesús A. De Loera, Jörg Rambau, and Francisco Santos. Triangulations, volume 25 of Algorithms and Computation in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2010. Structures for algorithms and applications.
- [11] Richard Ehrenborg and Margaret Readdy. Coproducts and the cd-index. J. Algebraic Combin., 8(3):273–299, 1998.
- [12] J. Fine. The Mayer-Vietoris and IC equations for convex polytopes. Discrete Comput. Geom., 13(2):177–188, 1995.
- [13] J. Fine. Axioms for the g-vector of general convex polytopes. manuscript, retrieved from "arXiv" 1001.4269v1, 2010.

- [14] Branko Grünbaum. Convex polytopes, volume 221 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 2003. Prepared and with a preface by Volker Kaibel, Victor Klee and Günter M. Ziegler.
- [15] Kalle Karu. Hard Lefschetz theorem for nonrational polytopes. Invent. Math., 157(2):419–447, 2004.
- [16] Carl W. Lee. The *cd*-index toolkit. Manuscript.
- [17] Carl W. Lee. Regular triangulations of convex polytopes. In Applied geometry and discrete mathematics, volume 4 of DIMACS Ser. Discrete Math. Theoret. Comput. Sci., pages 443–456. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1991.
- [18] Carl W. Lee. Winding numbers and the generalized lower-bound conjecture. In Discrete and computational geometry (New Brunswick, NJ, 1989/1990), volume 6 of DIMACS Ser. Discrete Math. Theoret. Comput. Sci., pages 209–219. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1991.
- [19] Carl W. Lee. Sweeping the cd-index and the toric h-vector. Electron. J. Combin., 18(1):Paper 66, 20, 2011.
- [20] P. McMullen. The maximum numbers of faces of a convex polytope. Mathematika, 17:179–184, 1970.
- [21] P. McMullen. The numbers of faces of simplicial polytopes. Israel J. Math., 9:559–570, 1971.
- [22] P. McMullen. Transforms, diagrams and representations. In Contributions to geometry (Proc. Geom. Sympos., Siegen, 1978), pages 92–130. Birkhäuser, Basel-Boston, Mass., 1979.
- [23] P. McMullen and D. W. Walkup. A generalized lower-bound conjecture for simplicial polytopes. *Mathematika*, 18:264–273, 1971.
- [24] Peter McMullen. Triangulations of simplicial polytopes. Beiträge Algebra Geom., 45(1):37–46, 2004.
- [25] Satoshi Murai and Eran Nevo. On the generalized lower bound conjecture for polytopes and spheres. Acta Math., 210(1):185–202, 2013.
- [26] Richard Stanley. Generalized *H*-vectors, intersection cohomology of toric varieties, and related results. In *Commutative algebra and combinatorics (Kyoto,* 1985), volume 11 of *Adv. Stud. Pure Math.*, pages 187–213. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1987.
- [27] Richard P. Stanley. The number of faces of a simplicial convex polytope. Adv. in Math., 35(3):236–238, 1980.

- [28] Richard P. Stanley. Enumerative combinatorics. Volume 1, volume 49 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2012.
- [29] E. Welzl. Entering and leaving *j*-facets. *Discrete Comput. Geom.*, 25(3):351–364, 2001.
- [30] Günter M. Ziegler. Lectures on polytopes, volume 152 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995.

# Vita

# Sarah A. Nelson

# Place of Birth

• Fort Campbell, Tennessee

# **Educational Experience**

- University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY M.A. in Mathematics, May 2013
- University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, Chattanooga, TN
  - B.S., Applied Mathematics and Secondary Mathematics, May 2011
  - B.A., Humanities, May 2011

 $summa\ cum\ laude$ 

## **Professional Positions**

- Graduate Teaching Assistant, University of Kentucky, 2011-2016
- Student Teacher, Hixson HS and Dade County MS, Spring 2011
- Math Lab Tutor, University of Tennessee at Chattanooga, 2008-2010
- Student Tutor, Clarksville/Montgomery County School System, 2004-2007

## Honors

- Semifinalist for AAAS Mass Media Science and Engineering Fellows Program, UK, Spring 2016
- W. C. Royster Outstanding Teaching Assistant Award, UK, 2015
- Cliff Swauger Graduate Fellowship, UK, 2015
- Semifinalist for AAAS Mass Media Science and Engineering Fellows Program, UK, Spring 2013
- Ruth Clark Perry Memorial Mathematics Award, UTC, 2010
- Golden Key Mathematics Scholarship, UTC, 2010
- Dr. Marjorie Watson Mathematics Scholarship, UTC, 2007-2009
- Freshman Math Award, UTC, 2007